PB 203 721 DOT HS-800 534

DOOR CRASHWORTHINESS CRITERIA

Highway Safety Research Institute The University of Michigan Huron Parkway and Baxter Road Ann Arbor, Michigan 48105

Contract No. FH-11-7288 June 1971 Final Report

PREPARED FOR: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION NATIONAL ITECHNICAL INFORMATION SERVICE Sector Bodder NATIONAL HIGHWAY TRAFFIC SAFETY ADMINISTRATION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20590

2. Government Accession No.	3. Recipient's Catalog No.
	5. Report Date
	20 June 1971
	6. Performing Organization Code
1. McElhaney, R. G. Snyder, Roberts	8. Performing Organization Report No. HSRI-71-104
tute	10. Work Unit No.
	11. Contract or Grant No. FH-11-7288
ty Administration	13. Type of Report and Period Covered Final Report 21 June 1969 - 20 June 1971
eets, S.W.	14. Sponsoring Agency Code
	i. McElhaney, R. G. Snyder, Roberts tute ty Administration fion reets, S.W.

man. The mechanical responses were then correlated with the degree of injury determined by gross autopsy. Dimensional analysis techniques and extrapolation were made from the infra-human primate data to estimate human tolerance for side impact. The threshold of brain injury was determined from these scaling relations to be 56 G's peak acceleration with a triangular pulse of 7.5 milliseconds. A tolerable contact pressure of 19 psi was established when impacted in the side by an arm rest-like striker.

19. Security Classif (of this report)	20. Security Classif.(o	f this page)	21. No. of Pages	22. Price
et a ser estatut de la companya de l	· · · .			
17. Key Words		18. Distribution Statem	pent	

0)

#1. , , Sar

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ŧ

	Paye
Table of Contents	i
Figures	iv
Tables	vii
Acknowledgments	viii
1. Introduction	1
1.1 Current Research Knowledge	1
1.1.1 Tolerance to Side Impacts	2
1.1.2 Experimental Biomechanics and Modeling	9
1.1.3 Mathematical Modeling	13
2. Computer Simulations	16
2.1 General	16
2.2 Phase 1. Identification	17
2.2.1 Standard Car Interior	17
2.2.2 The Standard Occupant	19
2.2.3 Results of Phase 1 of Computer Simulation	19
2.2.3.1 Qualitative Results	24
2.2.3.2 Quantitative Results	26
2.2.4 Comparison Model Predictions	26
2.2.5 Comparison with Accident Investigation	33
2.3 Phase 2. Optimization and Modification	33
2.3.1 Vehicle Deceleration Profiles	36
2.3.2 Door Stiffness and Padding	38

	Page	49	49	50	54	59	62	67	67	67	71	۲۲	86	16	95	66	66	106	106	106	109	110	110	
CONTENTS nued)			•				lon		ł Injuries	/ Injuries			alysis	Criterion for Primates	d Injury Scaling		/ Injury Studies			HSRI Large Sled	ISRI Large Sled	Small Sled	or Small Sled	
TABLE OF C (Contir		l Studies	uction	mental Methods	Head Impacts Set Up	Body Impacts	Biomedical Data Collecti	Test Results	3.2.4.1 Results of Head	3.2.4.2 Results of Body	e Scaling	Head Injury Scaling	3.3.1.1 Dimensional Ana	3.3.1.2 Maximum Strain	3.3.1.3 Results of Heac	Body Injury Studies	3.3.2.1 Results of Body	Sled Test	Introduction	Experimental Set-Up for	3.4.2.1 Test Results, H	Experimental Set-Up for	3.4.3.1 Test Results fo	
		rimental	Introdu	Experin	3.2.1	3.2.2	3.2.3	3.2.4			Primate	3.3.1			į	3.3.2	- 	Animal	3.4.1	3.4.2		3.4.3		
		3. Expe	3.1	3.2							3.3							3.4				• • •		

iν

FIGURES

Page

ęε

. У

Figure 1.	HSRI Composite Automobile Interior	18
Figure 2.	Acceleration of Vehicle Compartment (Lateral)	20
Figure 3.	Acceleration of Vehicle Compartment (Longitudinal)	21
Figure 4.	Angular Motion of Vehicle Compartment	22
Figure 5.	Comparison of Deceleration Responses with Idealized Waveform	23
Figure 6.	Designation of Body Areas and Door Regions	27
Figure 7.	Summary of Computer Simulation with Variable Restraint and Seating Geometry Center Side Impact 50% Male	30
Figure 8.	Summary of Computer Simulation with Variable Restraint and Seating Geometry Center Side Impact, Six-Year Old Child	31
Figure 9.	3-D Model for Side Impact of 50% Man	. 35
Figure 10.	Theoretical Modeling of Side-Impact, Case I	39
Figure 11.	Theoretical Modeling of Side-Impact, Case II	40
Figure 12.	Door Model for Side Impact	41
Figure 13.	Stiffness of Door with Reinforcing Member, lbs/in. (Occupant Force)	45
Figure 14.	Stiffness of Door with Reinforcing Member, lbs/in. (Door Collapse)	46
Figure 15.	Stiffness of Door with Reinforcing Member, lbs/in. (Occupant Force at Door Collapse)	47
Figure 16.	Skulls of Primates	51
Figure 17.	Mechanical Impedance for the Side of Primate Heads	52
Figure 18.	Over-All Set-Up of Pneumatic Impacting Facility	55
Figure 19.	Block Diagram of Head Impact Facility	56
Figure 20.	Flat Rigid Impactors and Transducers	57
Figure 21.	Test Set-Up for Head Side Impact	58

no for left Side 60 Figure 43. Dynam of High Acceleration Test Facility 112 no for Right Side 61 Figure 45. 1071 Ford Door After Test No. 71-105 121 Figure 45. 1071 Ford Door After Test No. 71-105 121 Figure 45. 1071 Ford Door After Test No. 71-105 121 Figure 45. 1071 Ford Door After Test No. 71-105 121 Curres 63 Figure 45. 1971 Ford Door After Test No. 71-105 121 Dinury 63 Figure 45. 1971 Ford Door After Test No. 71-105 121 Dinury 73 73 Figure 45. 1971 Ford Door After Test No. 71-105 121 Dinury 73 73 Figure 45. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Squirrel Monkey A-4 Parameter for Human Side Head Impact 90 Figure A-5. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Cynonolgus Monkey A-1 Terrein Honkey, Side Head Impact 90 Figure A-6. Linear Positions, Cynonolgus Monkey A-16 Terrion Head Model 90 Figure A-10. Linear Acceleration, Squirrel Monkey A-16 Terrion Head Model 90 Figure A-2. Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Squirrel Monkey A-16 Terrion Head Model 90 Figure A-3. Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Squirrel Monkey <th>FIGUR (Contin</th> <th>ES ued)</th> <th>Page</th> <th>Figure 42.</th> <th>Sled Test: 71-96 Chimpanzee</th> <th></th>	FIGUR (Contin	ES ued)	Page	Figure 42.	Sled Test: 71-96 Chimpanzee	
s for Kight Side 61 Figure 44. Typical Test Set-Up for Side Crash Similation 113 om Impactors 63 Figure 45. 1971 Ford Door After Test No. 71-105 120 tures 63 Figure 46 1968 Pontiac Accident Case, UM-113-68 121 tures 63 Figure 46 1968 Pontiac Accident Case, UM-113-68 121 tures 63 Figure 44. Angular Acceleration, Squirrel Monkey A-4 arameter for Human Side Head Impact 88 Figure A-3. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Squirrel Monkey A-6 197 Parameter for Human Side Head Impact 99 Figure A-3. Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Squirrel Monkey A-6 198 Parameter for Human Side Head Impact 99 Figure A-4. Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Squirrel Monkey A-13 199 Parameter for Human Side Head Impact 99 Figure A-4. Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Squirrel Monkey A-13 199 Parameter for Human Side Head Impact 99 Figure A-4. Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Squirrel Monkey A-13 199 Parameter for Human Side Head Impact 99 Figure A-4. Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Squirrel Monkey A-14	is for Left	Side	60	Figure 43.	Block Diagram of High Acceleration Test Facility.	Ξ :
com Figure 45. 19.1 Ford Door After Test No. 71-105 120 Thury 68 Figure 46 1968 Pontiac Accident Case, Uw-113-68 121 tures 69 Figure 40. 1068 Pontiac Accident Case, Uw-113-68 121 tures 69 Figure 4-1. Linear Positions, Squirrel Monkey A-4 ury 70 Figure A-2. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Squirrel Monkey A-5 narmeter for Human Side Head Impact 90 Figure A-3. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Squirrel Monkey A-6 narmeter for Human Side Head Impact 90 Figure A-3. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Squirrel Monkey A-6 narmeter for Human Side Head Impact 90 Figure A-3. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Squirrel Monkey A-13 narmeter for Human Side Head Impact 90 Figure A-4. Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Squirrel Monkey A-13 narmeter for Human Side Head Impact 90 Figure A-4. Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Squirrel Monkey A-13 nareter for Human Side Head Impact 91 Figure A-10. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Squirrel Monkey A-13 nareter for Human Side Head Impact	is for Righ	t Side	61	Figure 44.	Typical Test Set-Up for Side Crash Simulation	2 12
p Indury 68 Figure 46 1968 Pontiac Accident Case, UM-113-68 121 curres 69 Figure A-1 Linear Position, Squirrel Monkey A-4 Parameter for Human Side Head Impact 88 Figure A-2 Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Squirrel Monkey A-5 Parameter for Human Side Head Impact 90 Figure A-3 Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Squirrel Monkey A-5 ing Parameter for Human Side Head Impact 90 Figure A-5 Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Squirrel Monkey A-6 ing Parameter for Human Side Head Impact 90 Figure A-5 Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Squirrel Monkey A-1 am System 93 Figure A-5 Resultant of Linear Velocity, Squirrel Monkey A-1 am System 93 Figure A-7 Resultant of Linear Velocity, Squirrel Monkey A-1 iterion feed 93 Figure A-7 Resultant of Linear Velocity, Squirrel Monkey A-1 iterion feed 93 Figure A-10 Linear Positions, Squirrel Monkey A-1 iterion for Primates, Side Head Impact 93 Figure A-10 Linear Velocity, Squirrel Monkey A-1 ferion for Primates, Side Head Impact	Foam Impact	ors	63	Figure 45.	1971 Ford Door After Test No. 71-105	120
Curves 69 Figure A-I. Linear Positions, Squirrel Monky A-4 Parameter for Human Side Head Impact 88 Figure A-2. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Squirrel Monky A-5 Parameter for Human Side Head Impact 88 Figure A-3. Resultant of Linear Velocity, Squirrel Monky A-6 Inp Parameter for Human Side Head Impact 90 Figure A-3. Resultant of Linear Velocity, Squirrel Monky A-7 arameter for Human Side Head Impact 90 Figure A-6. Linear Positions, Comonigus Monky A-1 am System 93 Figure A-6. Linear Positions, Comonigus Monky A-1 am System 93 Figure A-6. Linear Acceleration and Velocity, Cymonigus Monky A-1 am System 93 Figure A-7. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Cymonigus Monky A-1 fierion Head Model 98 Figure A-10. Head Contact Force, Cymonigus Monky A-1 fierion for Squirrel Monky, Side Head 101 Figure A-11. Linear Positions, Result Monky A-1 fierion for Squirrel Monky, Side Head 101 Figure A-13. Resultant of Linear Velocity, Cymonigus Monky A-16 fierion for Squirrel Monky, Side Head 101 Figure A-10. Head Contact Force, Cymonigus Monky A-16 fierion for Squirrel Monky	Injury		68	Figure 46	1968 Pontiac Accident Case, UM-113-68	5
And Parameter for Human Side Head Impact 70 Figure A-2 Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Squirrel Monkey A-5 Farameter for Human Side Head Impact 88 Figure A-3 Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Squirrel Monkey A-5 Ing Parameter for Human Side Head Impact 90 Figure A-6 Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Squirrel Monkey A-8 m System 93 Figure A-6 Linear Positions, Cynomolgus Monkey A-16 m System 93 Figure A-7 Resultant of Linear Velocities, Cynomolgus Monkey A-13 m System 93 Figure A-7 Resultant of Linear Velocities, Cynomolgus Monkey A-13 ferrion for Primates, Side Head Impact 98 Figure A-3 Resultant of Linear Velocities, Cynomolgus Monkey A-16 ferrion for Primates, Side Head Impact 100 Figure A-3 Resultant of Linear Positions, Rhesus Monkey A-16 ferrion for Cynomolgus Monkey, Side 101 Figure A-18 Resultant of Linear Positions, Rhesus Monkey A-16 ferrion for Cynomolgus Monkey, Side 101 Figure A-18 Resultant of Linear Positions, Rhesus Monkey A-16 ferrion for Cynomolgus Monkey, Side 101 Figure A-13 Resultant of Linear Positions, Rhes	actures		69	Figure A-1.	Linear Positions, Squirrel Monkey	
Figure A-3 Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Squirrel Monkey And ing Parameter for Human Side Head Impact 89 Figure A-5 Head Contact Force, Squirrel Monkey A-3 arameter for Human Side Head Impact 90 Figure A-5 Head Contact Force, Squirrel Monkey A-3 arameter for Human Side Head Impact 90 Figure A-5 Head Contact Force, Squirrel Monkey A-3 arameter for Human Side Head Impact 93 Figure A-5 Head Contact Force, Squirrel Monkey A-3 ar System 93 Figure A-5 Head Contact Force, Squirrel Monkey A-3 ar System 93 Figure A-5 Resultant of Linear Velocities, Cynomolgus Monkey A-3 fiterion for Primates, Side Head Impacts 100 Figure A-10 Head Contact Force, Cynomolgus Monkey A-20 fiterion for Primates, Side Head 101 Figure A-11 Linear Positions, Nesus Monkey A-20 fiterion for Cynomolgus Monkey, Side 102 Figure A-13 Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Sturnen Monkey A-20 fiterion for Cynomolgus Monkey, Side 101 Figure A-13 Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Cynomolgus Monkey A-20 fiterion for Cynomolgus Monkey, Side 102 Figure A-13 Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Cynomolgus Monkey A-20 fromolgus M	ljury Paramotor fr	The Armon Side Head Tourse	70	Figure A-2.	Resultant of Linear Velocities, Squirrel Monkey	A A
89 Figure A-4. Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Squirrel Monkey A-1 20 m System 93 Figure A-6. Linear Positions, Cynomolgus Monkey A-3 21 terion Head Model 96 Figure A-6. Linear Positions, Cynomolgus Monkey A-13 21 terion for Primates, Side Head Impacts 98 Figure A-6. Linear Positions, Cynomolgus Monkey A-14 20 tead Model 96 Figure A-6. Linear Positions, Cynomolgus Monkey A-14 20 terion for Primates, Side Head Impacts 100 Figure A-9. Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Cynomolgus Monkey A-14 21 terion for Squirrel Monkey, Side Head 101 Figure A-10. Head Contact Force, Cynomolgus Monkey A-14 21 terion for Squirrel Monkey, Side Head 101 Figure A-11. Linear Acceleration, Cynomolgus Monkey A-20 21 terion for Cynomolgus Monkey, Side Head 102 Figure A-13. Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Cynomolgus Monkey A-20 21 terion for Cynomolgus Monkey, Side Head 102 Figure A-13. Resultant of Linear Velocity, Cynomolgus Monkey A-20 22 terion for Cynomolgus Monkey, Side Head 102	ing Paramete	er for Human Side Head	8	Figure A-3.	Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Squirrel Monkey	- V
ms system	Parameter for	r Human Side Head Impact	89 AN	Figure A-5.	Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Squirrel Monkey Head Control Econo	A-7
Iterion Head Model 96 Figure A-7. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Cynomolgus Monkey A-12 for Head Model 98 Figure A-8. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Cynomolgus Monkey A-13 for Head Model 98 Figure A-9. Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Cynomolgus Monkey A-14 iterion for Primates, Side Head Impacts 100 Figure A-10. Head Contact Force, Cynomolgus Monkey A-16 terion for Squirrel Monkey, Side Head 101 Figure A-11. Linear Acceleration, Resus Monkey A-20 terion for Cynomolgus Monkey, Side Head 101 Figure A-12. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Rhesus Monkey A-20 terion for Cynomolgus Monkey, Side Head 102 Figure A-12. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Rhesus Monkey A-22 terion for Chimpanzee, Side Head 103 Figure A-13. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Rhesus Monkey A-23 terion for Chimpanzee, Side Head 103 Figure A-16. Head Contact Force, Rhesus Monkey A-23 terion for Chimpanzee 103 Figure A-16. Head Contact Force, Rhesus Monkey A-23 terion for Chimpanzee 103 Figure A-16. Head Contact Force, Rhesus Monkey A-	edom System		6 3	Figure A-6.	Linear Positions furner Monkey	A-8
Orthold 98 Figure A-8. Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Cynomolgus Monkey A-13 iterion for Primates, Side Head Impacts 100 Figure A-9. Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Cynomolgus Monkey A-16 iterion for Squirrel Monkey, Side Head 100 Figure A-10. Head Contact Force, Cynomolgus Monkey A-15 iterion for Squirrel Monkey, Side Head 101 Figure A-10. Head Contact Force, Cynomolgus Monkey A-16 terion for Cynomolgus Monkey, Side Head 101 Figure A-12. Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Cynomolgus Monkey A-20 terion for Cynomolgus Monkey, Side Head 102 Figure A-13. Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Rhesus Monkey A-22 terion for Cynomolgus Monkey, Side Head 102 Figure A-13. Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Rhesus Monkey A-23 terion for Chimpanzee, Side Head 103 Figure A-15. Head Contact Force, Rhesus Monkey A-24 r Pulse) r Pulse) 103 Figure A-15. Head Contact Force, Rhesus Monkey A-23 r Pulse) r Pulse) 103 Figure A-15. Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Rhesus Monkey A-24 r Pulse) r Pulse) 104 F	Criterion Head	1 Model	96	Figure A-7.	Resultant of linear velocition formers	-12
Figure A-9. Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Cynomolgus Monkey A-14 iterion for Squirrel Monkey, Side Head 100 Figure A-10. Head Contact Force, Cynomolgus Monkey A-16 r Pulse) revise 101 Figure A-10. Head Contact Force, Cynomolgus Monkey A-16 r Pulse) r Pulse) 101 Figure A-11. Linear Positions, Rhesus Monkey A-20 r Pulse) 102 Figure A-12. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Rhesus Monkey A-22 iterion for Cynomolgus Monkey, Side Head 102 Figure A-13. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Rhesus Monkey A-23 r Pulse) r Pulse) 103 Figure A-14. Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Rhesus Monkey A-23 r Pulse) r Pulse) 103 Figure A-15. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Rhesus Monkey A-23 r Pulse) r Pulse) 104 Figure A-16. Linear Positions, Chimpanzee A-24 r Pulse) r Pulse) 104 Figure A-16. Linear Positions, Chimpanzee A-24 r Pulse) r Pulse 104 Figure A-16. Linear Positions, Chimpanzee A-28 r Pulse) <t< td=""><td>n for Head Mod</td><td>lel</td><td>98</td><td>Figure A-8.</td><td>Resultant of Linear Acceleration Commentance Monkey</td><td>n L</td></t<>	n for Head Mod	lel	98	Figure A-8.	Resultant of Linear Acceleration Commentance Monkey	n L
Iterion for Squirrel Monkey, Side HeadFigure A-10.Head Contact Force, Cynomolgus MonkeyA-16Ir Pulse)Ir Pulse)101Figure A-11.Linear Positions, Rhesus MonkeyA-20iterion for Cynomolgus Monkey, Side102Figure A-12.Resultant of Linear Velocities, Rhesus MonkeyA-21iterion for Cynomolgus Monkey, Side102Figure A-13.Resultant of Linear Velocities, Rhesus MonkeyA-21iterion for Cynomolgus Monkey, Side Head102Figure A-14.Angular Acceleration, Rhesus MonkeyA-21iterion for Chimpanzee, Side Head103Figure A-14.Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Rhesus MonkeyA-23iterion for Chimpanzee, Side Head104Figure A-15.Head Contact Force, Rhesus MonkeyA-24iterion for Chimpanzee, Side Impacts with a104Figure A-15.Head Contact Force, Rhesus MonkeyA-24iterion for Chimpanzee, Side Impacts with a106Figure A-15.Head Contact Force, Rhesus MonkeyA-24iterion for Chimpanzee, Side Impacts with a105Figure A-15.Resultant of Linear Velocity, ChimpanzeeA-28iterion for Impacts with a Scaled105Figure A-18.Resultant of Linear Acceleration, ChimpanzeeA-20iterions103Figure A-19.Angular Acceleration, ChimpanzeeA-28index for Impacts with a Scaled105Figure A-19.Angular Acceleration, ChimpanzeeA-29iterions106Figure A-19.Angular Acceleration, ChimpanzeeA-29iterions107Figure A-19.	Criterion for se)	Primates, Side Head Impacts	100	Figure A-9.	Angular Acceleration and Velocity. Cynomolgus Monkey	15 4
Iterion for Cynomolgus Monkey, Side102Figure A-12.Resultant of Linear Velocities, Rhesus MonkeyA-20ngular Pulse)102Figure A-13.Resultant of Linear Velocities, Rhesus MonkeyA-21terion for Rhesus Monkey, Side Head103Figure A-14.Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Rhesus MonkeyA-23terion for Chimpanzee, Side Head103Figure A-14.Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Rhesus MonkeyA-24terion for Chimpanzee, Side Head104Figure A-15.Head Contact Force, Rhesus MonkeyA-24r Pulse)104Figure A-16.Linear Positions, ChimpanzeeA-28r Pulse)104Figure A-16.Linear Positions, ChimpanzeeA-28r Pulse)105Figure A-16.Linear Positions, ChimpanzeeA-28r Pulse)105Figure A-18.Resultant of Linear Velocities, ChimpanzeeA-28r Pulse)105Figure A-18.Resultant of Linear Velocities, ChimpanzeeA-29r II107Figure A-18.Resultant of Linear Velocities, ChimpanzeeA-29r II107Figure A-18.Resultant of Linear Velocities, ChimpanzeeA-30r II108Figure A-19.Angular Acceleration and Velocity, ChimpanzeeA-30r A-30103Figure A-19.Angular Acceleration and Velocity, ChimpanzeeA-30r A-30108Figure A-19.Angular Acceleration and Velocity, ChimpanzeeA-30	Criterion for Jar Pulse)	Squirrel Monkey, Side Head	101	Figure A-10. Figure A-11.	Head Contact Force, Cynomolgus Monkey Linear Positions Rhacke Monkey	16
terion for Rhesus Monkey, Side HeadFigure A-13.Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Rhesus MonkeyA-22r Pulse)103Figure A-14.Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Rhesus MonkeyA-23terion for Chimpanzee, Side Head104Figure A-15.Head Contact Force, Rhesus MonkeyA-24r Pulse)104Figure A-16.Linear Positions, ChimpanzeeA-28r Pulse)104Figure A-16.Linear Positions, ChimpanzeeA-28r Pulse)105Figure A-16.Linear Positions, ChimpanzeeA-28r Pulse)105Figure A-18.Resultant of Linear Velocities, ChimpanzeeA-29r Index for Impacts with a Scaled107Figure A-18.Resultant of Linear Velocities, ChimpanzeeA-29r II107Figure A-18.Resultant of Linear Velocities, ChimpanzeeA-30r Index for Impacts with a Scaled107Figure A-18.Resultant of Linear Velocities, ChimpanzeeA-30r II108Figure A-19.Angular Acceleration and Velocity, ChimpanzeeA-30r Index108Figure A-19.Angular Acceleration and Velocity, ChimpanzeeA-30	riterion for Tangular Puls	Cynomolgus Monkey, Side e)	102	Figure A-12.	Resultant of Linear Velocities, Rhesus Monkey	21 29
r ruiser 103 rigure A-14. Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Rhesus Monkey A-23 terion for Chimpanzee, Side Head 104 Figure A-15. Head Contact Force, Rhesus Monkey A-24 r Pulse) 104 Figure A-15. Head Contact Force, Rhesus Monkey A-24 r Pulse) 104 Figure A-16. Linear Positions, Chimpanzee A-28 r Pulse) 105 Figure A-16. Linear Positions, Chimpanzee A-28 r Region II 105 Figure A-18. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Chimpanzee A-29 11 107 Figure A-18. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Chimpanzee A-30 11 108 Figure A-19. Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Chimpanzee A-30 ventions 108 Figure A-19. Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Chimpanzee A-30	Criterion for	Rhesus Monkey, Side Head		Figure A-13.	Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Rhesus Monkey	2
retrion for Chimpanzee, Side Head 104 Figure A-15. Head Contact Force, Rhesus Monkey A-24 r Pulse) 104 Figure A-16. Linear Positions, Chimpanzee A-28 v Index for Side Impacts with a 105 Figure A-17. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Chimpanzee A-29 v Index for Impacts with a Scaled 105 Figure A-18. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Chimpanzee A-29 v Index for Impacts with a Scaled 107 Figure A-18. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Chimpanzee A-30 v Index for Impacts with a Scaled 107 Figure A-18. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Chimpanzee A-30 v Index for Impacts with a Scaled 107 Figure A-18. Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Chimpanzee A-30 ventions 108 Efform A and Velocity, Chimpanzee A-31	liar Puise)		103	Figure A-14.	Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Rhesus Monkey	2
Y Index for Side Impacts with a 105 Figure A-16. Linear Positions, Chimpanzee A-28 Region II 105 Figure A-17. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Chimpanzee A-29 Y Index for Impacts with a Scaled 107 Figure A-18. Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Chimpanzee A-30 Ventions 108 Figure A-19. Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Chimpanzee A-31	riterion for lar Pulse)	Chimpanzee, Side Head	104	Figure A-15.	Head Contact Force, Rhesus Monkey	4
y Index for Impacts with a Scaled 107 Figure A-18. Resultant of Linear Velocities, Chimpanzee A-29 II Figure A-18. Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Chimpanzee A-30 Ventions 108 Figure A-19. Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Chimpanzee A-31	ury Index for to Region II	Side Impacts with a	TOF	Figure A-16. Figure A-17	Linear Positions, Chimpanzee	00
Figure A-19. Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Chimpanzee A-31	ry Index for	Impacts with a Scaled	501 107	Figure A-18.	Resultant of Linear Velocities, Chimpanzee Resultant of Linear Acceleration, Chimpanzee	ରୁ <u>କ</u>
	nventions		108	Figure A-19.	Angular Acceleration and Velocity, Chimpanzee	-

X

viii

i i

4

ų

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

			rage	
able.	· 	Designation of Body Areas and Door Regions	27	
able		Frequency of Impacts of Body Areas at Door Regions	28	
able	 	Impact Velocities (mph) - 50th Percentile Male	29	
able	4.	Impact Velocities (mph) - 6-Year Child	29	
able	ъ.	Accident Investigation of Side Impact	32	
able	6.	Location of Occupant Impact with Door	34	
able	7.	Secondary Collision Velocity (mph) Occupant with Lap Belt and Bench Seat	37	
able	÷.	Side Head Impact Data	72	
able	. б	Padded Impactor Head Data	6/	
able	<u>.</u>	Side Body Impact Data	8	
[able]	Ξ.	Scaling Parameters	16	
able]	12.	MSC Model Parameter for Primates	95	
[able]	13.	Animal Side Door Crash Simulations	114	
[able]	4.	50th Percentile Male Dummy Side Door Crash Simulations	111	
Table	15.	Door Types and Extrusion Distances	118	

This research program was carried out by the staff of the Biosciences Division of the Highway Safety Research Institute. The University of Michigan. The authors would like to thank Mr. Arnold Johnson for his special guidance, suggestions, cooperation and support. We are also indebted to Lauretta MacColman for her assistance in animal preparations as well as the collection and reduction of data. Special thanks are due to Dr. Thomas Johnson, Dr. Thomas Sodeman from the Department of Pathology, Dr. Gary Boorman from the Unit for Laboratory Animal Care, and Dr. Duncan A. McCarthy from Parke-Davis & Company for their medical guidance in this program. Thanks also goes to Steven Fisher for his many hours on the VanGuard Film Analyzer.

1. INTRODUCTION

This report describes the work performed for the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration under Contract No. FH-11-7288 entitled, "Door Crashworthiness Criteria.

vehicle impacts to include the side impact situation and from the associated kinematics, identify those areas of the body which show greatest likelihood systems associated with the impact. Relate second collision impact veloci-1. Modify existing two-dimensional computer models for simulation of In the performance of this study the Contractor, within the limits of ties with crash velocity. Compare results of study with accident analyses of impact with side structure. Identify the structural elements in side time and funds available, was required to perform the following tasks: which were to have been made available to contractor by NHTSA.

2. By suitable animal* and cadaver experimentation and literature analinjury to man for each subject involved for the variety of realistic impact ysis, develop curves relating intensity of body impact with probability of configurations determined from study under (1).

tions with animal and cadaver subjects to develop relationships between level 3. Conduct a series of idealized impact tests for side directed situaof impact. contact area, body area and type and degree of injury to man.

1.1 CURRENT RESEARCH KNOWLEDGE

Knowledge of human response to lateral $(\pm g_v)$ acceleration forces is very limited. In contrast to studies of impact tolerance involving vertical,

*The animals used in this study were handled in accordance with the "Princi-ples of Laboratory Animal Care" established by the National Academy of Sci-ence/National Research Council and National Society for Medical Research.

forward, or rearward-facing body orientations, to date few studies have been conducted with either human or animal subjects facing sideward. Most previous studies, furthermore, have been conducted under conditions of maximum restraint, offering considerably greater protection to the body than coes the lap belt only. No studies are known that nave been conducted in respect to side impact with unrestrained animal or numan subjects.

1.1.1 Tolerance to Side impacts

To date, animal tests have been primarily conducted relative to aerospace programs. In support of Apollo tests, one American black bear, wearing full Apollo restraint, except for the helmet, was exposed to a peak lateral acceleration of 46 6 with a velocity change of 32 ft/sec and onset rate of 4180 G per second, without reported injury (Clarke, unpublished data, 1962). A second bear, in a single experiment in which the animal was restrained in a B-58 capsule, survived 8.5 G at four hertz without post-mortem evidence of trauma (Clarke, unpublished data, 1962).

Robinson, et al. (1963) have exposed rhesus monkeys to repeated lateral impacts of up to 75 G at 32 ft/sec while restrained in half-body mass. He found electrocardiographic evidence of transient abnormalities in both conduction and rhythm following impacts at accelerations higher than 55 G. Comparison of radiographs taken pre- and post-impact revealed an increase in the percent of the total heart shadow on the dependent side of the midline following the test. Abnormalities of the heart occurred twice as often in those monkeys receiving left lateral impacts as those impacted on their right side. Stapp reported no injuries to five chipmanzees decelerated on the Hollo-

stapp reputed to 1,20.8 to 47 (calculated) input lateral accelerations (right. +6,) at 929 to 1180 6/sec for 0.118 to 0.170 seconds duration (1952: m

1955). Lombard, et al., exposed guinea pigs to 240 G for 0.033 seconds at 100,000 G/sec rate of onset in a fully contoured rigid support system (1964).

G impact. Such cervical trauma did not occur in either rear-facing or forwardcases. In three instances, cervical fractures occurred with complete atlanto-The most significant finding, and quite unexpected, was that juries fell into several categories. Five animals received ruptured bladders. of pancreatic hemorrhage in all lateral cases autopsied. Subsequent investi-(Snyder, et al., 1968b; 1967a). Ninety degree side impacts at 22 G. with the places unusual stress on the abdominal and back musculature and viscera. Inthe lap-belted human automobile occupant than the previous tests of full body 3-point system, resulted in severe dural and urinary bladder hemorrhage, and pact, relative to either forward or rearward facing exposures, at every level an injury which only occurred in the lateral impacts. Contusions, tears, or 3-point, Y-yoke, and a (European type) upper torso single diagonal belt only These tests indigations were conducted of baboon subjects exposed to lateral impact wearing which indicate that significantly greater injury occurs in lateral (+ G_v) im-These tests, conoccipital separation and transection of the spinal cord occurring in one 30 minimal restraint of a lap belt only, and may be of greater significance to cate that in any future side-impact studies particular attention should be support. The combination of lateral flexion of the thorax, plus torquing. trary to the bear, chimpanzee, and rhesus tests noted, were conducted with More recent tests utilizing baboon subjects have resulted in findings acerations, and a complete severance of the uterus also occurred in five paid to kidney, dural, and myocardial trauma, injuries found in these fatal dislocation of the atlanto-occipital joint at 30 G. of impact studies from 15 to 44 G (Snyder, et al., 1967). facing impacts.

experiments and since noted in at least one study of side-impact automotive collisions et al.

Human lateral impact tests in support of Apollo have been conducted. under conditions of maximum restraint protection including use of a 3-inch lap belt, a thigh strap, leg restraints, full torso restraint vest with integrated shoulder straps, a pressure suit helmet with restraining straps, and full body support by a contoured microballon mattress backed by 0.25 inch aluminum plate (Clarke, et al., 1963). Sixteen volunteer subjects were impacted in a series of 32 tests. No adverse subjective reactions were reported to peak accelerations of up to 22 G produced with velocity changes of up to 19.3 ft/sec., at a maximum onset rate up to 1350 G/sec. However, in view of the fact that these were young healthy male subjects in superb physical copdition, utilizing the most sophisticated restraint protection yet tested, the relevance of these findings to the general population and to the automotive side-impact is not known. A subsequent study by Brown, Rothstein and Foster (1966) of 11 human tests, using a 3-inch lap belt, double shoulder harness, inverted "V" pelvic straps, and head restraint, found no significant injury from lateral impact at forces to 14 G on the sled, although effects reported by subjects included extended chest pain, muscle spasms, shoulder or abdominal pain.

Human tests with subjects protected by Project Mercury restraint and helmets were conducted in 15 right 90° lateral impacts and 17 left 90° lateral impacts to 21.5 peak G units (1350 G/sec at 0.036 sec). Only transient injuries were reported without reaching a tolerance endpoint for this system (Weis, et al., 1963).

Lateral impact tests have been conducted on 64 Air Force volunteers protected by various military aircraft and spacecraft restraint systems at up to 18.7 sled G at 20 ft/sec entrance velocity, without significant injury (Chandler, 1966).

Royal Air Force tests of the F-111 restraint (both GD F111 and RAF 1AM versions) involved 18 lateral impacts to five human subjects up to 17.7 G at 390 G/sec. Subject symptoms ranged from chest, groin, throat and collar bone discomfort to eye blood vessels ruptures, faintness, and breathing difficulties, but no irreversible injury (Reader, 1967).

In tests of the impact attenuators of the B-58 escape capsule, ten human male subjects were exposed, without reported injury, to impact forces associated with combined velocity changes of up to 25 ft/sec in the X axis and up to 34 ft/sec in the Y axis. Due to tumbling and skidding of the capsule, extrapolation of these findings to other conditions is difficult (Payne, 1961). Zaborowski on the Holloman "bopper" performed 87 tests on 52 male Air Force subjects at impact up to 11.59 G and durations of 0.22 to 0.09 sec while restrained with both lap belt and shoulder harness and side restraint panel. No permanent physiological changes were noted. Minor subjective physical complaints were reported by more than 60% of the subjects when exposed to 8.8 average G's or greater. The possibility of cardiovascular trauma halted the experiments after two subjects were exposed to 11.59 average G's at 13.3 and 14.6 ft/sec entrance velocities. Whitehouse in 1966 reported finding no pulmonary damage in 18 lateral (-G,) impacts conducted on nine human subjects impacted at 15 G, using head and torso restraint. Other tests in support of the B-58 capsule, Mercury, Gemini, Apollo, F-111 and other advanced experimental systems have also employed maximum restraint systems, not comparable to that of minimal lap-belt-only restraint.

There apparently has been only one published study involving impact tolerances of the human while restrained by lap belt only. Zaborowski.

Rothstein, and Brown in 1963 published the first medical investigation on humans (restrained by lap belt only) in lateral impact and these had to be discontinued at 9 G (with impact durations of 0.1 sec) due "to subject disconfinued at p G (with fingest and soreness in the neck musculature." Fifty percent of the subjects complained of physical discomfort at 6 G.

A more recent study of over 100 lateral impacts from 9.2 to 10.0 sled G (12 to 14 chest G) to 32.6 ft/sec entrance velocity is still unpublished (Sonntag, 1966). One subject fainted and another subject received severe neck muscle strain. In other tests of human voluntary tolerance in side-impact. From 18 to 92° body orientation (from the forward facing position), Beeding from 18 to 92° body orientation (from the forward facing position), Beeding from 18 to 92° body orientation (from the forward facing position), Beeding from 18 to 92° body orientation (from the forward facing position), Beeding from 18 to 92° body orientation (from the forward facing position), Beeding from 18 to 92° body orientation (from the forward facing position), Beeding from 18 to 92° body orientation (from the forward facing position), Beeding from 18 to 92° body orientation (from the forward facing position), Beeding from 18 to 92° body orientation (from the forward facing position), Beeding from 18 to 92° body orientation (from the forward facing position), Beeding from 18 to 92° body orientation (from the forward facing position), Beeding from 18 to 92° body orientation (from the forward facing position), Beeding for has reported effects of these tains, headeles up to 18 hours, brief disordisered is shock, albuminucia. Other clinical findings have included no bolood pressure immediately post run in one subject (1958).

İ

Another source of information concerning human tolerance to lateral forces is found in studies of free-fall survivals. Although forces must be estimated through calculation, selected cases often have produced valuable data relative (Snyder; 1969a; 1968a; 1966b; 1966c; 1965; 1964; 1963a; 1963a; 1963b). In eight cases reported in 1963, a considerably different distribution of injuries was cases reported in 1963, a considerably different distribution of injuries was reported in 1963, a considerably different distribution of injuries was dound: as compared to other body orientations (Snyder, 1963a; p. 669). In found: as stream free-fall impacts into water surface, the highest velocity surlateral human free-fall impacts into water surface, the highest velocity surhuman (Snyder, 1965; Snyder and Snow, 1967).

The physiological effects of lateral impact as found from both human and animal impact tolerance research studies have been summarized by Eiband (1965).

ø

Snyder (1966; 1969b), and by Stapp (1968; 1969). Results to date document that the human body is less able to tolerate accelerative forces in the $\pm G_y$ axis, than $\pm G_x$ or $\pm G_z$ axis.

Clinical reports of human lateral impact occurring in automotive accidents occasionally have included useful injury data, although usually the physician has no objective environmental information about the accident. A recent medical report of side-impact collisions in the Detroit area has resulted in the finding of pancreatic trauma in occupants. In four automotive side-collision accident cases investigated by Huelke

and reported by Yost (1967) the occupants were unrestrained. Extensive compartment invasion occurred in each case, with the occupants suffering moderate to fatal injuries.

States and States (1968) found in a study of 48 lateral automotive accidents that fractures of the acetabulum with intrapelvic protrusion of the hip and fractures are characteristic. The vehicle door was the structure producing the most injuries in such cases. They also noted that head injuries in lateral impact were the most common and also the most common cause of fatality.

Friedberg, et al., studied data from 1490 automotive side collisions, concluding that the frequency of dangerous or fatal injury is twice as great for occupants seated on the side of the car impacted, as for those away from the impact (1969). Subsequently, Lister and Neilson, studying automotive side impacts in the United Kingdom, reported that such collisions account for about 13% of all accidents involving cars in which some occupant was seriously or fatally injured (1969).

Head injuries in side-impact collisions have also been found to be the most common cause of fatal injury in studies by Huelke (1958 - 1969, data)

and by Siegel and Nahum (1967-1969).

į,

Side impact in automotive collisions also has long been studied through analysis of data involving actual crash tests with instrumented dummies. The literature is abundant with the results of such tests, and a continuing series of side impact design studies have recently been conducted by General Mctors, Chrysler, and Ford Motor Company. Such work has included review of 415 ACIR car-to-car side impacts with

the conclusion that the 90° side impact is the most frequent side collision configuration. Sled tests (90°) relating occupant chest and head accelerations to the

distance from the inner panel and to glass position (up or down) have been conducted with dummies. Without glass, such tests indicate that the acceleration at the windowsill is about 90 G on a 20 millisecond base, plus an inftial 100 - 150 G pulse on a 5 millisecond base. Little change in magnitude occurs until the dummy is 12 inches from the door. From such information mathematical modeling has advanced as a most useful tool in the assessment of improved design.

Yet, despite the technological advances in mathematical modeling and in obtaining objective data in experimental crash impacts from vehicle structures, the lack of knowledge of human lateral impact tolerances remains the weakest point in the design loop. Few animal or human experimental studies have been conducted with the subject restrained solely by a lap belt, and none have been conducted to date with unrestrained subjects. Clinical data from collisions and experimental data from the laboratory both indicate that the automobile occupant is less able to tolerate **impact** from the side. However, survivable and lethal levels for the restrained occupant are still little understood, and remain completely unknown for the unrestrained occupant.

1.1.2 Experimental Biomechanics and Modeling

The Biomechanics literature available in the field of human tolerance to acceleration effects is based upon data derived from four different types of experimental studies. These have involved the use of three types of test subjects and/or attempts to correlate injuries to mechanical inputs where they are known. The three types of test subjects have been human volunteers, cadavers, and experimental animals. The fourth type of data is derived from accident evaluation. Each choice of experimental program and subject has involved limitations on the use of the resulting information. Volunteers provide the most realistic simulation; however, their use is so restricted by the necessity of avoiding any acute or chronic injury that volunteer thresholds are well below the tolerance levels for minimal injury. For the case of side impact, structure design and the development of tolerance curves, the use of volunteers would have to be ruled out as appropriate experimental tools (McHenry, 1966).

Both cadavers and experimental animals have been suggested as suitable subjects for this research program. Since neither one is a complete or accurate representation of man their advantages and limitations based upon other previously reported research should be considered. Human cadavers have been used to any significant extent by only one research organization in this country. The early work of Gurdjian and Lissner (1965) regarding the tolerance of the head to impact followed by Patrick's studies of femoral and thoracic fractures constitute the bulk of the literature available. These studies are consistent in that embalmed cadaver material is only used to define skeletal injury and not associated soft tissue damage. In the case of studies of

head impact tolerance, the shape of the curve and much of its underlying philosophy was derived from the pressure studies of canine concussion rather than from human cadaver experiments.

Cadavers are theoretically available in either the embalmed or unembalmed condition. Availability of cadavers is so limited that no group of investigators have been able to utilize the unembalmed material to any appreciable extent. The combined legal, esthetic and storage problems are such that embalmed material will undoubtedly continue to be used in the foreseeable future except under certain special circumstances. With this thought in mind, the effects of embalming must be considered in terms of how the tissues are affected and consequently how useful the ultimate results of the research will be.

Embalming is the basic process of replacing body fluids with a formalin solution to stop the autolytic processes associated with death. The effect is to preserve a human body which looks, weighs, and is constructed exactly like the living human. The chemical reactions involved have been shown to have widely varying effects on the mechanical behavior of the various tissues involved. The general structural behavior of the entire body remains essentially the same with approximately a 10% increase in mechanical stiffness. Kinematically, the body will respond in a highly variable manner depending upon the previous history of use, storage and efficiency of the embalming process.

Basically, since dead tissue does not recover when over extended as do living tissues, embalmed cadavers tend to become increasingly flexible until they are capable of contortions which no living subject would withstand. To date, no quantitative basis exists for determining when an embalmed subject

2

is no longer a suitable representation of the living body's kinematic response. The skeletal system, however, appears to retain its fracture properties with little decrement as long as adequate precautions are taken to minimize drying. The physical properties of embalmed bone are not known well enough to make meaningful extrapolations to fresh bone. Aside from the problem of increasing flexibility of an undefined nature. the greatest limitation of the human cadaver, aside from the obvious fact that it is not a functional system, is the totally unrealistic nature of its soft tissues in terms of their consistency and mechanical properties. The changes are the greatest in the brain followed by the vascular system and the abdominal viscera. This is probably the most significant limitation of the cadaver in terms of a side impact study. The fracture tolerance of the elements of the skeletal system which will be involved, the femur, pelvis, rib cage, humerus and skull, does not appear to be the limiting factor in terms of defining tolerance, but rather the associated soft tissues of the body appear to have the lowest thresholds for injury. The brain, vascular system and

humerus and skull, does not appear to be the limiting factor in terms of defining tolerance, but rather the associated soft tissues of the body appear to have the lowest thresholds for injury. The brain, vascular system and certain abdominal organs, namely the pancreas, kidney and spleen, are more vital to life and will probably play the major role as the weakest links in the system. Yet it is precisely these organs which are practically useless in cadaver impacts. If accurate and meaningful tolerance data are to be developed then it would appear that appropriate animal experimentation should play the major role. Unfortunately, the limited amount of research results available for this direction of loading provides only the most general of guidelines to be used in defining the research program (Thompson, 1968). It follows, therefore, that as a model the cadaver is the least satisfactory of the four models mentioned. Although geometrically similar to a

particular human being, it frequently falls outside the range of human norms. Its joint characteristics are quite different from the living human and unlike the dummy are not controllable. Therefore, the accuracy of kinematic and kinetic studies is reduced. The soft tissue responses are greatly altered and of course biologically there is no similarity. Thus, while the cadaver represents the best compromise for the most responses, in any given set of responses, i.e. kinematic or biological, it does not do as well as a more specific model chosen to match that set.

1.....

In this connection, it is convenient to divide human impact response into two classes. The first is a kinematic and kinetic response that is purely mechanical and in a first approximation independent of the deformation mechanisms of the structures involved. This is essentially the rigid body mechanics of the problem. Anthropomorphic dummies provide an appropriate method for the study of this type of response.

The experimental animal provides an excellent model to study injury mechanisms and tolerance. The model is both biologically and mechanically similar and with suitable scaling should provide reasonable estimates of human impact responses. Since experimental animals, particularly primates, represent the best biological model of the human the development of a suitable scaling law is of major concern. Ommaya (1966) has reported the essential features of a scaling law for cerebral concussion of primates.

Dimensional Analysis and the theory of modeling is well founded in mathematical theory (i.e. Langhaar, 1951). However, the application of dimensional analysis to any particular problem requires the clear identification of the independent variables and their dimensions. The complexity of the scaling

2

problem considered here makes this step intractable and therefore a combined experimental, theoretical approach is required. This approach should utilize as much modeling theory as is feasible coupled to data from experiments on various size primates and cadavers. The development of suitable scaling relationships that allows the prediction of impact tolerance levels in man from animal data would represent a significant step forward.

1.1.3 Mathematical Modeling

The study of the interaction between an occupant and the interior of a vehicle using analytical techniques can be used to develop an understanding of the relation between the physical variables describing the occupant and his protective or injury-producing environment. The four major parameter groups which have been used to describe a seated occupant are the seat, the vehicle interior consisting of restraint devices as well as the occupant compartment, the deceleration profile, and the occupant. Each of the parameters has a geometric relationship to the other parameters which, in total, define the configuration of an occupant seated in a vehicle. In addition, the parameters can interact with one another to produce motions, forces, acceleration, etc.

An analytical computer study of occupant kinematics consists of input information. computer program, and output display. Input information is gathered from experimental engineering observations of the geometry and material of the auto-occupant system. The computer program is based on the laws of physics governing the force and motion interaction of moving bodies possessing mass. The analysis can be formulated in either two- or three-dimensional space. A two-dimensional study restricts all motion to be in a plane whereas

a three-dimensional analysis is not subject to this restriction and can represent adequately occupant kinematics in asymmetric collisions such as with asymmetric restraint systems, oblique collision, and side impact. The output of a mathematical model consists of tables, graphs, or pictorial displays of occupant motions, forces, velocities, etc.

The shortcomings of a two-dimensional analysis can be seen in the example of a side impact shown below. The view is looking down onto a restrained cccupent. The plane of vehicle travel and the collision is horizontal (in the plane of this sheet of paper). First, the collision itself causes the vehicle to roll out of this plane due to tipping. Second, the head, shoulders, and



upper turnso will rotate down out of the plane upon impact. However, the leg mass will rotate about a vertical axis and remain in the plane, unless seat hop-up censes the legs to rise in passing up out of the seat. In the event of an oblique collision, rather than the direct side collision just illustrated, the situation is much more complex with large motions in and around all the three coordinates of real space. It is difficult to conceive a realistic two-dimensional model simulating side impact.

Large scale two-dimensional models have been developed by several research groups (Aldman and Appoldt 1964), the most sophisticated publicly available model being in use at HSRI (Robbins and Becker 1968). Most large models have eight masses representing body parts. Other models using fewer masses have been developed here and elsewhere. The only known published reports discussing three-dimensional models are by Roberts (1969) and Thompson (1968). Both of these papers report progress only.

2. COMPUTER SIMULATIONS

2.1 GENERAL

This section concerns the development and use of the HSRI Three-Dimensional Vehicle Occupant Model (Robbins, et al., 1970) for side Impact descriptions and development of mathematical models of door structures.

The methods used may be divided into two separate phases:

<u>Phase 1.</u> Identification of the structural elements associated with side impacts, those areas of the occupant's body most likely to impact the car interior, and the impact velocities. In this phase, it was necessary to define the following:

1. a standard car interior,

2. a standard occupant,

3. standard vehicle dynamics.

The 3-D Model was exercised under a variety of combinations of input parameters, and the results were compared with accident investigation reports of side impacts.

<u>Phase 2.</u> Modifications of the standard car interior were made with the aim of optimizing crash worthiness. These modifications included padding the car interior, using softer spring constants for the door structure and varying the location of the arm rest. The geometry of the occupant and the crash profiles were changed as new information became available.

Two door models were developed to study the side penetration of the door. Current door structures were evaluated and compared with older type unreinforced doors. The effect of the location of the reinforcing member was also investigated.

2.2 PHASE 1. IDENTIFICATION

2.2.1 Standard Car Interior

A standard car interior was required in the development of appropriate geometry and mechanical properties of representative side panels, doors, arm rests and windows for the computer simulation. Measurements of 15 medium-priced cars were made and analyzed, resulting in a composite car interior shown in Figure 1.

This information was used to set limits of motions, to identify critical areas of the car interior and to relate second collision impact velocities with the primary crash velocity.

The mechanical properties of side structures were collected from the literature (Brink, 1955). They include load-deflection characteristics of side panels, seat cushion and back, window and seat belts.

Important elements in the geometry of the side structure which were studied include the location and size of the arm rest, the recess of the glass window, and the seat type. These were varied and the parts of the occupant body most likely to hit the car interior, where the hit occurred, the frequency of these impacts, and the impacts' velocities determined.

The restraint system used by the occupant was also varied in these simulations. The restraint systems considered were:

1. No restraint

2. Lap belt only

3. Lap belt and single diagonal shoulder belt

4. Y-yoke belts

The seat type was also varied from a standard bucket to a full bench seat resulting in eight different seat restraint systems.



AUTOMOBILE

INTERIOR

FIGURE 1. H.S.R.I. COMPOSITE

2.2.2 The Standard Occupant

5

The second type of information required in phase 1 of the Computer Simulations was that dealing with the occupant. Anthropometric measures suitable for computer inputs were obtained from (D. H. Robbins, et al., 1970). A complete study of the effect of the previously mentioned seat-restraint system variables was made for the 50th percentile male and the six-year old child while only selected studies utilizing the 95th percentile male and the 5th percentile female were made.

Perhaps the most critical category of information required for computer simulation is the passenger compartment's deceleration profiles. The 3-D Model can accept six of these profiles: longitudinal, lateral and vertical linear deceleration pulses, and those of yawing, pitching and rolling of the vehicle. Two sets of data were obtained from the literature. One was a 30 mph side collision conducted by D. H. Severy (1959) (Figures 2, 3 and 4) and the other was a series of side impacts conducted by R. P. Mayor and K. H. Naad (1969). (Figure 5)

2.2.3 Results of Phase 1 of Computer Simulation

Two types of information of particular interest for each data set were computed:

 The number of times (frequency) each part of the occupant impacted various locations of the vehicle side structure.

 The average velocity of impacts at these locations.
 In order to understand the effects of each restraint configuration, a qualitative description of the results is presented first, followed by a quantitative presentation.







FIGURE 2. ACCELERATION OF VEHICLE COMPARTMENT







FIGURE 4. ANGULAR MOTION OF VEHICLE COMPARTMENT

2.2.3.1 Qualitative Results

There were 16 simulations for two sizes of occupant and two types of seat:

- 1, 50th percentile male bench type seat
- 2. 50th percentile male bucket seat
- 3. 6-year child bench seat
- 4. 6-year child bucket seat

For each combination, four different restraint systems were used: no restraint, lap belt only, diagonal shoulder harness and Y-yoke belts.

50th Percentile Male - Bench Seat

No Restraint - Almost all parts of the body impacted various regions of the door. The most severe impacts were to the head at the window, the middle torso at the arm rest, and the leg below and in front of the arm rest. Lap Belt - Again all parts of the body impacted the side structure, but at lesser velocities. The improvement was most significant for the middle and lower torsos.

<u>Shoulder Belts</u> - As suspected, the upper torso and shoulder behavior was improved. The head velocity was not improved appreciably.

<u>Y-Yoke Belts</u> - A definite improvement for the head and the middle torso was obtained. The upper and lower leg velocities increased significantly over the unrestrained run.

50th Percentile Male - Bucket Seat

<u>No Restraint</u> - There was a slight improvement over the bench seat for the middle torso, lower torso, and upper leg, that is their impact velocity was reduced. The head, however, hit the window with a slightly higher velocity. <u>Lap Belt</u> - The middle torso did not strike the arm rest, and the head velocity at the window was slightly reduced. Overall, impact was less severe than the non-belted run in both bucket and bench type seats.

<u>Shoulder Harness</u> - The overall behavior of the occupant was improved, but the head did hit the window, though at a lesser velocity than previously.

<u>Y-Yoke Belts</u> - A definite improvement over all three other restraint systems as far as the head is concerned. The head did not hit the window. The velocity of all three parts of the torso was reduced.

Six-Year Child - Bench Seat

<u>No Restraint</u> - The head impacted the window, the torso hit the door at the arm rest and the upper torso and shoulder hit the door below the window. The impact velocities were higher than that of the unrestrained male on a bench seat.

Lap Belt - The torso was restrained from hitting the door. The arm and shoulder hit the arm rest with a higher velocity than the unrestrained run. Shoulder Harness - Performance was similar to that with lap belt only, but there was a decrease in the impact velocity of the shoulder and arm. <u>Y-Yoke Belts</u> - Similar to the run with the shoulder harness, except the velocity of impact of the arm was not significantly reduced over the unrestrained run.

Six-Year Child - Bucket Seat

<u>No Restraint</u> - Generally, the same behavior was observed here as in the bench non-belted child run. The head and torso velocities were reduced slightly in comparison with the unrestrained bench seat.

<u>Lap Belt</u> - Slightly better performance than the bench seat. <u>Shoulder Harness</u> - No interaction with the door.

Y-Yoke Belts - Same as above. No impact of the child with the door.

25

2.2.3.2 Quantitative Results

To simplify the presentation of trese results, the occupants body was divided into six parts. Similarly, the door was divided into six corresponding general areas where respective body parts are likely to impact. Table 1 and Figure 6 show these major divisions. The frequency of impacts of the occupants members at various locations is the number of times a body part impacted certain regions of the door, without regard to the velocity of impact. The numbers of impacts are shown in Table 2 for all restraint systems, occupant sizes and seat types. In this table, the first number represents the pant sizes and seat types. In this table, the first number represents the part sizes and seat types. In this table, the first number represents the part sizes and seat types. In this table, the first number represents the part sizes and seat types. In this table, the first number represents the part sizes and seat types. In this table, the first number represents the part sizes and seat types. In this table, the first number represents the part sizes and seat types. In this table, the first number represents the part sizes child. If one body part impacted a certain door region in every the six-year child. Thus, the head of the 50th percentile male, hit six times the window (out of possible eight) and that of the six-year hit six times the window twice out of a possible eight.

The impact velocities of the body members at various door regions are summarized in Tables 3 and 4.

The frequency and location of impacts are also presented in threedimensional histograms where the height of each "column" represents number of impacts at the region where this column is anchored. (Figures 7 and 8)

2.2.4 Comparison Model Predictions

The total number of accidents investigated and fairly well documented was 23 side impacts involving 33 occupants of which 31 were injured. There were nine fatalities, eight of which involved head injuries. A breakdown of injuries and fatalities is shown in Table 5.

TABLE 1. DESIGNATION OF BODY AREAS AND DOOR REGIONS

	Door's Regions
Human body Areas	
. Head	1. Window
. Upper torso-arm	2. Between window and arm rest
. Middle torso-arm	3. Arm rest and vicinity
. Lower torso	4. Directly below arm rest
. Upper leg	5. Above and in front of arm rest
. Lower leg	6. Below and in front of arm rest

FIGURE 6. DESIGNATION OF BODY AREAS AND DOOR REGIONS





8

TABLE 2. FREQUENCY OF IMPACTS OF BODY AREAS AT DOOR REGIONS

	Postor					
5	1.#	keg1on #2	Keg1on #3	kegion #4	Keg1on #5	keg1on #6
Ŧ	6,2*					
42		11,3				
1 #3		1	12,6		6,2	
X			8,0	1,1		
142					4 ,0	0,2
*						6,1

*50th Percentile Male, 6-Year Old Child

 TABLE
 3. IMPACT VELOCITIES (MPH) - 50th
 PERCENTILE MALE

 30 mph Computer Simulations of Intersection Collision

Body Part #	Door Region #	No Be	lts	Lap	Belt	Shou Be	lder lt	7- 8	oke
	# IIDI Bay								
-		8.9	7.4	3.5	6.0	3.9	6.0	н 1 1 1	
2	2	7.9	6.4	6.5	4.8	6.5	3.5	6.0	3.8
ŝ	m	8.0	4.0	4.7	. 1	4.7	1	4.5	ı
4	ŝ	7.8	5.4	6.6	3.5	6.5	3.5	6.8	4.2
4	4	2.1			1		•	•	,
2	2 2 2	8.2	• • • •	1.4	J	ı.	. 1	1	5.0
9	Q	12.2	13.8	ı	11.9	. 1	11.4	2.6	12.8
]

TABLE 4. IMPACT VELOCITIES (MPH) - 6-YEAR CHILD 30 mph Computer Simulations of Intersection Collision

			· .			
ts é	1	•	1	1	а. Н. У	, t
Y-Yo Bel	1		3.4	ŀ	1	'
t	1			, i	1	1
Shoul a	•	1	6.1	. 1		ı
Belt	1	ľ	1	4	I	1
Lap	1		6.9	•	1	l
elts	7.9	5.8	11.1	ľ	2.1	16.0
Me Be	7.0	7.4	7.0	8.7	9.0	1
Door Region #	-	2	e	ŝ	m N	IJ
Body	 ,	~	e	4	2 C	9

29

82

1.1.

١

ţ



FIGURE 8. SUMMARY OF COMPUTER SIMULATION WITH VARIABLE



Ξ

TABLE 5. ACCIDENT INVESTIGATION OF SIDE IMPACTS

Ι.	Statistics:		
	 Total Number of Accidents Total Number of People Involved Total Number of People Injured Total Number of People Ejected from Vehicles Total Number of Fatalities 		23 33 31 1 9
11.	Total Injury Breakdown: (NOTE: Each injury, as with multiples, is counted.)		
	1. Head and Nock Injuries		
	a) Skull Fracture b) Concussions c) Intracranial Hematomas or Necrosis d) External Contusions or Lacerations e) Blindness or Deafness		9 4 9 16 1
	2. Thoractc and Abdominal Injuries		
	a) Fracture or Internal Injuries b) External Laceration or Contusions		8
	3. Extremities		
	a) Fractures b) Lacerations c) Contusions or Abrasions		2 3 11
111.	Fatality Breakdown: (NOTE: Each fatal injury, as with multiples, is counted.)		
	1. Head	8	
	a) Fracture or Head Opening b) Intracranial Hematoma or Contusions		5 7
	2. Trunk	1.1	
	a) Thoracic Internal Lacerations or Hematoma		4

The injury patterns generally observed compare well with the 3-D computer simulations. The model, for instance, predicted that an unbelted six-year old child would hit the side window just above the window-door interface. In the accident reports, a five-year old child impacted the window-door interface in a 15 mph side collision, and was knocked unconscious, but otherwise unhurt.

In an intersection-type side impact, the change in velocity in the lateral direction of the struck car tends to be small, approximately 6 mph for a 30 mph collision. Consequently, the occupant is involved in a secondary collision of 6-10 mph from which he can be protected if there is minimal intrusion.

2.2.5 Comparison with Accident Investigation

A comparison of the impact velocities of the occupant, as predicted by the model, with accident investigation reports is not directly possible. What has been compared is the locations of injuries and their severities. The location of impact on the door by the occupant was determined by careful examination of the vehicle. The type of injury was determined from the medical records. Tables 2 and 5 provide a convenient summary of these findings. The computer simulation predicts similar involvements of body parts and vehicle components. Of course a quantitative comparison cannot be made because precise numerical information is not generated by accident investigations. However, there are evident similarities between Table 6, the accident investigations, and Tables 2, 3 and 4, the computer simulations.

2.3 PHASE 2. OPTIMIZATION AND MODIFICATION

The accident investigations together with computer simulations indicated that most of the injuries were due to the second impact of the occupant with

	Location of Impact	Frequency	
1.	Window	Head	12
2.	Window-arm rest interface	Shoulder	8
3.	Arm rest and vicinity	Thorax & Abdomen	8
4.	Region below arm rest	Hip & Thigh	3
5.	Side panel, front of arm rest	Arm	7
		And the second se	

34

TABLE 6. LOCATION OF OCCUPANT IMPACT WITH DOOR

23 Accidents Involving 33 Occupants

ę.

 y^{-1}



the door. Modifications of the door structures were therefore explored in order to reduce intrusion and attenuate the impact forces. (Figure 9)

2.3.1 Vehicle Deceleration Profiles

Four deceleration profiles were used in this part of the study. They were obtained from Cornell Aeronautical Laboratory Report CAL No. 48-2684-V-6. They are:

1. Base line 3,

- 2. Mod 3,
- 3. Mod 3-A(2),
- 4. Ideal-response profile

Base line 3 was obtained from a crash of a 1966 ford into a pole on the passenger side at 20 mph. Wod 3 was the car deceleration profile recorded in a repeat of the Base line 3 test, except the passenger door was reinforced. Mod 3-A(2) was also a repeat of the base line, except the reinforcement was this time along the whole right side of the car. The Ideal-Response deceleration profile was determined from Cornell's experience. Researchers at Cornell argued that a uniform deceleration waveform achieve two desirable design goals; namely limitation of peak G's and minimization of displacement for a given G limit.

The three actual profiles are similar in overall shape but differ in the timings and magnitudes of their peaks as well as in their durations. The two extremes are the Base line 3 profile (BL-3) and the Mod 3-2(A) profile (M3-2A). (Figure 5) Table 7 shows the occupant body part velocity at the coordinates of the undeformed door assembly for the various deceleration pulses described above. The stiffer the side of the vehicle becomes the greater will be the occupants velocity during the second collision. However, injury is related

8

SECONDARY COLLISION VELOCITY (MPH) OCCUPANT WITH LAP BELT AND BENCH SEAT TABLE 7.

								And the second
	Arm Rest Side			1* 11.7 mph 2* 11.8 3* 16.3 4* 17.5				
IE DOOR	Door					1* 11.7 mph 2* 11.8 3* 16.4 4* 17.5	1* 11.55 mph 2* 12.30 3* 17.15 4* 19.35	1* 17.4 mph 2* 18.6 3* 25.1 4* 28.1
FED PORTION OF TH	Door Edge				1* 9.75 mph 2* 8.50 3* 11.8 4* 17.9			
IMPACI	Window	1* NC 2* NC 3* NC 4* NC			1* 9.75 mph 2* 10.5 3* 15.9 4* 17.9			
	Body Sections	Head	Upper Torso	Lower Torso	Shoulder	Upper Arm	Upper Leg	Lower Leg

1* Base 1ine 3 2* Mod 3 3* Mod 3A(2) 4* Ideal Response -

to the relative velocity and the intruding velocity of the door must be considered.

g

2.3.2 Door Stiffness and Padding

A proper design of automobile doors with reinforcing member is essential to minimize the intrusion into the passenger compartment in the event of a side impact. The reinforcing member can either be located close to the interior surface of the door (Case I) or close to the exterior surface of the door (Case II) or anywhere in between.

For the theoretical analyses we use the following two models representing Case I and Case II shown in Figures 9 and 10. The symbols designate the following qualities:

- M: Mass of the impacting vehicle
- V: Velocity of the impacting vehicle
- $\mathbf{k}_1, \mathbf{k}_1^*$. Spring constant of the exterior sheel metal of the door
- $\mathbf{k}_2, \mathbf{k}_2'$: Spring constant of the door without the reinforcing member
 - $k_1^{\rm u}, k_2^{\rm u}$: Spring constant of the reinforcing member
- k₃: Spring constant of the interior padding
- M₁: Mass of the door
- M_2 : Mass of the impacted vehicle
- M₃: Mass of the vehicle occupant
- f: Sideward resistance force of impacted vehicle

 x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4 ; Absolute displacements

Let us assume that vehicle occupant is impacted after x₂ attains a certain value, say, x₂=d, and corresponding time is t_d. The equations of motion for Case I for t<t_d are:

FIGURE 10. THEORETICAL

MODELLING of SIDE-IMPACT, CASE I









FIGURE 11. THEORETICAL

a

MODELLING of SIDE-IMPACT, CASE II

The ini-Equations (I) are first transformed to first order differential equations. (3) **(f**) (2) Ξ <u>م</u> and after time t_d a fourth equation is introduced to the above equations also the term $k_3(x_2\text{-}d\text{-}x_4)$ is added on the left side of Equation 2. $x_{th}(0) = 0$ $\dot{x}_{\mu}(0) = 0$ $M_1 \ddot{x}_2 - k_1 (x_1 - x_2) + (k_2^4 + k_2^u) (x_2 - x_3) = 0$ $\dot{\mathbf{x}}_3(0) = 0$ $x_1(0) = 0$ $x_2(0) = 0$ $x_3(0) = 0$ tial conditions for these equations are: $M_2 \ddot{X}_3 + (k_2^{+} + k_2^{"})(x_3 + x_2) = -f$ $\dot{x}_{2}(0) = 0$ $M_3\ddot{x}_{4} - k_3(x_2 - x_4 - d) = 0$ $Mx_1 + k_1 (x_1 - x_2) = 0$ $\dot{x}_1(0) = V$

then integrated on the computer according to the following steps: 1. Equations (1) - (3) are integrated starting with the initial conditions (5) until $x_1(t)$ becomes a particular value. This value corresponds to the distance between the exterior sheet metal and the reinforcing member. (In the numerical analysis this value of x_1 was chosen to be 26° , see Figure 12-(b)).

2. Integration of Equations (1) - (3) is continued with the values of x_2 , x_2 , x_3 and $\dot{x_3}$ obtained at the end of step 1 except the value of $\dot{x_1}^*$ is equated to the value of x_2 and the spring constant k_1 is raised to a very high value (such as 106 in/lb). This procedure accomplishes elastic behavior of the exterior sheet metal for a predetermined distance and after that metal to metal crushing type of behavior. In fact for the rest of the integration x_1 and x_2 values remain very close to each other. The integration process is

wThe value of \dot{x}_1 at step 1 is kept the same for the beginning of step 2.

Å

continued until x_2 attains a certain value, x_2 =d, at time t_d (d is the distance between occupant and door).

3. After time t_d , Equation (4) is also added to the integration process. The initial conditions for this step are the values obtained at the end of step 2 with the exception of course $x_4(0)=\hat{x}_4(0)=0$. The integration of the simultaneous differential equations is continued until x_2-x_3 and x_4 attain maximum values. Since x_2 and x_3 represent the motion of door mass and the vehicle motion respectively, x_2-x_3 represents, with a constant, the door collapse or door intrusion into the occupant compartment. More precise value of this collapse is $x_2-x_3-r_1$ for Case I. (Figure 12-b). The value of the occupant force is obtained from $F=k_3(x_2-x_4-d)$.

The equations of motion for Case II for t>t_d are:

~	~
9	5
	-
0	1
-	с е
×.	X-Z
ž	Š
	ہم بلا
+	+
5	x2)
ĩ	
č	
¥	ينجد ا
+	
Ň	MJX

 $M_2 \ddot{x}_3 + k_2 (x_3 - x_2) + k_1^{\mu} (x_3 - x_1) = -f$ (8)

and after time t_d , a fourth equation, Equation 4, is introduced to Equations (6) - (8) and the term $k_3(x_2-d-x_4)$ is added to the left side of Equation 7. The integration procedure followed for Case II is similar to that used for Case I. The basic difference between the two cases are:

]. In the first step the limiting value for x_1 is 3" instead of 6" as shown in Figure 12.

2. At the end of step 1 $k_1^m(x_1-x_3)$ term in Equation (6) is changed to $(x_1^{+}c-x_3)$ and $k_1^m(x_3-x_1)$ term in Equation (8) is changed to $k_1^m(x_3-x_1-c)$. The procedure followed at the second step of the previous case is repeated here and for the value of c 3 in. is used.

3. Proceedure at this step is identical to that of Case I except the door collapse and the occupant force are obtained from $x_2 - x_3 - 1_2$ (see Figure 12-c) for 1_2 and $F=k_3(x_2 - x_4 - d-c)$.

45

2.3.2.1 Results of Door Stiffness and Padding

The numerical values used in obtaining Figures (13-15) are as follows:

 $k_1 = 1000 \text{ lbs/ln.}$

 k_2 (or k_2^1) = 1000 lbs/in.

k₃ = 200 lbs/in.

 $M = M_2 = 3860 lbs.$

M1 = 50 lbs.

M₃ = 175 lbs.

f = 3040 lbs.

V = 528 in/sec.

The value of k_1° (or k_2°) is raised from 1000 lb/in. to 13000 lbs/in.

A theoretical model of a side impact with two configurations has been developed. Case I considers the reinforcing member close to the interior surface of the door, while Case II has the reinforcing member close to the exterior surface of the door (Figures 10 and 11). This model was specifically developed to show the effect of varying the location of reinforcement on the severity of impacts under similar conditions. A plot of the reinforcing member stiffness vs. maximum occupant force is given in Figure 13. This curve shows that the stiffer the reinforcing member, the lower the occupant forces with a leveling off at a constant force for the very rigid members. The curve also shows that a 28% reduction in maximum









serious injury for the four regions of the body listed above for the accidents vulnerable to major injuries in automobile side impacts. The percentages of The accident investigation data indicated the regions of the body most The results of the 3-D computer crash simulator exercises and the accident investigations from the previous section indicated critical regions of the body and the door. The frequency with which each body region impacted the door from the computer simulations are given below: PERCENTAGE OF SERIOUS INJURY PERCENTAGE OF IMPACTS 211 21% 20 45% 81% 63% 56% 50% investigated are given below: Lower Abdomen Upper Abdomen Upper Abdomen Lower Abdomen BODY REGION BODY REGION 3.1 INTRODUCTION Thorax Thorax Head Head door is used to slow the impacting car. In Case I the crush to the exterior member is stifferred, and as before, the door collapse distance can be cut by 35% at 8000 in/lb by implementing Case II. Case II starts slowing down the is with the reinforcing member closest to the exterior surface of the door. In Figure 14 the door collapse distance is reduced as the reinforcing occupant force at 8000 in/lb can be obtained by implementing Case II. that impacting car immediately upon contact, therefore the entire width of the of the reinforcing member is not put to efficient use in decelerating the impacting car.

-

\$

percentage of serious injuries. This ordering is listed below.

pact car crash was obtained by multiplying the frequency of the impact by the

An ordering of the body regions most likely to be injured in a side im-

NDAED OF THEORYANCE	SEVERATY INDEX	
First most likely	Head 2250	
Second most likely	Upper Abdomen 1700	
Third most likely	Thorax 700	
Fourth most likely	Lower Abdomen 0	
The above indicates tha	t the head is the most crit	ical region

followed

5

by the upper abdomen with the thorax third. A series of head and torso impacts were conducted up to the lethal level with infra-human primates whose anatomical and physiological relationship are

most like man. Through scaling techniques similar to the one developed by Hirsch and Ommaya (1967) extrapolation of the results to man was accomplished.

3.2 EXPERIMENTAL METHODS

Five primates were considered for these tests:

- 1. (Saimiri sciurius) squirrel monkey [sm]
- 2. (<u>Macaca fascicularis</u>) cynomolgus [cyn]
 - 3. (<u>Macaca mulatta</u>) rhesus monkey [rh]
 - 4. (Papio cynocephalus) baboon [ba]
 - 5. (Pan satyrus) chimpanzee [ch]

The baboons were not used in the head side impact portion of this project because of the marked differences in shape and dynamic response of the baboon head to those of the other primates used in the study. The baboon has a very large face in comparison to his cranium. (Figure 16) This leads to large differences between the response of baboons head and the other types of primate heads under impact conditions.

Mechanical impedance of the living heads for all primates used in the head impact portion of the project are given in Figure 17. All of the head

ß

FIGURE 16. SKULLS OF PRIMATES





oped by Stalnaker and McElhaney (1970, 1971).

The same five species were considered for the side torso impact portion of this project. Because of the small number of chimpanzees available to the project (4) it was decided to use the chimpanzees only in the head impact study and use baboons for the torso side impact study.

The test animals were housed in the Biomedical Laboratory's vivarium of Highway Safety Research Institute for a minimum of two days. During this time the animals were examined and their physical condition recorded. This pre-impact physical was then compared to the post-impact physical and used in evaluating the extent of injury. The animal to be tested was anesthetized with 30 mg/kg of ketalar [dl 2-(0-chlorophenyl)-2-(methylamino) cyclohexanone Hydrochloride)]. This drug is a rapid-acting general anesthetic producing an anesthetic state characterized by profound analgesia, normal pharyngeal-laryngeal reflexes and normal or slightly enhanced skeletal muscle tone. With this drug the post-impact state of consciousness can be determined. The good muscle tone provided by this drug made the test conditions more realistic and representative of the responses of the alert animal.

Pre-impact radiographic films were taken to ensure that no pre-existing anomaly would influence the experiment. The Radiographic Laboratory is located directly adjoining the Vivarium with the test impact facility, on one side, and the Operating Surgery and Autopsy Laboratories on the other. This facilitated movement of animals from the Vivarium preparation area. A hospital type Picker radiographic unit with a capacity of 300 MA and 140 RvP was utilized.

ន

After the animal was fully anesthetized, he was shaved and targeted for high speed photographic analysis. The animal was then taken to the impact room where EKG, respiratory rate and reflex state were recorded. A complete set of anthropometric measurements were then made of each test animal. The test animal was seated for the impact tests on a bench type seat and supported by surgical thread through the ears. This method of support makes the animal essentially a free body. It was found to provide reproducible results and eliminated the complicated boundary conditions of a seat or sling.

All impacts were carried out by a pneumatically operated testing machine especially constructed for impact studies. (Figure 18) The machine consists of an air reservoir, and a ground and honed cylinder with two carefully fitted pistons. One, the transfer piston, is propelled by compressed air through the cylinder and transfers its momentum to the impact piston. A striker plate, attached to the impact piston, travels a distance of about four inches, when an inversion tube absorbs the energy of the impact piston and halts its movement. The stroke of the impactor was controlled by its initial positioning and its velocity was controlled by the reservoir pressure. The impactor was instrumented with an accelerometer and an inertia compensated force transducer. (Figure 19) High speed motion pictures at 5000 fps were taken for photometric analysis.

3.2.1 Head Impacts Set Up

The head impacts were carried out using three flat rigid impactors. Each impacting surface was larger than the head to be impacted. (Figure 20) The test animal was placed with his head a predetermined distance from the impactor to prevent the impactor from contacting the lower part of the neck. (Figure 21)

54

-IGURE **ਲ** OVER-ALL Ś ET-UP ę PNEUMATIC IMPACTING FACILITY





FIGURE 20. FLAT RIGID IMPACTORS AND TRANSDUCERS



BLOCK DIAGRAM of HEAD IMPACT FACILITY

57


The

FIGURE 21. TEST SET-UP FOR HEAD SIDE IMPACT



for the left and right side views in Figures 22 and 23. All impacts made to Regions I and II use a 20-pound impactor with a

-1

scaled arm rest for a contacting surface. This contacting surface was made from a 9 lb/ft³ high density polyethylene foam to distribute the contact load. (Figure 24) The scaled arm rest was replaced by a scaled flat rigid plate for all impacts to Region III.

The animals were positioned to limit the depth of penetration to approximately 50% of body width, and a one-foot thick soft foam pad was arranged to prevent injury after impact. The same testing procedure was used for each test sequence. The animal was impacted on the right side, and the injury evaluated. If the injury was not serious, then the next animal was impacted at a higher velocity. The procedure was continued until a serious injury was obtained. The next sequence of impact would be for the left side in the same region as just completed.

The engineering parameters recorded for these tests were force-time history from an oscilloscope trace, and impact velocity, and depth of penetration from the high speed photography. The contact force and acceleration time history were recorded on an oscilloscope. The impactor velocity and depth of body penetration was determined from high speed motion picture analyses.

3.2.3 Biomedical Data Collection

The impacted animal was taken from the impact room to the X-ray for postdampact x-rays. These x-rays proved to be particularly useful in locating fractures, determining whether a shoulder was dislocated or whether a fracture was involved, and alerting the investigators to hairline fractures which

一人は行う物

FIGURE 24 . BLUNT

WEDGE HARD

IMPACTORS



FOAM

might have been overlooked in autopsy. However, some fractures, particularly in the smaller squirrel monkey, were not found to be evident upon radiological examination of post-impact x-rays. Previous clinical and experimental studies with both human patients and cadaver materials have shown that rib fractures and vertebral end-plate fractures often cannot be visualized as well. For this reason the skulls of the test animals were saved after autopsy and cleaned using an Antiformin technique for further reexamination. Several fractures were found which had been previously undetected either through careful dissection or x-ray.

Gross autopsy was conducted in the Autopsy Laboratory, specially equipped for dissection. Autopsies were conducted as a blind, according to accepted research procedure, with the investigator conducting the gross autopsy having no knowledge of physical data on the intensity, location of impact, or circumstances of each test. Careful anatomical dissection of the head, face and neck tissues, where head impacts occurred allowed discrete identification of many sites of vascular failure. When gross trauma was found it was photographically recorded using a specially modified Pentax camera with close-up lens, either <u>in situ</u> or as an isolated entity to provide a permanent record of the injury.

Tissues were saved from all major organs for further histopathologic examination. A typical copy of the autopsy report form used for each subject is included in Appendix A. Weights of major organs were obtained, including the heart, brain, lungs, liver, spleen, pancreas, adrenals, and kidneys. Each autopsy report includes gross and microscopic pathology, anthropometry, pre- and post-impact radiographs, color photographic documentation of dissections, injuries, and the animal test preparation. Isoenzyme determinations

information relative to the history, case, and any medication of the particular subject.

ment of Surgery for fascia graft experiments, and other 'discarded' materials without making an effort to more fully utilize the remains within the Medical 9 Michigan Museum, and hands and feet were used for a study of dermatoglyphics ment of Gynecology and Obstetrics for hormone studies, thighs by the Departmaterials which were of direct benefit to other medical research studies in were received by the Human Growth Center, Department of Anatomy, Department community. In this connection, some 12 departments received carcass progress. Some examples included the testis which were used by the Depart-Kresge Hearing Research Institute, Department of Anthropology, University by School of Public Health investigators. Thus, the animal subjects were post-autopsy of Opthamology, Department of Otorhinolarynogy, Department of Pathology, optimally utilized in respect to all animal utilization codes of ethics. It should be noted that no animal carcass was destroyed School

Tissue specimens were prepared in the HSRI Histology Laboratory for microscopic examination. Fixed in a solution of formalin, the specimens were dehydrated with alcohol, cleaned, infiltrated and finally imbedded in paraffin. The paraffin blocks were placed in the microtome and tissues were sectioned at a thickness of 5 microns, using an AO Sencer 820 microtome and mounted on a glass slide. Various stains were used, but in the case of brain tissue some slides for each subject were prepared with Gallocyamin stain for Nissl substance, since early dissolution of Nissl substance has been found to occur subsequent to nerve cell injury.

5

severity related to both gross and microscopic findings. With separate ratings tions. Interpretations and scoring was consistently within 1/2 scaling point University School of Medicine. As a further check on interpretation, selected made by two researchers experienced in infra-human primate injury investigaexperienced in infra-human brain pathology, Dr. Weatherbee, Chief of the U.S. edge of the other was intended as a check to decrease the chances of missing of critical tissue specimens to more than one pathologist without the knowlwell as interpretation is not unusual among pathologists, and the submission out of 5, giving considerable confidence to our final scaling design. The pathology consultant. A difference in brain histopathology observations as plished with an AO Spencer Series 10 microscope using 4X, 10X and 45X objectives with trinocular body, which permits the use of a Pentax H/a camera for Microscopic examination and study of the tissue preparations was accomthere might be a difference of opinion as to pathological interpretation. brain tissues were submitted for evaluation by two additional pathologists Veteran's Hospital Pathology Department at Ann Arbor, and Dr. G. T. Price. similar procedure was also followed in the final interpretation of injury any pertinent pathology, as well as alert us to any specific cases where following injury scale was used to rate the injury of all test animals. microphotography. Histopathology was evaluated by specialists from the

1. No injury - minor injury

2. Recoverable injuries (these may be severe, but non-dangerous

to life) 3. Marginal as to whether injury is irreversible (i.e., results in

permanent disability of function or structure)

4. Serious injury, mon-reversible, probably not survivable

Fatal traum

ŝ

3.2.4 Test Results

3.2.4.1 Results of Head Injuries

Two types of head injuries were seen in this study. The first was the open-brain injury. This is when the dura mater is penetrated by some type of intrusion. Because a large surface impactor was used in all tests, the only type of intrusion seen was from bone fragments that were pushed into the brain. Seven depressed fractures were encountered in the head study, all life-threatening. In each case the depressed fracture was easily diagnosed from x-rays and preliminary examination.

The second type of head injury seen was the closed brain injury. This type of injury occurs when the dura mater is intact but the brain is still damaged. One such closed brain injury is the contrecoup injury. Depressed of fractures are coup injuries, that is, the injury is at the site of impact or of fractures, whereas the contrecoup is remote from the point of impact. The contrecoup type of injury was always found directly opposite the impact point. The injury varied in size and shape, but generally appeared to be made up of many tiny pin-point hemorrhages. (Figure 25) Because of the localized nature of these injuries, a cavitation mechanism is suspected.

3.2.4.2 Results of Body Injuries

The injuries to the body were mainly of one type, direct damage to an organ. A typical type of injury is shown in Figure 26 which depicts a fractured liver. Another common injury was to the kidney shown in Figure 27.

This also was from direct pressure.



FIGURE 26. TYPICAL LIVER FRACTURES



83

69

FIGURE 25 TYPICAL CONTRECOUP INJURY





These injuries were to the body of the pancreas with a very small amount of Stner types of injury seen were tears in the liver and mesentery. One injury observed for primarily whole body impact were pancreatic injuries. hemorrhaging throughout the gland.

2

The results for all idealized impacts are given in Tables 8, 9 and 10.

3.3 PRIMATE SCALING

3.3.1 Head Injury Scaling

values of these parameters used in the scaling relationships were taken from tests where the animal received an injury considered to be just below life-The head contact force, duration of impact, head angular acceleration, linear acceleration and velocity were obtained for each side impact. The threatening. That is, approximately 3 on the injury scale.

The head mass, brain mass, average skull radius and average skull thickness for each test animal in a particular species group are reported as an average value for that species.

material properties of these tissues for primates. On the basis of this work, it was assumed that the material properties of scalp, brain, and bone was the same for all animals tested and that the results could be extrapolated to man. scalp and brain indicated that there was very little difference if any in the Previous work by McElhaney (1970) on the mechanical properties of bone.

duce a desired injury level, the extrapolation to man was made by scaling re-Given the average values for the species physical properties along with the force time profile and the resulting mechanical responses needed to prolationships developed by dimensional analysis techniques.

Run No.	Animal Species	Area & Type of Impact	Total Body Weight (lbs.)	Head Weight (lbs.)	a (Average Skull Radius, in.)	<pre>h (Average Skull Thickness, in.)</pre>	τ Impact Duration (ms)	Peak Contact Force (1bs.)	Max. Head Accel. (Vector Sum, g's)	Max. Head Vel. (Vector Sum, mph)	Max. Head Angular Accel. (rad/sec ²)	Max Head Angular Vel. (rad/sec)	Impulse (lb-sec)	Termination (Days After Impact)	Loss of Consciousness (min)	Injury Index	Skull Fractures
70-15	Sm	r. side head; no pad	1.41	0.181	. 83	. 039	2.1	290	1320	28,0	190,000	300	0.31	1	1	3	cracked
70-9	SM	r. side head; no pad	1.32	0.168	.77	. 044	1.7	550	2620	59.0	415,000	423	0.59	5	1-2	3	cracked
70-11	SM	r. side head; no pad	1.32	0.168	. 77	. 042	1.2	500	2320	37.0	275,000	229	0.41	Same Day	20	3	cracked
70-12	sm	r. side head; no pad	1.76	0.224	. 82	. 041	1.3	375	2340	36.5	300,000	395	0.25]	none	3	cracked
70-13*	SM	r. side head; no pad	1.32	0.168	. 83	.041	1.6	400	1360	30.0	240,000	319	0.44	7	1-2	3	cracked
71-84	sm	1. side head; no pad	1.32	0.169	. 87	. 046	1.8	180	1300	34.0	150,000	150	0.21	3	2	3	cracked
70-8*	SM	r. side head; no pad	1.87	0.238	LOD	LOD	1.5	550	2380	4 4.3	185,000	230	0.63	5	2-3	4	cracked
*contrec	oup	LOD-Loss	of Data			 	ABLE 8	S	IDF H	FAD I	1PACT DAT/						

Run No.	Animal Species	Area & Type of Impact	Total Body Weight (1bs.)	Head Weight (1bs.)	a (Average Skull Radius, in.)	h (Average Skull Thickness, in.)	<pre>1 Impact Duration (ms)</pre>	Peak Contact Force (1bs.)	Max. Head Accel. (Vector Sum, g's)	Max: Head Vel. (Vector Sum, mph)	Max. Head Angular Accel. (rad/sec ²)	Max. Head Angular Vel. (rad/sec)	Impulse (lb-sec)	Termination (Days After Impact)	Loss of Consciousness (min)	Injury Index	Skull Fractures
71-81	SM	1. side nead; no pad	1.37	0.175	.82	. 032	1.6	176	1706	37.0	150,000	200	0.18	2	none	2	none
71-83	SM	1. side head; no pad	1.10	0.141	.87	. 050	2.1	180	630	24.0	120,000	220	0.19	3	0.5	1	none
70-3	sm	r. side head; no pad	1.71	0.217	LOD	LOD	1.5	320	1350	26.0	247,000	202	0.19	9	none	2	none
70-5	Sm	r. side head; no pad	1.98	0.247	LOD	LOD	2.1	534	1530	45.0	124,000	135	0.78	Same Day	none	2	none
70-16	SM	r. side head; no pad	1.16	0.164	.87	. 050	2.2	210	1130	25.6	345,000	285	0.21	5	1	2	cracked
70-14	SM	r. side head; no pad	1.76	0.175	.82	.041	1.6	375	2140	34.5	225,000	255	0.36	6	4-5	2	cracked
71-82	SM	 side head; no pad 	1.49	0.191	. 88	.040	2.4	152	690	29.0	60,000	150	0.20	2	none	2	cracked

- 1

 \sim LOD=Loss of Data

TABLE 8. SIDE HEAD IMPACT DATA

Run No.	Animal Spec ies	Area & Type of Impact	Total Body Weight (lbs.)	Head Weight (1bs.)	a (Average Skull Radius, in.)	h (Average Skull Thickness, in.)	<pre>1 Impact Duration (ms)</pre>	Peak Contact Force (1bs.)	Max. Head Accel. (Vector Sum, g's)	Max. Head Vel. (Vector Sum, mph)	Max. Head Angular Accel. (rad/sec ²)	Max. Head Angular Vel. (rad/sec)	Impulse (1b-sec)	Termination (Days After Impact)	Loss of Consciousness (min)	Injury Index	Skull Fractures
70-57	cyn	1. side head; no pad	5.73	6.950	1.17	.070	3.6	650	843	33.0	100,000	205	0.83	3	60	3	none
71-78	cyn	1. side head; no pad	4.98	0.478	1.13	. 081	2.0	725	1180	45.0	206,000	352	0.67	Same Day	None	3	none
71-76	cyn	1. side of head no pad	7.58	0.720	LOD	LOD	2.0	775	780	45.0	177,000	175	0.85	Same Day	8	3	none
70-17	rh	r. side head; no pad	9.24	0.993	LOD	LOD	2.4	1075	800	28.5	75,737	155	1.64	3	4-5	1	none
70-28	rh	1. side head; no pad	25.50	2.370	1.54	.085	3.0	2350	1000	36.3	145,000	160	3.35	7	0-1	2	none
71-88	rh	1. side head angled no pad	14.70	1.370	1.58	.125	2.2	1700	1200	44.0	125,000	155	1.80	Same Day	None	2	none

LOD=Loss of Data

75

TABLE 8. SIDE HEAD IMPACT DATA (Continued)

Peak Contact Force (lbs.) a (Average Skull Radius, in.) τ Impact Duration (ms) Max. Head Accel. (Vector Sum, g's) Max. Head Angular Vel. (rad/sec) Termination (Days After Impact) Max. Head Vel. (Vector Sum. mph) Max. Head Angular Accel. (rad/sec²) h (Average Skull Thickness, in.) [mpulse (lb-sec) Loss of Consciousness (min) Index Total Body Weight (lbs.) Injury Head Weight (lbs.) Area & Type of Impact Run No. Anima] Skull Fractures Species r. side head; 153,588 278 Never Regained LOD 1460 42.5 1.76 0.224 LOD LOD LOD Same Day 70-7 sm LOD 5 depressed no pad r. side head; no pad 1.32 0.168 LOD LOD 1.5 320 1220 37.8 70-10 254,000 288 0.48 1 5 sm 5 depressed l. side head; no pad 70-55 cyn juvenil 5.40 0.657 1.21 .053 2.0 950 760 35.5 130,000 268 0,99 3 2 T. none 1. side head; no pad 70-56 5.30 0.641 1.15 .064 2.3 960 27.8 cyn 500 99,000 250 0.67 3 1 1 none 1. side head; no pad 71-85 7.05 800 1450 45.0 0.846 1.60 .075 2.8 cyn 80,000 295 1.16 Same None 3 cracked Day l. side head no pad 70-58* 6.05 0.731 1.18 .065 1.7 800 1220 35.0 95,000 184 cyn 0.99 3 None 3 none l. side head angled no pad Same Day 71-86 7.15 0.860 1.34 .074 3.6 625 900 45.0 110,000 160 0.78 5 3 cyn depressed SIDE HEAD IMPACT DATA (Continued) TABLE 8.

*contrecoup LOD=Loss of Data

Run No.	Animal Species	Area & Type of Impact	Total Body Weight (lbs.)	Head Weight (lbs.)	a (Average Skull Radius, in.)	<pre>h (Average Skull Thickness, in.)</pre>	<pre> T mpact Duration (ms) </pre>	Peak Contact Force (lbs)	Max. Head Accel. Wector Sum, g's)	Max. Head Vel. (Vector Sum, mph)	Max. Head Argular Accel. (rad/sec ²)	Max. Head Angular Vel. (rad/sec)	Impulse (lb-sec)	Termination (Days After Impact)	Loss of Consciousness (min)	Injury Index	Skull Fractures
71-89*	rh	l. side head angled; no pad	9.50	0.880	1.39	. 110	3.5	LOD	730	43.5	1,598,000	240	Not Deter- mined	3	None	3	depressed (eggshell inside)
70-23	rh	l. side head; no pad	20.20	1.960	1.48	. 127	3.2	2800	1190	50.0	160,000	209	3.05	3	5	4	none
70-24	rh	l. side head; no pad	20.60	1.820	1.50	.124	3.0	2500	1150	42.0	8 0,000	201	3.26	Same Day	Never Regained	5	depressed
70-27	rh	l. side head; no pad	23.50	2.180	1.52	.122	3.6	2200	890	26.5	145,000	171	3.83	Same Day	Never Regained	5	cracked
71-75	ch	1. side head angled; no pad	62.00	5 . 930	2.11	. 175	4.6	4400	406	46.0	65,700	138	13.20	2	None	2	none
71-80	ch	l. side head; no pad	65.00	6.210	2.08	. 185	4.9	4600	550	40.0	1,310,000	185	11.10	2	1	3	none

*contrecoup LOD = Loss of Data

TABLE 8. SIDE HEAD IMPACT DATA (Continued)

Max. Head Accel. (Vector Sum, g's) Max. Head Vel. (Vector Sum, mph) Peak Contact Force (lbs.) τ Impact Duration (ms) Max. Head Angular Accel. (rad/sec²) Max. Head Angular Vel. (rad/sec) Termination (Days After Impact) a (Average Skull Radius, in.) h (Average Skull Thickness, in.) Impulse (lb-sec) Loss of Consciousness (min) Injury Index Total Body Weight (1bs.) Head Weight (1bs.) Area & Type of Impact Animal Species Run No. Skull Fractures 70-25 l. side head; no pad rh 23.30 2.190 1.53 .083 2.8 1800 580 30.0 60,000 195 2.70 6 None 2 none 1. side head; 70-29 rh 11.90 1.060 1.39 .076 2.0 940 36.4 1600 110,000 218 1.46 7 None 2 none no pad 70-26 1. side head; no pad rh 23.80 2.200 1.54 95,000 220 .128 3.0 2000 641 31.0 3.00 4 2 2 cracked l. side head; no pad 71-90 rh 15.30 1.420 1.56 .112 2.1 1450 1290 42.5 480,000 130 1.71 3 3 None none 70-22 l. side head; no pad rh 21.60 2.100 1.50 .135 3.5 2050 940 38.0 75,000 3.25 4-5 179 6 3 none l. side head; no pad 71-87 * 12.80 1.180 1.38 .170 2.8 rh 1470 1600 54.0 80,000 140 1.60 Same None 3 cracked Day

*contrecoup

SIDE HEAD IMPACT DATA (Continued) TABLE 8.

Run No.	Animal Species	Area & Type of Impact	τ Impact Duration (ms)	Peak Contact Force (lbs.)	Max. Head Accel. (Vector Sum, g's)	Termination (Days After Impact)	Loss of Consciousness (min)	Scaling Index No.
71-109	rh	1. side head 1.5" padding	6.2	1250	770	3	10	2
71-114	cyn	1. side head 1.5" padding	5.0	750	1135	3	None	1
71-116	cyn	1. side head 1.5" padding	4.0	500	756	2	2	2
70-19	Sm	r. side head 2" padding	5.3	150	743	1	None	1 1 1
70-20	SM	r. side head 2" padding	6.4	160	890	1	None	

TABLE 9. PADDED IMPACTOR HEAD DATA

Run No.	Animal Species	Area & Type of Impact	Total Body Weight (lbs.)	Head Weight (1bs.)	a (Average Skull Radius, in.)	h (Average Skull Thickness, in.)	τ Impact Duration (ms)	Peak Contact Force (1bs)	Max. Head Accel. (Vector Sum, g's)	Max. Head Vel. (Vector Sum, mph)	Max. Head Angular Accel. (rad/sec ²)	Max. Head Angular Vel. (rad/sec)	Inpulse (1b-sec)	Termination (Days After Impact)	Loss of Consciousness (min)	Injury Index	Skull Fractures
70-74	ch	l. side head angled; no pad	47.10	4.500	2.05	. 190	3.0	4800	675	38,0	24,700	174	6.86	Same Day	2	5	depressed
70-30	cadaver human	1. side head; no pad	~250.00	~10.000	LOD	LOD	LOD	LOD	390	10.0	40,000	35	LOD	-	-	2	depressed

LOD = Loss of Data

TABLE 8. SIDE HEAD IMPACT DATA (Continued)

1

78

	Run No.	Animal: Species	Area and Type of Impact	Total Body Weight	Velocity (ft/sec)	Peak Contact Force, 1b	Average Contact Pressure psi	Impact Duration msec	Impulse lb-sec	Termination (Days After Impact)	Injury	Injury Index
	70-36	rh	Left Region II	8.40	55.0	180	20.0	9.8	1.08	Same Day	Subpleural hemorrhage in left lung; marked dilatation of right side of heart; single laceration of liver anterior to coronary ligament.	3
8	70-37	rh	Left Region I	9.00	45.0	280	31.2	8.0	1.30	Same Day	Minor hemorrhage on left lung.	
	70-38	SM	Right Region I	1.32	32.0	80	8.9	8.0	0.55	Same Day	Moderate hematoma right kidney and right adrenal.	
	70-39	SM	Left Region I	1.30	32.6	60	6.7	5.2	0.32	Same Day	Several petechiae on lungs.	
	70-40	SM	Right Region I	1.16	35.6	140	15.5	5.8	0.40	Same Day	Several small petechiae on lungs; focal epicardial hemorrhage.	2
	70-41	sm	Left Region III	1.14	32.8	LÖD	LOD	LOD	LOD	3	Focal subcapsular hemorrhages of liver; focal atelectosis of lungs.	2
	70-42	sm	Right Region III	1.28	33.5	LOD	LOD	LOD	LOD	3	Small hemorrhage right lower lobe of lung. Pancreas: Focal hemorrhage.	Т
	70-43	SM	Left Region III	1.26	32.0	397	9.9	6.6	1.32	5	Multiple petechiae on both lungs; retroperitoneal hematoma; small omental hematoma.	2

LOD = Loss of Data

TABLE 10. SIDE BODY IMPACT DATA (Continued)

	Run No.	Animal: Species	Area and Type of Impact	Total Body Weight	Velocity (ft/sec)	Peak Contact Force, 1b	Average Contact Pressure ps1	Impact Duration	Impulse lb-sec	· Termination (Days After Impact	Injury	Injury Index
	70-31	rh	Right Region II	13.40	36.5	280	31.0	7.8	1.40	Same Day	Cause of death: exsanguination of 150 cc's blood into peritoneal cav- ity,also noted multiple liver lacer- ations.	5
8	70-32	rh	Left Region II	8.90	43.9	260	28.9	9.2	1.60	Same Day	Lacerations and fractures of left lateral lobe of liver, small lacer- ations and fractures of right later- al lobe of liver; 20 cc hemoperito- neum. Cause of death (possible) - blood loss associated with liver damage.	5
	70-33	rh	Right Region II	11.30	34.8	260	28.9	10.6	1.60	Same Day	Ruptured left lower lobe of liver. hemorrhage in right lung; right adrenal hemorrhage.	4
	70-34	rh _	Right Region II	9.30	27.8	7	8.4	2.6	1.50	Same Day	Hemorrhage on diaphragmatic surface of both lungs: left lower lung lobe atelectatic; petechiae on lesser curvature of stomach.	
	70-35	rh	Left Region I	8.80	41.7	360	40.0	9.8	2.10	Same Day	Focal hemorrhages on lower lobes of both lungs (non-prominent on left side).	2

TABLE 10. SIDE BODY IMPACT DATA

										And a second state of the	_
Run No.	Antimal: Species	Area and Type of Impact	Total Body Weight	Velocity (ft/sec)	Peak Contact Force, 1b	Average Contact Pressure psi	Impact Duration	Impulse lb-sec	Termination (Days After Impact)	Injury	Injury Index
70-50	rh	Left Region	11.30	46.0	2350	26.1	8.8	LOD	Same Day	Marked congestion of left lung; scattered petechiae in right lung; severe autolysis noted in pancreas.	4
70-51	ba	Left Region II	32.60	56.0	1220	30.4	3.1	1.62	Same Day	Multiple petechiae in all lobe of lung. 50 cc hemoperitoneum; large laceration of liver; hemorrhage in right kidney, right adrenal, and pancreas.	5
70-59	ba	Right Region	31.00	38.2	505	12.6	10.0	4.25	Same Day	Contusion of left lower lobe, pete- chiae in right lung; small subcap- sular hemorrhage.	2
70-60	ba	Left Region II	25.70	45.5	755	18.8	12.0	15.90	Same Day	Small hemorrhage in right and left lower lobes; contusion of left lung at 8th rib; extensive hemorrhage in several areas. Adrenals, spleen: evidence of hemorrhage.	3
70-61	cyn	Left Region III	6.06	48.6	1450	363.0	12.0	8.60	Same Day	Fracture left clavicle; multiple small hemorrhages in all lobes of lungs; two subcapsular hemorrhages in right lobe liver: brain congested.	3
70-62	cyn	Left Region	7.49	42.0	915	23.0	5.8	3.25		Several small petechial hemorrhages in both lungs.	
70-63	cyn	Right Region III	4.96	47.8	1240	31.0	7.0	4.44		Few small petechiae in right lung.	2

LOD = Loss of Data

Data

TABLE 10. SIDE BODY IMPACT DATA (Continued)

Run No.	Animal: Species	Area and Type of Impact	Total Body Weight	Velocity (ft/sec)	Peak Contact Force, 15	Average Contact Pressure ps1	Impact Duration msec	Impulse lb-sec	Termination (Days After Impact)	Injury	njury Index
/0-44	f Sm	Right Region 111	1.28	39.0	LOD	LOD	LOD	LOD	Same Day	Petechial hemorrhage in right lung.	2
3 70-4	o sm	Left Region III	1.84	42.6	456	5.7	9.0	3.12	Same Day	Petechial hemorrhage in left lung.	1
70-46	b rh	Right Region III	12.90	39.5	1820	20.6	13.8	LOD	Same Day	Focal hemorrhage in right lower lobe of lung.	2
70-47	rh	Left Region III	7.46	36.1	1700	18.9	8.4	6.60	Same Day	Acute passive congestion of left lung; pancreas: hemorrhage into	1
70-48	rh	Left Region III	10.90	38.7	2360	25.8	11.2	7.90	Same Day	Liver: laceration of capsula and parenchyma, hematoma noted in liver substance; Pancreas: focal hemor- rhage; Lungs, kidney, spleen: Acute passive concertient	2
70-49	rh	Right Region III	9.25	44.9	2680	28.6	10.0	12.20	Same Day	Focal hemorrhage in both lungs, liver, and pancreas; severe auto- lysis noted in pancreas; acute pas- sive concestion of adrenals	4

LOD = Loss of Data

n W

> TABLE 10. SIDE BODY IMPACT DATA (Continued)

	Run No.	Animal: Species	Area and Type of Impact	Total Body Weight	Velocity (ft/sec)	Peak Contact Force,1b	Average Contact Pressure psi	Impact Duration msec	Impulse 1b-sec	Termination (Days After Impact)	Injury	Injury Index
85	70-71	ba	Right Region I	31.00	53.0	1020	25.5	3.6	2.60	Same Day	Edema in right and left lungs; dif- fuse hemorrhage at base of both lungs; 5 cc blood in right side of abdomen; small subcapsular hemor- rhage in liver.	2
	70-72	ba	Left Region II	42.70	51.8	890	22.0	8.0	2.30	Same Day	Hemorrhage in 7th - 11th intercostal spaces; large contusion left lung; massive hemoperitoneum; contusions and hemorrhages in both kidneys, pan- creas, and liver; several lacerations in liver.	4
	70- 73	ba	Right Region II	47.50	47.0	1140	28.5	8.0	4.10	Same Day	Hemorrhage in left lung; massive hemoperitoneum; fracture inferior right lobe of liver; hemorrhage noted in liver, pancreas, left adrenal, and both kidneys.	5

TABLE 10. SIDE BODY IMPACT DATA (Continued)

Run No.	Animal: Species	Area and Type of Impact	Total Body Wejght	Velocity (ft/sec)	Peak Contact Force, 1b	Average Contact Pressure ps 1	Impact Duration	Impulse lb-sec	Termination (Days After Impact)	Injury	Injury Index
70-64	cyn	Left Region III	6.06	45.8	1464	36.6	9.4	6.34	1	Patchy atelectasis of right and left lungs; right lobe liver shows acute subcapsular hematoma.	2
70-65	cyn	Left Region 111	5.82	52.3	1520	38.0	6.4	4.87	Same Day	Massive hemorrhage into peritoneum; multiple liver lacerations.	4
70-66	cyn	Right Region 111	5.30	53.0	1380	34.5	11.0	6.75	Same Day	Multiple liver lacerations; hemoper- itoneum (life-threatening),	4
70-67	ba	Right Region II	32.00	44.5	816	20.4	7.8	4.47	Same Day	Hemorrhage in left lung; hemoperi- toneum; rupture and contusions of right side of liver, right adrenal.	4
70-68	ba	Right Region II	34.80	41.2	756	18.9	12.6	4.05	Same Day	Several petechiae in right lung; severe contusion of right kidney and adrenal.	3
70-69	ba	Left Region II	33.50	47.5	750	18.7	11.6	7.10	Same Day	Several petechiae in left lung; con- tusions of left adrenal, spleen and descending colon; rupture of splenic artery: contusion left lobe liver.	3
7 0-70	ba	Left Region I	30.80	56.0	1020	25.5	8.4	7.30	Same Day	10 cc blood in left thorax; focal hemorrhage of left lung; heart hemor- rhage; liver lacerated.	3
and the second s											

d

TABLE 10. SIDE BODY IMPACT DATA (Continued)

The extrapolated tolerable acceleration and pulse duration for man were impact tolerance for closed head injuries over a pulse duration ranging from (Scalmaker and McElhaney, 1970). The resulting MSC curve is the human side then used as input parameters to the Maximum Strain Criteria (MSC) curve 0.6 milliseconds to 100 milliseconds.

Let us assume that π , a dimensionless quantity, is a function of these Then, from Buckingham's Theorem of Dimensional Analysis. Eq. (1) (Langhear, Ξ (4) (2) (2) (E) where $\pi_{2},\ \pi_{2},\ \pi_{3},\ \pi_{4}$ are dimensionless quantities of the form Let us consider the variables A, τ , F, V, a, h, m where: V = change in head linear velocity (ft/sec) A = linear head acceleration (ft/sec²) $\tau = acceleration pulse duration (msec)$ h = average skull thickness (in.) a = average skull radius (in.) π = f(V, A, τ, F, V, a, h, m) F = head contacted force (1b) (951) can be written as follows: 3.3.1.1 Dimensional Analysis m = head mass (slugs) **π = f(π1, π2, π3, πμ)** $\pi_3 = \frac{A}{\sqrt{2}/h}$ $\pi_2 = \frac{\sqrt{\tau}}{h}$ נס|ב דיי דיי variables.

The dimensionless variable $\frac{a}{h}$ was weighted by multiplying it by the brain mass of each species tested. This species dependent term $\pi_{1}^{\star} \,$ was then plotted against each of the remaining dimensionless variables.

The scaling parameter π_1^\star was plotted against the dimensionless variable π_2 for each species represented. (Figure 28) From this plot the value of π_2 was found for man by extrapolation. This yields a tolerable impact velocity of 15 mph for the human head when impacted at the side by a large flat rigid striker.

was found for man. Knowing h and V from Figure 28, the tolerable peak accel-800 pounds for an impact force resulting in a survivable closed brain injury. eration for the side of the head under these impact conditions was found to be 56 G's. The final plot of π_1^\star against π_4 gives a peak contact force of variable π_{S} for each species. (Figure 29) From this plot the value of π_{S} The scaling parameter π_1^* was then plotted against the dimensionless (Figure 30)

The scaling parameters used in the extrapolation to man and the resulting human parameters derived from the scaling are given in Table 11.

If the dynamic response of the head is known for a wide range of frecurve can be generated for variable pulse durations and shape, given only quencies and if injury can be related to this response, then a tolerance one point on the tolerance curve, provided the injury mechanism does not change over that range

(9)

۲. ۲.

88



FOR HUMAN SIDE HEAD IMPACT

FIGURE 29 ACCELERATION SCALING PARAMET FOR HUMAN SIDE HEAD IMPACT



T 4 ₽ ₩	0.83	1.15	1.10	0.83	0.98	
^{#3} A V ² /h	.096	. 088	. 093	.086	.092	
u ⁴ 5	21.2	20.8	17.5	15.5	6.8	
ב מעב ב	1.21	2.03	3.06	9.54	32.5	
Peak Vector Sum Head Velocity V in/sec	608	616	670	680	256	1
ی Peak Vector Sum م Head Accel. A	1260	1220	940	550	56	
Acceleration Pulse Duration T msec.	1.5	2.4	3.0	4.2	7.5†	
I əsluqmi s	.36	.98	3.25	11.10	6.00	
- Thickness h - Average Skull	.043	1.20.	.115	.184	.283	
thgigw begh gergva 	.189	.716	2.120	5.260	10.0	
≓Average Brain BW Jnbi∋W	.0644	.132	.232	. 835	3.00	
absnevA ∏ spsnevA	18.8	15.4	13.2	11.4	10.8	
Species	Squirrel	Cynomo] gus	Rhesus (20 1b)	Chimpanzee	Human (Extrapolated)	

TABLE 11. SCALING PARAMETERS

3.3.1.2 "Maximum Strain Criterion for Primates

The mechanical driving point impedance of a human cadaver and all test species heads was determined over a frequency range of 30-5000 hertz utilizing the following experimental design.

The monkey was anesthetized and a 10 millimeter (mm) circular hole was cored 0.25 inch above the ear canal on the side which was attached to an electromagnetic shaker. The loading fixture was then fastened to the skull at this site. On the opposite side of the skull a similar hole was made and a miniature accelerometer attached.

Pliscussed in the next section.

16

to 5000 Hz cycle range, while an automatic on-line analogue impedance computer uous plot of impedance produced. Mechanical impedance versus frequency on an hammock, and a respirator was connected to the trachea to provide respiration acceleration recorded. A sweep oscillator drove the shaker system over a 30 when needed. A serve controller was then set to apply a sinusoidal constant be performed in less than one minute (depending on sweep rate) and a contin-The monkey's skull via the load cell was rigidly attached to the platen phase and impedance versus frequency plot. With this system, the test could x, y_1 , y_2 recorder was recorded for the various living anesthetized primates was used to convert the force-time and acceleration-time information into a amplitude acceleration of either 10 or 20 G's to the head. In addition, an of a 200-pound electromagnetic shaker. The body was supported in a sling accelerometer was placed on the free side of the head and the transmitted used in this study.

ment. Constant accelerations of 1, 5, and 10 G's were applied over the fremale cadaver, who had been dead approximately 30 hours prior to the experi-The same experiment was performed on an unembalmed 71-year old human quency range 30-5000 Hz. The two-degree-of-freedom system shown in Figure 31A had been previously developed by Stalnaker, McElhaney and Fogle (1971) to closely approximate the impedance characteristics of the head of various primates as measured in these experiments.

If the system is represented schematically as in Figure 31B, the system elements are combined in parallel and series. Using the rule of parallel systems the impedance at point 4 is

 $z_4 = z_3 + z_2$

8

FIGURE 31.

2-DEGREE-OF-FREEDOM SYSTEM







92

Using the rule of series system the impedance \boldsymbol{z}_2 at point 2 is

(6)

$$\frac{1}{z_{2}} = \frac{1}{z_{1}} + \frac{1}{z_{k}^{+} z_{c}}$$

0 now
$$z_{4} = z_{3} + \frac{1}{z_{1}^{+}} + \frac{1}{z_{k}^{+} z_{c}}$$
(10)
$$z_{4} = t_{a}m_{1} + \frac{1}{z_{m}m_{2}^{-}} + \frac{1}{w_{1}^{+} + c}$$
(11)

$$z_{4} = i\omega(m_{1} + m_{2}) \begin{bmatrix} 1 - \frac{\omega^{2}m_{1}m_{2}}{k(m_{1} + m_{2})} + \frac{i\omega c}{k} \\ 1 - \frac{\omega^{2}m_{2}}{k} + \frac{i\omega c}{k} \end{bmatrix}$$
(

5

12)

This model has one antiresonance and one resonance. At low frequencies, of damping. The spring can be approximated for this model by stiffness line going through the inflexion point of the portion of the mechanical impedance height of the peak and the depth of the valley are controlled by the amount the system impedance approximates the total mass of the system; a high frephase angle shifts from +90° through 0° at the antiresonance frequency to quencies it approximates the impedance of the drive mass element \mathfrak{m}_j . The The -90°, and from -90° through 0° at resonance frequency back to +90°. curve between the antiresonance and resonance.

A plot of the mechanical impedance of living subhuman primates and an embalmed cadaver head impedance are shown in Figure 17. The values of the model constants are given in Table 12.

\$

			·				
Species	3	× °	J	¥	Antiresonance	Resonance	
	- 13	<u>ם</u> ו	1b-sec in		Hz	Ηz	
Squirrel	0.05	0.20	0.25	4,000	443	687	
Cynomol gous	0.04	0.681	0.94	11,000	430	1500	
Rhesus (20 1b)	0.07	1.96	1.70	40,000	530	1700	
Chimpanzee	0.08	4.75	2.40	35,000	265	2070	
Man	0.40	9.00	2.40	26,000	167	812	

TABLE 12. MSC MODEL PARAMETER FOR PRIMATES

the skull stiffness. The damping is due mostly to the skin, muscle and brain. of a monkey is almost entirely under the brain. The attachment to the shaker the frontal in the case are connected by sutures which provide isolation from one section to another. the skull. The spring element in the model corresponds for the most part to In interpreting the model constants, the following considerations apply. was made through one of the parietal sections. These sections of the skull This implies that m_1 in the model is approximately the parietal section of bone, left and right parietal bone, and the occipital bone, which The calvarius is divided into approximately four major sections: (Figure 32)

3.3.1.3 Results of Head Injury Scaling

With this linear two-degree-of-freedom model as a mathematical analogy the head, many dynamic inputs to the head can be studied. The model of

ŝ



response can be expressed in terms of the following linear differential equations. (Figure 33)

 $m_1\ddot{x}_1 = c(\dot{x}_2 - \dot{x}_1) + k(x_2 - x_1)$ (13)

$$m_2 \ddot{x}_2 = -c(\dot{x}_2 - \dot{x}_1) - k(x_2 - x_1)$$
(14)

where

 $X = x_2 - x_1$ (15)

and

 $x_2 = X + x_1$ (16)

thus

$$m_2 X + c \dot{X} + k X = -m_2 \ddot{x}_1$$
 (17)

Letting

 $\ddot{x}_1 = a(t)$ any input acceleration

then

$$\ddot{x} + \frac{c}{m_2}\dot{x} + \frac{k}{m_2}x = -a(t)$$
 (18)

Substituting equation (15) into equations (13) and (14) and then substituting equation (14) from equation (13) we finally arrive at

$$\ddot{x} + (1 + \frac{m_2}{m_1}) \frac{c}{m_2} \dot{x} + (1 + \frac{m_2}{m_1}) \frac{k}{m_2} x = 0$$
 (19)

The required equations of motion of the model are therefore equation (18) for a forced vibration input and equation (19) for a free vibration. With these two equations and the model constants developed above, the dynamic response of the head model can be studied for a variety of input impulses. The resulting curve is the Maximum Strain Criterion (MSC) for head tolerances in respect to side impacts.



REFERENCE SYSTEM for NEAD MODEL

FIGURE 33.

The tolerable acceleration and pulse duration for each species studied were used as the input parameters to the MSC. The extrapolated tolerable acceleration and pulse duration for man were also used as an input parameter to the MSC. The resulting MSC curves (Figure 34) based on this extrapolated point are given for an average acceleration based on a triangular pulse shape with a $1/3 \, \tau$ rise time. This was the most representative pulse shape for head impact with a flat rigid striker. (See Appendix A)

20

All the head injury data for each species is plotted on the MSC curve for that species. The ordinate is the average accelerations based on the triangular pulse shape discussed above. (Figures 35 through 38)

It should be noted that the contact time for a head impacted by a large flat rigid striker is given by the minimum point of the MSC curve. For the human this contact time was 7.5 msec.

3.3.2 Body Injury Studies

In this series, the injuries were produced in the upper torso area by a blunt wedge shaped impactor resembling an arm rest. [Regions I and II of Figures 22 and 23] The previously discussed computer studies and accident investigations indicated that Region II was the part of the upper torso most likely to be injured in a side impact. The thorax was less frequently involved and the lower abdomen almost never. Additional experiments were performed with a large flat impactor that contacted the animal over the complete torso.

3.3.2.1 Results of Body Injury Studies

The results of the blunt wedge impacts to Region II are summarized in Figure 39 which shows the average peak contact pressure (computed by dividing













the peak impactor force by the estimated contact area) versus the injury index. For an injury index of 3 this contact pressure was approximately 19 psi for the rhesus monkey and the baboon. It was the same for both the right and the left side. Figure 40 shows the impact velocity versus injury index for impacts with a scaled arm rest to Region II. A significant difference (approximately 20%) in the tolerable impact velocity were observed for the right and left side of the baboon and rhesus monkey.

The impacts to the other regions of the torso are limited in number and the results cannot be generalized. However, it is clear that pressure tolerance in Region I is higher than in Region II, approximately 27 psi. Whole side body pressure tolerance is, however, much higher than Region II or that of Region III.

3.4 ANIMAL SLED TEST

3.4.1 Introduction

The impacts in section 3.2 were carried out under very idealized laboratory conditions. The location, impacting surface, and velocity of impact were very precisely controlled. Crash simulations on the HSRI Impact Sled were conducted to verify that the injury patterns seen in the controlled impacts were representative of the injuries seen in a less controlled impact environment simulating more closely an actual automobile side collision.

3.4.2 Experimental Setup for HSRI Large Sled

Ten test animals were used for the crash simulations: four baboons; one chimpanzee; three cynomolgus; and, two rhesus. Scaled doors were made for each size animal. These doors were made with a steel rim and a plywood

106



center. A scaled tempered glass window was supplied by Pittsburgh Plate & Glass Industries for each door. The four baboons and one chimpanzee were tested on the HSRI Impact Sled. This sled, driven by a compressed gas operational ram, accelerates slowly. Collision is simulated by an abrupt stop caused by impacting an adjustable hydraulic shock absorber. The pulse shape may be varied from approximately square (rise time less than 10 ms) to a quite long pulse duration depending on speed, contacting surface and shock absorber setting.

The deceleration stroke is up to three feet, the top speed, 40 mph and up to 88 G's deceleration, may be obtained. The sled payload is 1600 pounds

A complete data acquisition and recording system has been incorporated in the sled design including high speed cameras and a 50,000 watt lighting system. Forces and accelerations are transduced and recorded simultaneously on magnetic tape and a light beam oscillograph. All controls are remotely operated using a safety-interlocked electronic sequencer.

The head accelerations were obtained by the use of a microminiature Columbia Model 612 TX Tri-axial Accelerometer, and three onboard charge amplifiers. The tri-axial accelerometer was placed on the right side of the test animal's head with tape. Great care was taken to obtain good alignment with the x, y, z direction of the accelerometer and the anterior-posterior (A-P) left-right (L-R) and superior-inferior (S-I) directions of the test animals head. (Figure 41)

FIGURE 41. HEAD DIRECTION CONVENTIONS Arrows indicate positive acceleration.



3.4.2.1 Test Results, HSRI Large Sled Test No. 71-91: Baboon 43 ft/sec sled run with a 15 G's acceleration pulse. In this run the 1/2" thick door and window was not damaged and the

baboon suffered only moderate injuries to the liver and pancreas.

Test No. 71-92: Baboon 65 ft/sec sled run with a 53 G's acceleration pulse. In this run the 1/4" thick door was damaged extensively and the window was broken by the baboon's head. The injury was again moderate to the liver and pancreas, this time because the door failed, thus increasing the stopping distance.

Test No. 71-93: Baboon 60 ft/sec sled run with a 32 G's acceleration pulse. In this run a 1/2" thick door with 1/2" of vinyl foam (60 psi at 50% strain) and an arm rest made from a polyethylene foam (132 psi at 50% strain) was used. The door was not damaged and the window broke. Injury was severe to the liver and spleen. This injury was a result of the arm rest. There were no head injuries. Test No. 71-94: Baboon 59 ft/sec sled run with a 31 G's acceleration pulse. The same door was used with one change, the padding was changed to 3 inches thick and a stiffness of 500 lb/in. The door was not damaged, and the window did not break. The injuries were a bit lower than 71-93, but still severe injury to the liver and lungs. No head injuries were seen. Test No. 71-95: Baboon 59 ft/sec sled run with a 34 G's acceleration

Test No. 71-95: Baboon 59 ft/sec sled run with a 34 G's acceleration pulse. The same set up as 71-94 but the arm rest was removed. The door was not damaged and the window did not break. The body injuries were moderate to spleen and kidney and pancreas. There was a severe contrecoup head injury. The accelerations to the head were the highest of all the tests.

109

Test No. 71-96: Chimpanzee 59 ft/sec sled run with a 31 G's acceleration pulse. The same set up as 71-93. The door and window were damaged. The injury was moderate to the spleen and pancreas. No head injury. A typical sled and head acceleration trace is shown in Figure 42, filtered at 250 Hz.

3.4.3 Experimental Set-Up for Small Sled

The smaller monkeys were run on the HSRI small high velocity sled. The transfer piston and impact piston were removed from the air cannon. A single piston with a 5-foot connecting rod was installed. A 25-foot track and a pneumatically operated braking system was used to decelerate the sled. The instrumentation was the same as previously described. This sled is of the reverse acting type, that is, the sled is rapidly accelerated (test phase) and then decelerated slowly. (Figure 43) Three vervet and two rhesus monkeys were used in these tests.

3.4.3.1 Test Results for Small Sled

Test No. 71-103: Vervet 66 ft/sec sled run with a 28 G's acceleration pulse. In the run the door was 1/4" thick with no padding and an arm rest. The animal was not injured. The door broke, not the window.

Test No. 71-104: Vervet 72 ft/sec sled run with a 26 G's acceleration pulse. Same set up as 71-103. Moderate head injury. The door broke, but not the window.

Test No. 71-105: Vervet 70 ft/sec sled run with a 19 G's acceleration pulse. Same set up as 71-104, but modified door mounts to the sled. The injuries were moderate to the lungs, liver and pancreas. No breakage to the door or window.

110





Test No. 71-106: Rhesus 67 ft/sec sled run with a 18 G's acceleration pulse. Same set up as 71-104, but bigger door. The door failed, but the window did not break. Moderate injury to the liver and kidney.

Test No. 71-107: Rhesus 65 ft/sec sled run with a 16 G's acceleration pulse. Same set up as 71-105 but door better fastened to the sled. No breakage to door or window. Moderate injury to the liver and pancreas.

The injuries seen on the sled runs were very similar to those seen in the idealized impacts. Liver injuries caused by direct blows from the scaled arm rest impactor were found to be identical to those caused by the test animal impacting the scaled door in the sled test. While pancreatic injuries were seen in most of the sled tests, very few were found in any of the idealized tests, other than the whole body impacts.

Head injuries were found to be minimized by side window glass fracture. If the window did not break, these injuries were found to be more severe. In either case, the injuries were similar to the idealized impacts. The contrecoup injury was observed in the sled test as well as the idealized test.

A summary of all the test results are given in Table 13.

3.5 50TH PERCENTILE MALE DUMMY SIDE DOOR CRASH SIMULATIONS

3.5.1 Introduction

A series of six side impacts were simulated on the HSRI Impact Sled, with six doors representing four makes of automobiles. Two of the runs were with lap belts, while the rest were unbelted.

These tests were conducted to determine the differences, if any, between car doors with guard beams and car doors without guard beams when impacted from the inside by an occupant.

TABLE 13. ANIMAL SIDE DOOR CRASH SIMULATIONS (Cont'd.)

							and the second second							
ſ			E .		u		Head	L-R	Head	S-I	Head	A-P		
	Species & Test Numbers	Door, Padding and Arm Rest	ର Sled Acceleratio	ft/sec	書 Sled Accelerati R Pulse Duration	th Animal Impact Selocity	କ୍ରି Acceleration	텛 Duration	ନ୍ଦୁ Acceleration	uration	2 Acceleration	Duration	Door and Window Damage	Injury Index
	Vervet 71-103	1/4" Door No Padding Arm Rest	*3 6.7/28	66.6	30/56	15	L	.0D	L	OD	l	.OD	Window (No) Door (No)	Head 1 Thorax 1 Abdomen 1
115	Vervet 71-104	1/4" Door No Padding Arm Rest	43/25.9	72.0	28/63	17.9	1260	1.5	174	1.0	-320	2.0	Window (No) Door (No)	Head 2 Thorax 1 Abdomen 1
	Vervet 71-105	1/4" Door No Padding Arm Rest	37.7/19.4	70.0	26/60	32.0	560	1.7	625	2.0	-1160	3.0	Window (No) Door (No)	Head 1 Thorax 2 Abdomen 2
	Rhesus 71-106	1/4" Door No Padding Arm Rest	32.4/18.4	67.4	32/68	26.6	610	1.7	450	1.0	-600	2.4	Window (No) Door (No)	Head 1 Thorax 1 Abdomen 2
	Rhesus 71-107	1/4" Door No Padding Arm Rest	28.5/16.0	65.6	38/68	25.0	610	2.0	-520	4.6	450	2.3	Window (No) Door (No)	Head 1 Thorax 1 Abdomen 2
		E .		I is a second transmission	A company of the second se	A set of a second	and a second second second	Contract of the second s	and the support of th	Address of the second second	CONTRACTOR OF A DESCRIPTION OF A DESCRIP	and the second sec	the statement of the second	

*Peak/Average

LOD = Loss of Data

TABLE 13. ANIMAL SIDE DOOR CRASH SIMULATIONS

1			5		E O		Head	L-R	Head	S-I	Head	I A-P		
	Species & Test Numbers	Door, Padding and Arm Rest	P. Sled Accelerati	ft/sec	瑟 Sled Accelerati 유 Pulse Duration	lt Animal Impact S Velocity	P. Acceleration	as Duration	e Acceleration	Buration	P. Acceleration	a Duration	Door and Window Damage	Injury Index
	Baboon 71-91	1/2" Door 1/2" Padding Arm Rest	1 7.0/15.0	43.4	130	34.8	223	8.0	-86	11	-120	10	Window (No) Duor (No)	Head 1 Thorax 1 Abdomen 2
114	Baboon 71-92	1/4" Door 1/2" Padding Arm Rest	52.6	65.2	77	52.0	150	8.0	110	20	-255	10	Window (Yes) Door (Yes)	Head 1 Thorax 2 Abdomen 2
	Baboon 71-93	1/2" Door 1/2" Padding Arm Rest	31.6	59.7	123	48.0	300	7.0	-110	10	-130	6	Window (Yes) Door (No)	Head 1 Thorax 2 Abdomen 4
	Baboon 71-94	1/2" Door 3" Padding Arm Rest	30.8	58.8	122	47.4	390	8.0	-230	10	235	10	Window (No) Door (No)	Head 1 Thorax 1 Abdomen 3
	Baboon 71-95	1/2" Door 3" Padding Arm Rest	33.5	58.5	122	47.8	128	4.0	-340	6	340	20	Window (No) Door (No)	Head 3 Thorax 1 Abdomen 2
	Chimpanzee 71-96	1/2" Door 1/2" Padding Arm Rest	31.4	58.5	122	47.3	153	7.0	135	10	176	10	Window (Yes) Door (Yes)	Head 1 Thorax 1 Abdomen 2

*Peak/Average

	f Int	Туре	Acceleration	Velocity	Acceleration • Duration	/ Impact tty	Head	L-R	Head	S-1	Head	A-P	Chest	L-R	Chest	S-1	Chest	t A-P
Test No.	Type o Restra	of Door	e Sled	ft/sec	mer sed	ft/sec	Accel- eration G's	Dura- tion msec										
71-97	No Belt	1966 Ford	22.3	55.7	90	47.1	35	23	0	0	- 14	40	28	20	6	10	0	0
71-100	Belt	1966 Ford	23.0	54.3	93	47.7	48	29	-18	10	-24	60	23	20	-11	7	-5	10
71-98	No Belt	1962 01ds	22.4	55.6	90	47.7	32	23	- 37	10	-20	45	67	20	-15	20	-7	8
71-101	Belt	1962 01ds	22.6	55.1	90	48.0	32	24	-12	11	-24	35	82	10	+19	10	-16	12
71-99	No Belt	1971 Ford	22.5	55.0	86	47.5	38	20	-12	6	-15	50	33	20	-10	4	11	8
			Dummy Door	Impac Guard	t With Rall		65	30	-46	60	0	0	105	20	0	0	-16	8
71-102	No Belt	1970 Chevy	23.0	54.5	100	47.6	12	20	-18	11	-18	14	39	40	-12	20	-7	6
			Dummy Door	Impac Guard	t With Rail		40	20	~63	7	30	10	81	20	-34	25	-26	10

TABLE 14. 50th PERCENTILE MALE DUMMY SIDE DOOR CRASH SIMULATIONS

All accelerations given are peak values

117

The difference between a belted occupant and a non-belted occupant was

also explored.

used for these tests. The 50th percentile anthropometric dummy was used in all runs. The following doors were fastened to the sled through the hinges The HSRI Impact Sled with the supporting data acquisition system was 1970 Chevrolet (with guard beam) 3.5.2 Side Door Crash Simulation Set Up 1962 01dsmobile and locking mechanisms: 1966 Ford

Head and chest accela 1966 Ford bucket seat was used for all tests. The sled velocity was 55 for eration in the A-P, S-I and L-R directions were recorded and analyzed ft/sec and an average deceleration of 23 G's was used. each test.

1971 Ford (with guard beam)

2. ы. В 4.

3.5.3 Results of Side Door Crash Simulation Studies

the head struck the door window and shattered it. In the unbelted tests the Table 14 summarizes the results of this series of tests. In all cases dummy was partially ejected through the door. All doors tested were from hardtop convertible models with the window glass relatively unsupported. Significantly higher head and chest accelerations were observed for the doors with the reinforcing guard rail.

distances of up to 10 inches. Table 15 summarizes the extrusion of these doors The doors were badly deformed by the dummy impacts with maximum extrusion compared with the door length.

				A Construction for an an	the second se
		Тy	<u>çe</u>	Extrusion Inches	Door Length Inches
	Right	1962	Oldsmobile	7.75	38.25
	Left	1962	Oldsmobile	6.75	38.25
	Right	1966	Ford	10.00	49.5
	Left	1966	Ford	9.50	49.5
•	Right	1970	Chevrolet	8.25	50.25
	Left	1971	Ford	8.75	55.5

TABLE 15. DOOR TYPES AND EXTRUSION DISTANCES

Figure 44 shows a typical sled test setup with the dummy and door geometry. Figure 45 shows the typical deformation that occurred when the dummy impacted the door. Figure 46 is a photograph of a side impact accident with the following details.

At 8:30 a.m. on Monday, August 19, 1968, a 1968 Pontiac Catalina two-door hardtop, driven by a 52-year-old male (5 feet 8 inches, 170 pounds), was traveling east on a two-lane paved roadway at a police-estimated speed of 45 mph. The vehicle went off the south side of the road; the right side of the Pontiac scraped against a tree. The vehicle then spun around and struck a second tree 80 feet down the road at the left front wheel well. At this time, the driver was ejected through the left front door window. The car, without the driver, went on down the roadway coming to rest 26 feet beyond the second tree. The left door of the Pontiac was severely deformed outward from driver impact.

The driver had back pain, mild concussion, chest pain, slight abrasions on his left side, abrasions of the left foot, open fracture left shin.



FIGURE 44. TYPICAL TEST SET-UP FOR SIDE CRASH SIMULATION



FIGURE 45 1971 FORD DOOR AFTER TEST #71-105

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS 4.

ments of computer modeling, controlled animal experiments and sled simulations with animals and dummies. A selected group of real accidents were investi-A study of door crashworthiness criteria has been made utilizing elegated for comparison with the results of these studies.

of injury are head impacts with the header, window and door posts. Additionthe results of the computer modeling indicate the most probable causes rest. The limited number of accidents investigated in this study support ally, injuries in the mid-abdominal region occur upon impact with the arm these conclusions. Unbeited occupants run a high risk of being ejected through the window during a side impact.

used to estimate injury. Optimization studies can now be performed to estab-A tolerable pressure of 19 psi has been estimated for the mid-abdominal predict the velocity and altitude of the head at impact and the characterislish the best padding arrangement to provide head protection in side impact. computation of injury for variable acceleration and force pulses to the side tics of that portion of the car that the head impacts, the MSC model can be A head injury tolerance model (MSC) has been developed that allows the of the head. Utilizing the 3-D kinematic model of the vehicle occupant to

region when impacted in the side by an arm rest-like striker. Abdominal injury patterns were similar when the autopsy results of the accident investi-It must be recognized that autopsy findings related to an injury scale gators, controlled animal impacts and animal sled tests are compared.

require careful and skillful interpretation. In this study a major emphasis was placed on the autopsy and injury evaluation.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

1. Additional stiffening of the side structure to reduce intrusion. Significantly heavier padding on the door, header and posts. 2.

- Removal or recessing of the arm rest and door and window levers. . Э.
- 4. Use of the 3-D kinematic model and the MSC head injury model to

evaluate the injury reduction potential of new designs.

Aldman, B., "A Protective Seat for Children - Experiments with a Safety Seat for Children Between One and Six," 8th Stapp Car Crash Conference, Oct., pp. 320-328, 1964.	Langhear, H.L., "Dimensional Analysis and Theory of Model," Wiley, New York, 1951.
Appoldt, F.A., "Dynamic Tests of Restraints for Children," 8th Stapp Car Crash Conference, Oct., pp. 329-345, 1964.	Lister, R.D. and I.D. Neilsen, "Protection of Car Occupant Against Side Impacts," Proceedings, 13th Stapp Car Crash Conference, pp. 38-60, 1969.
Beeding, E. L., Daisy Track Tests 1956-270, June 13 - December 17, 1957. USAF Missile Development Center, Holloman Air Force Base, New Mexico. Project No. 7850, Test Report No. 7, March, 1958.	Lombard, C.F., S.D. Bronson, F.C. Thiede and F.M. Larmie, "Pathology and Physiology of Guinea Pigs Under Selection Conditions of Impact and Support Restraint," Aerospace Medicine, 35:860-866, 1964.
Brink, H., "Automotive Side-Window Glass Impact Study," Proceedings, 7th Scapp Car Crash Conference, Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, Ill., pp. 250-268, 1955.	Mayor, R.P. and K.W. Naab, "Basic Research in Automobile Crashworthiness - Testing and Evaluation of Modifications for Side Impacts," CAL Report No. 113-2684-U-3. Nov. 1969
Brown, W.K., J. D. Rothstein and P. Foster, "Human Response to Predicted Apollo Landing Impacts in Selected Body Orientations," Aerospace Medicine, 37(4): 394-398, April 1966.	McElhaney, J.H., J.L. Fogle, J.W. Melvin, R.R. Haynes, V.L. Roberts and M.M. Aler, "Mcchanical Properties of Cranial Bone," Journal of Biomechanics.
Chandler, R.F., <u>Lateral Impact Data. Daisy Decelerator Tests</u> , 6751st Aero- nautical Field Lab. Holloman Air Force Base, <u>New Mexico, Unpu</u> blished manuscript, January 1966.	<pre>Vol. 3, No. 3, Dp. 495-511, Oct. 1970 MCHENTY, P.R. and K.N. Naab, "Computer Simulations of the Crash Victim - A Validation Study," Proceedings, 10th Stapp Car Crash Conference. Nov. 1966</pre>
Clarke, N. P., E. B. Weis, J. W. Brinkley, and W. E. Temple, "Lateral Impact Tolerance Studies in Support of Apollos" Report I. AMRL Memo, M-29, Wright Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio, February 1963.	Ommaya, A.K., A.E. Hirsch, E.S. Flam and R.M. Mahone, "Cerebral Concussion in the Monkey: An Experimental Model," Science, Vol. 153, pp. 211-212, July 1966.
Eiband, M., "Abrupt Transverse Decelerations," Bioastronautics Data Book, p. 70, 1965.	Ommaya, A.K., F. Fass and D. Yarnell, "Whiplash Injury and Brain Damage: An Experimental Study," JAMA, Vol. 204, pp. 285-289, April 1968.
Friedberg, M., J.W. Garrett and J.K. Kehlberg, "Automobile Side Impacts and Related Injuries," Cornell Aeronautical Laboratory, Inc., Buffalo, CAL No. VJ-2721-RR. December 1960	Patrick, L.M., H.R. Lissner and E.S. Gurdjian, "Survival by Design - Head Protection," 7th Stapp Car Crash Conference, pp. 483-499.
Gadd s C.W. , "Criteria for Injury Potential," Proceedings, Impact Acceleration Stress Symposium, National Academy of Sciences/National Research Council, Publication No. 977, 1962.	Patrick, L. M., H. J. Mertz, Jr. and C. K. Kroell, "Cadaver Knee, Chest and Head Impact Loads," <u>Proceedings, Eleventh Stapp Car Crash Conference</u> , Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., Anaheim, California, October 1967.
Gadd, C.W., "Use of Weighted Impulse Criterion for Estimating Injury Hazard," 10th Stapp Car Crash Conference, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, Paper No. 660793. 1966.	Payne, P. R., "The Dynamics of Human Restraint Systems," Acceleration Stress Symposium, November, pp. 195-258, 1961.
Galford, J.E. and J.H. McElhaney, "A Viscoelastic Study of Scalp, Brain, and Dura," Journal of Biomechanics, Vol. 3, No. 2, pp. 211–221, March 1970.	Reader, D.C., "The Restraint Afforded by the USAF and Proposed RAF lAM Seat Harness for the F-111 Under High Forward and Lateral Decelerations," Royal Air Force Institute of Aviation Medicine, "Furnsborough, 1967.
Gurdiian, E. S., M. R. Lissner and L. M. Patrick, "Concussion-Mechanism and Pathology," Proceedings, Seventh Stapp Car Crash Conference, Society of Auto- motive Engineers, Inc., New York, pp. 470-482, 1965.	Robbins, D. H., R. O. Bennett and J. M. Becker, "Two-Dimensional Crash Victim Simulator Users' Manual." Highway Safety Research Institute, The University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Michigan, 1968
Hirsch, A.C.; A.K. Ommaya and R.H. Mahone, "Tolerance of Subhuman Primate Brain to Cerebral Concussion," Impact Injury and Crash Protection, Chap. 16, pp. 352-369, 1970.	Robbins, D.H., R.O. Bennet and V.L. Roberts, "HSRI Three Dimensional Crash Victim Simulator: Analysis, Verification and Users Manual," Final Report, U.S. Dept. of Transportation, Contract No. FH-11-6962, June 1970
Huelke, D. F. and H. W. Sherman, "Automobile Occupant Ejection Through the Side Door Glass," Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, Paper No. 710076, 1971.	Robbins, D.H., R. O. Bennet, N.M. Alem and A.W. Henke, "Predictions of Mathe- matical Models Compared with Impact Sled Test Results Using Anthropometric Dummies," 14th Stapp Car Crash Conference, Ann Arbor, Mich., pp. 299-328, dov. 1970.

6. REFERENCES

Roberts, V. L. and Robbins, D. H., "Multidimensional Mathematical Modeling of Occupant Dynamics Under Crash Conditions," Society of Automotive Engineers. Inc., New York, Paper No. 690248, January 1969.

Robinscr. F.R., R.L. Hamlin, W.M. Wolff and R.R. Coermann, "Response of the Rheeus Monkey to Lateral Impact," Aerospace Medicine, 34(1):56-62, Jan. 1963.

Severy, D.M., J.H. Mathewson and A.W. Siegel, "Auto Crash Studies," Dept. of Engineering, Univ. of California, Los Angeles, Jan. 1959.

Siegel, A. W., W. T. Wagoner and A. M. Nahum. "Case Comparisons of Restrained and Nonrestrained Occupants and Related Injury Patterns." Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., Paper No. 690245, 1969.

Snyder, R.G., "Human Survivability of Extreme Impacts in Free-Falls," Civil Aeromedical Research Institute, Report 63-15, 1963.

Snyder, R.G., "Human Tolerances to Extreme Impacts in Free-Falls," 34th Annual Meeting, Aerospace Medical Assoc., Los Angeles, (Abstract: Aerospace Medicine 34(4); 34(8):795-811), April 1963.

Snyder, R.G., "Human Survival of High Velocity Free-Falls in Water," CARI Rept. 64–12, Office of Aviation Medicine, Federal Aviation Agency, Washington, D.C., 1964.

Snyder, R.G., "Human Tolerance Limits in Water Impact," (Abstract: Aerospace Medicine, 36(2):163), presented at 36th Annual Meeting of Aerospace Medical Assoc., New York, April 26; Aerospace Medicine 36(10):940-947, 1965. Snyder, R.G., "Human Tolerance Data Relative to All-Out Safety Car Program 1B," Ford Motor Co., Memo, Nov. 23, 1966.

Snyder, R.G., "Center-Facing (Lateral) Seating in Station Wagons," Ford Motor Co., Memo, Nov. 23, 1966.

Snyder, R.G., "Physiological Effects of Impact: Man and Other Mammals," Environmental Biology. Federation of American Studies for Experimental Biology, pp. 231-242, 1966. Snyder, R.G., C.C. Snow, J.W. Young, G.T. Price and P. Hanson, "Experimental Comparison of Trauma in Lateral (± Gy) and Forward-Facing (-Gx) Body Orienta-tions When Restrained by Lap Belt Only." Aerospace Medicine, 38(a):889-894, 1967.

Snyder, R.G., C.C. Snow, J.W. Young, G.T. Price, P. Hanson and R. Chandler, "Injury in Lateral Impact (-Gy) When Restrained by Lap Belt Only," Presented, 38th Annual Meeting, Aerospace Medical Assoc., Washington, D.C., April 1967.

Snyder, R.G., C.C. Snow, J. W. Young, W.H. Crosby and G.T. Price, "Pathology of Trauma Attributed to Restraint Systems in Crash Impacts," Presented, Joint Committee on Aviation Pathology, Toronto, Canada, 12 Sept.; Aerospace Medicine 39(8):812-829, Aug. 1968.

Snyder, R.G., C.C. Snow and J.M. Young. "Experimental Impact Protection with Advanced Automotive Restraint Systems: Preliminary Primate Tests with Air 88g and Instria Real/Inverted-Y Yoke Torso Harness." Proceedings, 11th Stapp Car Crash Conference, Anaheim, Calif., Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., Paper No. 670972, 1968.

Snyder, R.G., Impact, Chapter in NASA Bioastronautics Data Book, Sponsored by National Academy of Sciences/National Research Council and National Aeronautics and Space Administration (in preparation) 1969.

Sonntag, R., Personal Communication (Unpublished Holloman Test Data), 1966

Stalnaker, R.L., "Mechanical Properties of the Head," Ph.D. Dissertation, West Virginia University, 1969.

Stalnaker, R.L., J.C. Fogle and J.H. McElhaney, "Driving Point Impedence Characteristics of the Head," American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York, ASME Paper No. 70-BHF-14, 1970.

Stalnaker, R.L. and J. H. McElhaney, "Head Injury Tolerance for Linear Impacts by Mechanical Impedence Methods," American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York, ASME Paper No. 70-WA/BHF-4, 1970.

Stalnaker, R.L., J.L. Fogle and J.H. McElhaney, "Driving Point Empedence Characteristics of the Head, " Vol. 4, No. 2, pp. 127–139, March 1970.

Stapp, J.P., "Tolerance to Abrupt Deceleration." Collected Papers on Aviation Medicine, Advisory Group for Aeronautical Research and Development, Butterworths Scientific Publications, London, 1955.

Stapp, J.P., "Yoluntary Human Tolerance Levels," Presented, Mayne State Univ. Centennial, Biomechanics Symposium, Detroit, Mich., 1968.

Stapp, J.P., "Human Criteria for Protection from Vehicle Crash Impact," Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., Paper No. 690104, 1964.

State, J.D. and D.J. States, "The Pathology and Pathogenesis of Injuries Caused by Lateral Impact Accidents," Proceedings, 12th Stapp Car Crash Conference, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, Paper No. 680773, pp. 72-93, 1968.

Thompson, J.E., "Occupant Response Versus Vehicle Crash: A Total System Approach," 12th Stapp Car Crash Conference, 1968.

Weiss, C.B., N.P. Clarke and J.W. Brinkley, "Human Response to Several Impact Acceleration Orientations and Patterns," Aerospace Medicine, 34(12):1122-1129, December 1963.

Whitehouse, A.C., W.K. Brown, P. Foster and H.F. Scherer, "Quantitative Effects of Abrupt Deceleration on Puimonary Diffusion in Man," ARL Report TR-66-12, May 1966.

Vost, C.D., Accident Reviews: Ford, Automotive Safety Research Office, Ford Motor Co., Rept. No. 5-67-22, 1967.

Zaborowski, A. V., J. D. Rothstein and W. K. Brown, "Investigations in Human Tolerance to Lateral Impact," (Presented, 36th Annual Meeting, Aerospace Medical Association, April 26-29, New York City, Abstract: <u>Aerospace Medicine</u> 36:168-169), Unpublished, 1963.

Zaborowski, A.V. 'Lateral Impact Studies - Lap Belt Shoulder Harness Configurations." Proceedings, 9th Stapp Car Crash Conference, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, 1965.

Zaborowski, A.V., "Human Tolerance to Lateral Impact with Lap Belt Only," Proceedings, 8th Stapp Car Crash Conference, Wayne State Univ., Detroit, pp. 34-65, 1966. APPENDIX A Summary data sheets
DOOR CRASHWORTHINESS CRITERIA Contract FH-11-7288

SUMMARY SHEET

19 V

A

1.	Run Number	• 70-14	
2.	Animal, Species and Sex	Squirrel Monkey, Mal	e
3.	Area and Type of Impact	Right side head, no p	ad
4.	Impact Velocity	24.4	mph
5.	Animal Total Body Weight	1.76	lbs.
6.	Animal Head Weight	. 175	lbs.
7.	Animal Brain Weight	. 0762	lbs.
8.	Animal Skull Dimension* w	1.26	inches
		2.02	inches
	h	. 041	inches
• •	a	.82	inches
	h/a	. 0500	
9.	Impact Duration	1.6	msec.
10.	Peak Contact Force	375.	lbs.
11.	Head Acceleration (F=MA)	2140.	g's
12.	Maximum Head Acceleration	1260.	gʻs
	(Vector sum x and y from Vanguard)		
13.	Maximum Head Velocity	34.5	mph
	(Vector sum x and y from Vanguard)	205 000	rad
14.	Maximum Angular Head Acceleration	225,000.	sec- rad
15.	Maximum Angular Head Velocity	255.	sec
16.	Impulse	. 360	1b-sec.
17.	Camera Framing Speed	10,600.	Frames/sec.
18.	Blow-up Factor	1.45	in/Van.in.
19.	Quality of Movie	Good	
20.	Animal Arrival: July 30, 1970	Impact: July 30, 1970	
	Termination: August	5, 1970	Dates
21.	Evidence of Injury Post-Impact: Post	sible skull fracture near rig	ght parieta
	area. Whole body tremor noted.		

SUMMARY SHEET (Cont'd.) Page 2

22.	Loss of Consciousness	unconscious <5 min
23.	Heart-Beat Rate Pre-Impact	130beats/min
	Post-Impact	140
24.	Respiratory Rate Pre-Impact	(slightly erratic) 44 breaths/min
	Post-Impact	(very erratic) 32 breaths/min
25.	Reflex State (pupillary, eyelid, ear	r pinch, etc.)
	Pre-Impact	present and normal
	Post-Impact	returned after 5 min normal
26.	Behavior Pre-Impact	appears normal and healty
	Post-Impact	cannot be determined immed.
		appears normal & healthy next day
27.	Anesthetic Used Ketamine (I.P.) & I	Na Pento Amount 52.7 and 12.5 mg/kg
	Approx. Time Last Injection Given	2:45
	Approx. Time Impact	3:15
	Condition of Animal	Prior-Pento active/hallucinatory
28.	X-Rays Pre-Impact	Post-Limp None
	Post-Impact	yes; taken (1 day after impact)
29.	Blood Samples: Does not apply	
	Pre	
	SGOT	Int. Units
	SGPT	Int. Units
	LDH	Int. Units
÷.,	AIKP'tase	Int. Units
	СРК	Int. Units
30.	Skull Cleaned and Stored	yes - saved and cleaned
31.	EKG Pre-Impact	yes - saved and marked
	Post-Impact	ves - saved and marked

A-2

SUMMARY SHEET (Cont'd.) Page 3

33. Scaling Index Number

2



A-4

· • ·







SUMMARY SHEET (Cont'd.) Page 2

22.	Loss of Consciousness	
23.	Heart-Beat Rate Pre-Impact	137 beats/min.
	Post-Impact	167 beats/min.
24.	Respiratory Rate Pre-Impact	32 breaths/min.
	Post-Impact	44 breaths/min.
25.	Reflex State (pupillary, eyelid, ea	ar pinch, etc.)
	Pre-Impact	all normal
	Post-Impact	not recorded
26.	Behavior Pre-Impact	appeared normal and healthy
	Post-Impact	never fully regained from drug
27.	Anesthetic Used <u>Ketamine (I.M.)</u>	Amount not record. mg/kg
	Approx. Time Last Injection Given	9:00
	Approx. Time Impact	11:00
	Condition of Animal	deep-moderate
28.	X-Rays Pre-Impact	none
	Post-Impact	none
29.	Blood Samples: Does not apply.	
	<u>Pre Post 1 day</u>	2 days Other
	SGOT	Int. Units
	SGPT	Int. Units
	LDH	Int. Units
	AIKP'tase	Int. Units
	СРК	Int. Units
30.	Skull Cleaned and Stored	yes
31.	EKG Pre-Impact	yes
	Post-Impact	yes

SUMMARY SHEET (Cont'd.) Page 3 32. Autopsy Comments: <u>Multiple fractures left zygoma</u>. Hematoma left temporalis <u>muscle</u>. <u>Moderate congestion epidural and on brain</u>. <u>Contrecoup - hematoma right side brain</u>. <u>Autopsied same day as impact</u>.

33. Scaling Index Number

3

A-10

A-11

Histopathology: Brain: focus of <u>destruction</u> of cortex with hemorrhage in one section. Retro-peritoneal L. N. - sinus histocytosis. Lung: mild acute

passive congestion. All else appears normal.





4

FIGURE A.6

A-13



FIGURE A-9



į





A-17

DOOR CRASHWORTHINESS CRITERIA Contract FH-11-7288

SUMMARY SHEET (Cont'd.) Page 2

22.	Loss of Consciousness	mildly unconscious <5 min.
23.	Heart-Beat Rate Pre-Impact	125 beats/min.
	Post-Impact]]5 beats/min.
24.	Respiratory Rate Pre-Impact	(fairly regular) 23 breaths/min.
	Post-Impact	(fairly regular) 24 breaths/min.
25.	Reflex State (pupillary, eyelid, ea	r pinch, etc.)
	Pre-Impact	normal eye reflexes
	Post-Impact	return [–] few min. normal
26.	Behavior Pre-Impact	appears normal and healthy
	Post-Impact	approx. 2 hrs. post-impact awake
		and responsive wound still part open
27.	Anesthetic Used Ketamine (IM)	Amount 25.5 mg/kg
	Approx. Time Last Injective Given	2:30 note:lac. sutured and Vicillin shot
	Approx. Time Impact	2:45 given post-impact
	Condition of Animal	Quite active and mobile
28.	X-Rays Pre-Impact	none
	Post-Impact	yes; 4 days post-impact
23.	Blood Samples: Not taken.	
	Pre Post 1 day	2 days Other
	SGOT	Int. Units
	SGPT	Int. Units
	TOH TOT	Int. Units
	AIKP' tase	Int. Units
	CPK	Int. Units
g.	Skull Cleaned and Stored	yes - saved and cleaned
31.	EKG Pre-Impact	yes
	Post-Impact	yes

SUMMARY SHEET (Cont'd.) Page 3 32. Autopsy Comments: <u>Fracture both zygomatic arches. Fracture clavicle. Mas</u>sive hematoma all over left side head, temporalis muscle, etc. Brain appears normal.

	-	

nis uper chorogy: Lungs: right side congested and edema due to lung mite. also lung left side. Spleen: congested. Liver: congested. Brain: cerebral cortex satellitosis of glial cells around neurons and white matter. Prominent vacuolar change in brain parenchyma. Also in spinal cord. Cerebellum: vacuolar change restricted to white matter.

 Cerebellum: vacuolar change restricted to white matter.
 33. Scaling Index Number
 3

A-18











DOOR CRASHWORTHINESS CRITERIA Contract FH-11-7288 SUMMARY SHEET

Kun Number Animal, Species and Sex Arimal, Species and Sex Area and Type of Impact Impact Velocity Animal Total Body Weight Animal Head Weight Animal Reain Weight Animal Reain Weight Animal Reain Weight Animal Reain Weight Arimal Reain Weight Animal Reain Weight Ani	-	11_80
Animal, Species and Sex Chimpanzee, Female Area and Type of Impact Left side head, no p Impact Velocity Animal Total Body Weight Animal Head Weight 65.0 Animal Head Weight 5.21 Animal Resin Weight 5.21	Run Number	00-17
Area and Type of Impact Left side head, no p Impact Velocity 30.4 Animal Total Body Weight 65.0 Animal Head Weight 6.21 Animal Resid Weight 6.21	Animal, Species and Sex	Chimpanzee, Female
Impact Velocity 30.4 Animal Total Body Weight 65.0 Animal Head Weight 6.21 Animal Resid Weight 782	Area and Type of Impact	Left side head, no pad
Animal Total Body Weight 65.0 Animal Head Weight 6.21 Animal Reain Weight 782	Impact Velocity	30.4
Animal Head Weight 6.21 Animal Resin Meight	Animal Total Body Weight	65.0
Animal Brain Weight .782	Animal Head Weight	6.21
	Animal Brain Weight	.782

4

ы.

inches

. 185

lbs.

1bs. inches inches

3.43 4.91

Animal Skull Dimension*

°.

۲.

6

5.

lbs.

hdm

	9		
	N NO. 70–22 Esus Side of Nea		12) 300
			2.0 E (milliseee
			3

sec² Hda 9'S 9, S Dates inches msec. lbs. 1b-sec. Frames/sec. in/Van. in. Poor - not enough light Impact: January 20, 1971 .089 3.13 2.08 4.9 38.5 11.1 5050. 55. 740. 550. 4600. 525.000. Termination: January 22, 1971 đ h'a Maximum Head Acceleration (Vector sum X and ÿ from Vanguard) Maximum Head Velocity (Vector sum x and y from Vanguard) Maximum Angular Head Acceleration Animal Arrival: January 19, 1971 Maximum Angular Head Velocity Head Acceleration (F=MA) Camera Framing Speed Peak Contact Force Quality of Movie Impact Duration Blow-up Factor Impulse 21. 6 17. 18. 19. 20. <u>.</u> Ξ 4. 16. 12. 13. 5.

Evidence of Injury Post-Impact: Imprint of impactor on left side head. No other obvious injury.

A-24

÷,

SUMMARY SHEET (Cont'd.) Page 2

22.	Loss of Con	sciousn	ess			Cannot determ	<u>ine</u> min.	
23.	Heart-Beat	Rate Pr	e-Impact			130	beats/min.	
		Po	st-Impac	t		145	beats/min.	
24.	Respiratory	Rate P	re-Impac	t		40	breaths/min.	
		P	ost-Impa	ct		32	breaths/min.	
25.	Reflex Stat	e (pupi	llary, e	yelid, e	ar pinch,	etc.)		
		P	re-Impac	t		All normal		
		P	ost-Impa	ct		None (due to d	lrugs)	
26.	Behavior Pr	e-Impac	t			Appears norm	Na)	
	Po	st-Impa	ct			No apparent ch	ange	
27.	Anesthetic	Used_Ke	tamine (I.M.) Na	Pento	Amount not reco	orded mg/kg	
	Approx. Tim	e Last	Injectio	n Given		Not recorde	ed	
	Approx. Tim	ne Impac	t			Not recorde	ed	
	Condition of	of Anima	1			Moderate		
28.	X-Rays Pre-	Impact				None		
	Post-Impact				None			
29.	Blood Samp	les:						
		Pre	Post	<u>1 day</u>	2 days	Other		
	SGOT	44	55	107	103	Int. Uni	ts-	
	SGPT	53	19	48	28	Int. Uni	ts	
	LDH	148	183	178	179	Int. Uni	ts	
			13	14	16	Int. Uni	ts	
	AIKP'tase	<u></u>		The second se				
	AIKP'tase CPK	<u>11</u> 160	450	915	598	Int. Unit	ts	
30.	AIKP'tase CPK Skull Clear	11 160 ned and	450 Stored	915	598	Int. Unit Yes	ts	
30. 31.	AIKP'tase CPK Skull Clean EKG Pre-Imp	<u>11</u> <u>160</u> ned and pact	450 Stored	915	<u>598</u>	Int. Unit Yes Yes	ts	

SUMMARY SHEET (Cont'd.) Page 3

cortex	. 2 areas	1 cm	diameter	r affected	(Contrecou) brain.		
	de la constante de							
 Autops	ied 2 days	post	impact.					
					÷			
							· · · · · ·	
					· · · ·			
				• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •				
Histop	athology:	Righ	t lung:	foreign b	ody granula	mar. Lef	t luna:	acut
passiv	e congesti	on.	Kidnevs:	congeste	d.			
Brain:	congesti	onan	d focal	red blood	cells in ar	chnoid.	Petech	ae Cer
herm.	focal des	truct	ion cont	av & homon	shage (outo	(manufal)	-1 1	make t













Appendix B

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Beeding, E.L. and J.D. Mosely. "Human Deceleration Tests," USAF Missile Development Center, Holloman Air Force Base, New Mexico. AFMDC-TN-60-2, January, 1960.	28.	Clark, C. and C. Blechschmidt. "Human Transportation Fatalities and Protection Against Rear and Side Crash Loads by the Niretor Dottoria "
Berton, R., R. Daniel, W. Kohn, and C. Yost. "Accident Reviews: Mustang," Automotive Safety Research Office, Ford Motor Company, Rept. TR No. S-67-8, 1967.	29.	Proceedings, Ninth Stapp Car Crash Conference, Minneapolits, Nesuraint, pp. 19-64, October 20-21, 1965. Coermann, R. "Response of the Phasus Workey to Literal Turnet W
Braunstein, P.W., J.O. Moore, and P.A. Wade. "Preliminary Findings of the Effect of Automotive Safety Design on Injury Patterns," <u>Surgery</u> <u>Gynecology and Obstetrics</u> 105(3):257-263, 1957.	30.	Aerospace Medicine 34:56-62, use where we used to take a impact. Cook, J.E. and J.D. Mosely. "Viscemal Displacement in Black Bears Subjected to Abrupt Deceleration." Aerospace Medicine 37(1):1-8. January. Tocol
Brink, H. "Automotive Side-Window Glass Impact Study." Proceedings, the <u>Seventh Stapp Car Crash Conference</u> , Charles C Thomas, <u>Springfie</u> ld, 11. pp. 250-268, 1965.	.16	Courville, C.B. "Structural Changes in the Brain Consequent to Traumatic Disturbances of Intractanial Fluid Balance," <u>Builetin of the</u> Los Angeles Neurological Society 7:55-76, 1942
Brinkley, J.M., E.B. Weis, N.P. Clarke, and W.E. Temple. "A Study of the Effect of Five Orientations of the Acceleration Vector on Human Response," AMRL Memo. M-28, 1963.	32.	Courville, C.B. "The Mechanism of Coup-Contreccup Injuries of the Brain: A Critical Review of Recent Experimental Studies in the Light of Clinical Observations." Bulletin of the Los Angeles Neurological
Brim, J. and S.E. Staffeld. "Evaluation of Impact Test Accelerations: A Damage Index for the Head and Torso." <u>Proceedings, Fourteenth</u> Stapp Car Crash Conference, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York. Paper No. 700902, pp. 188–202, 1970.	33.	<pre>Justery 10:1/2-80, 1990. Courville, C.B. "Contrecoup Injuries of the Brain in Infancy," <u>Archives</u> of Surgery 90:157-165, 1965.</pre>
Brown, W.K., J.D. Rothstein and P. Foster. "Human Response to Predicted Apollo Landing Impacts in Selected Body Orientations." <u>Aerospace</u> <u>Medicine</u> 37(4):394-398, April, 1966.	34.	Cox, H.C. and A.E. Norman. "The Design of Automobile Door Latches," Institute of Mechanical Engineers Automotive Division. Unpublished abstract. 1968.
Brown, W.K., J.D. Rothstein and P. Foster. Project Apollo Impact Studies. 6571st ARL, Holloman Air Force Base, New Mexico. 1966.	35.	Daly. C.H., J.D. Chalupnik, and J.D. Danberg. "Testing Dynamic Material Properties of Brain Arteries," paper presented, <u>Symposium on Biodynamic</u> Models and Their Applications, Dayton, Ohio. Ortonar 26, 1970.
Carswell, A.S. "Car Window Fractures - Left Elbow," <u>J. Med. Assoc. of</u> <u>Georgia</u> 42:211, 1953. Caveness, W.F. and A.E. Walker. <u>Head Injury Conference Proceedings</u> .	36.	Danforth, J.P. and C.W. Gadd. "Use of a Weighted-Impulse Criterion for Estimating Injury Hazard," <u>Proceedings, Tenth Stapp Car</u> Crash Conference, Society of Automotive Engineers, New York. Paper No. 660793, pp. 95-100,
J.B. Lippincott, Co., Philadelphia, 1966. Chandler, R.F. Lateral Impact Data. Daisy Decelerator Tests. 6571st Aero- modical Field Lah Holloman dir Force Rase. New Movico. Unnumlished	37.	1900. DeMuth, W.E., A.E. Bave and J.A. Odom. "Contusions of the Heart," J. Trauma 7(3):443, 1967.
manuscript. January, 1966. Chason, J.L., W.G. Hardy, J.E. Webster, and E.S. Gurdjian. "Alterations	38.	Denny-Brown, D. and W.R. Russell. "Experimental Cerebral Concussion," <u>Brain</u> 64:93-164, 1941.
in Cell Structure of the Brain Associated with Experimental Concussion," J. <u>Neurosurgery</u> 15:135-139, 1968.	39.	Dille, J.R. and A.H. Hasbrook. "Injuries Due to Explosion, Decompression and Impact of a Jet Transport," <u>Aerospace Medicine</u> 37(1):5-11, January,
Chason, J.L., O.U. Fernando, V.R. Hodgson, L.M. Thomas, and E.S. Gurdjian. "Experimental Brain Concussion: Morphologic Findings and a New Cytologic Hypothesis." <u>J. Trauma</u> 6:767–779, 1966.	40.	Dodt, R.C. "Movable Barrier Ram for Side-Angle Impacts," Automotive Safety Research Office, Engineering Staff, Ford Motor Company,
Clarke, N.P., E.B. Wers, J.W. Brinkley, and W.E. Temple. "Lateral Impact Tolerance Studies in Support of Apollo," Report I. AWRL Memo. M-29, Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio, February, 1963.	4 	n. No. 3-67-10, 1907. Douglass, J.M., A.M. Nahum, and S.B. Roberts. "Applications of Experimental Head injury Research." Proceedings Twelfth Stapp Car Crash Conference, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, Paper No. 680786.
8-2		

21.

20.

15.

14.

16.

17.

18.

19.

23.

24.

26.

25.

27.

22.

B-3

- Dubrzzski, A. and S. Raszeja. "The Anatomical Localization of Brain Injuries Sustained in Traffic Accidents," <u>J. Forensic Medicine</u> 17(3):99-102, 1970.
- Dufort, R.H. An Assessment of Head Injury Criteria for Automotive Vehicle Safety Performance Standards. Cornell Aeronautical Laboratory, Buffalo, New York, Rept. No. YM-2299-V-1, 1968.
- Earley, J.C. Unpublished test data. (Belt Loads in Side Facing Electra Lounge Seat), 1961.
- Eiband, M. "Abrupt Transverse Decelerations," <u>Bioastronautics Data</u> <u>Book</u>, c. 70, 1965.
- 46. Engin, A.E. "Axisymmetric Response of a Fluid-filled Spherical Shell to a Local Radial Impulse - A Model for Head Injury," American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York, Paper No. 69-BHF-1, 1969.
- 47. Engin, A.E. and V.L. Roberts. "A Mathematical Model to Determine the Brain Damage when the Human Head is Subjected to Impulsive Loads," paper presented, <u>Symposium on Biodynamic Models and Their Applications</u>, Dayton, Ohio, October 26, 1970.
- Evans, F.G. <u>Stress and Strain in Bones</u>. Charles C Thomas, Springfield, Illinois, pp. 34-53, 1957.
- 49. Evans, F.G., H.R. Lissner, and M. Lebow. "The Relation of Energy, Velocity, and Acceleration to Skull Deformation and Fracture," Surgery, Gynecology and Obstetrics 107:593-601, 1958.
- Fallenstein, G.T., V.D. Hulce, and J.W. Melvin. "Dynamic Mechanical Properties of Human Brain Tissue," The American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York, Paper No. 69-BHF-6, 1969.
- Flamm, E.S., A.K. Ommaya, J. Coe, T.P. Krueger, and F.H. Faas. Cardiovascular Effects of Experimental Head Injury in the Monkey," Surg. Forum 17:414-416, 1966.
- Ford Motor Company. Side Impact Progress Report SC13-3, May 31, 1968.
- Freytag, E. "Autopsy Findings in Head Injuries from Blunt Forces. Statistical Evaluation of 1,367 Cases," <u>Archives of Pathology</u> 75:402, 1963.
- Friede, R.L. "Specific Cord Damage at the Atlas Level as a Pathogenic Mechanism in Cerebral Concussion," <u>J. Neuropathology and Experimental</u> <u>Neurology</u> 19:266-279, 1960.
- Friede, R. L. "Experimental Concussion Acceleration," <u>Archives of</u> <u>Neurology</u> 4:449-462, 1961.

- 56. Friedberg, M., J.W. Garrett, and J.K. Kihlberg. "Automobile Side Impacts and Related Injuries," Cornell Aeronautical Laboratory, Inc., Buffalo. CAL No. VJ-2721-R8, December, 1969.
- Gadd, C.W. "Criteria for Injury Potential," in, <u>Impact Acceleration</u> <u>Stress</u>, Symposium, Brooks Air Force Base, Texas, National Academy of <u>Science/National Research Council</u>, Publication No. 977, November 27-29, 1962.
- Gadd, C.W., J.P. Danforth, A.M. Nahum, and J. Gatts. "A Study of Head and Facial Bone Impact Tolerances," Proceedings, General Motors Safety Seminar, Milford, Michigan, pp. 9.1 - 9.9. GM Research Laboratories, Report GMR-785, Warren, Michigan, 1968.
- Gadd, C.W. and L.M. Patrick. "System Versus Laboratory Impact Tests for Estimating Injury Hazard," Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, Paper No. 680053, 1968.
- Gadd, C.W. "Use of a Weighted-impulse Criterion for Estimating Injury Hazard," Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, Paper No. 660793, 1966.
- 61. Gaggio, A.F. "The Mechanism of Contre-coup Injury," J. Neurology and Psychiatry of London 4:11-22, 1941.
- Galford, J.E. and J.H. McElhaney. "Some Viscoelastic Properties of Scalp, Brain, and Dura," American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York, ASME Paper No. 69-BHF-7, 1969.
- Galford, J.E. and J.H. McElhaney. "Some Viscoelastic Properties of Scalp, Brain and Dura," Biomechanics Conference, Ann Arbor, Michigan, ASME Paper No. 69-BHF-7, June, 1969.
- Grattan, E. and J.A. Hobbs. "Injuries to the Hip Joint in Vehicle Occupants," Road Research Laboratory Ministry of Transport, Report LR-126, 1967.
- 65. Grattan, E., J.A. Hobbs, and A. East. "Mechanisms of Injury to Motor Vehicle Occupants," A preliminary study, Road Research Laboratory, Ministry of Transport, Report LR-109, 1967.
- Gross, A.G. <u>Accidental Motorist Ejection and Door Latching Systems</u>. Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York. Paper No. 817A, 1964.
- Gurdjian, E.S. "Mechanism of Brain Concussion, Contusion and Laceration," <u>The Fifth Stapp Automotive Crash and Field Demonstration</u> <u>Conference</u>, The University of Minnesota Press, Minneapolis, <u>pp</u>. 133-143, 1962.
- Gurdjian, E.S., H.R. Lissner and L.M. Patrick. "Concussion Mechanism and Pathology," <u>Proceedings, Seventh Stapp Car Crash Conference</u>, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, pp. 470-482, 1965.

8-5

B-4

- 69. Gurdjian, E.S., V.L. Roberts, and L.M. Thomas. "Tolerance Curves of Acceleration and Intracranial Pressure and Protective Index in Experimental Head Injury." <u>J. Trauma</u> 6(5):600-604, 1966.
- 70. Gurdjian, E.S., L.M. Thomas, and V.R. Hodgson. "Comparison of Species Response to Concussion," <u>Proceedings, Ninth Stapp Car Crash Conference</u>, The University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, pp. 363-382, 1966.
- 71. Gurdjian, E.S., V.R. Hodgson, L.M. Thomas, and L.M. Patrick. "Impact Head Injury: Mechanisms and Prevention." in. <u>Accident Pathology</u>. (K.M. Brinkhous, ed.), National Highway Safety Bureau, Washington, D.C. pp. 140-143, 1968.
- 72. Gurdjian, E.S., W.A. Lange, L.M. Patrick, and L.M. Thomas. <u>Impact</u> Injury and Crash Protection, Charles C Thomas, Springfield, Illinois, 1970.
- 73. Gurdjian, E.S. "Discussion of Tolerance of Subhuman Brain to Cerebral Concussion," by Hirsch, et al., in, <u>impact Injury and Crash</u> <u>Protection</u>, (E.S. Gurdjian, W.A. Lange, L.M. Patrick, and L.M. Thomas, eds.), Charles C Thomas, Springfield, Illinois, pp. 370-371, 1970.
 - 74. Haley, J.L., J.W. Turnbow, et al. "Crashworthiness Study for Passenger Seat Design," Arizona State University Engineering Report No. 65-01, 1968.
- 75. Haynes, R.R., J.H. McElhaney, and J.L. Fogle. "Mechanical Properties of the Skull," <u>Proceedings, 6th Annual Rocky Mountain Bioengineering</u> <u>Symposium</u>, 1969.
- 76. Hedeen, C.E. and D.D. Campbell. "Side Impact Structures," <u>Proceedings</u>, <u>General Motors Automotive Safety Seminar</u>, (13):1-5, 1968.
 - 77. Hedeen, C.E. and D.D. Campbell. "Side Impact Structures," Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, Paper No. 690003, 1969.
- Higgins, L.S., R.A. Schmall, C.P. Cain, P.E. Kielpinski, F.P. Primiano, T.W. Barber, and J.A. Brockway. "The Investigation of the Parameters of Head Injury Related to Acceleration and Deceleration." Technology, Inc., San Antonio, Texas, U.S. Army Médical Research and Development Command, Washington, D.C. ASTIA Rept. AD-659-795, June, 1967.
- 79. Hirsch, A.E. "Tolerance of Man to Impact," <u>New York Academy of Science</u> Meeting, October, 1966.
- 80. Hirsch, A.E. "Current Problems in Head Protection," in, <u>Head Injury</u> Conference Proceedings, (W.F. Caveness and A.E. Walker, eds.), J.B. Lippincott Company, Philadelphia, Pa., pp. 37-40, 1966.
- Hirsch, A.E., A.K. Ommaya, and R.H. Mahone. "Tolerance of the Subhuman Primate Brain to Cerebral Concussion," in, <u>Impact Injury</u> and <u>Crash</u> <u>Protection</u>, (E.S. Gurdjian, W.A. Lange, L.M. <u>Patrick, and L.M. Thom</u>as, eds.), <u>Charles</u> C Thomas, Springfield, Illinois, pp. 352-369.

- 82. Hitchcock, F.A. Physiology of Safety Belts and Harnesses, Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio, October, 1947.
- 83. Hodgson, V.R., E.S. Gurdjian, and L.M. Thomas. "The Development of a Model for the Study of Head Injury." Proceedings, Eleventh Stapp Car Crash Conference, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, pp. 286-292, Paper No. 670923, 1967.
 - 84. Hodgson, V.R., E.S. Gurdjian, and L.M. Thomas. "The Determination of Response Characteristics of the Head with Emphasis on Mechanical Impedence Techniques." Proceedings, Eleventh Stapp Car Crash Conference, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, pp. 125-138, Paper No. 670911, 1967.
- 85. Hodgson, V.R. and L.M. Patrick. "Dynamic Response of the Human Cadaver Head Compared to a Simple Mathematical Model," <u>Proceedings</u>. <u>Iwelfth Stapp Car Crash Conference</u>, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, Paper No. 680784, pp. 280-301, 1968.
- 86. Hodgson, V.R. <u>Head Impact Response of Several Mammals Including</u> the Human Cadaver. Dissertation, Wayne State University, Detroit, June, 1968.
- 87. Hodgson, V.R., L.M. Thomas, E.S. Gurdjian, O.U. Fernando, S.W. Greenberg, and J.L. Jason. "Advances in Understanding of Experimental Concussive Mechanisms," Proceedings, Thirteenth Stapp Car Crash Conference, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, pp. 18-37.
 - 88. Hodgson, V.R., L.M. Thomas, and P. Prasad. "Testing the Validity of the Severity Index," Proceedings, Fourteenth Stapp Car Crash Conference, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, pp. 169-187, Paper No. 700901, 1970.
- Hodgson, V.R. "Physical Factors Related to Experimental Concussion," in. <u>Impact Injury</u> and Crash Protection, (E.S. Gurdjian, M.A. Lange, L.M. Patrick, and L.M. Thomas, eds.), Charles C Thomas, Springfield, Illinois, pp. 275-302, 1970.
- 90. Holbourn, A.H.S. "Mechanics of Head Injuries," <u>Lancet</u> 2:438-441, 1943.
- 91. Holbourn, A.H.S. "The Mechanics of Trauma with Special Reference to Herniation of Cerebral Tissue," <u>J. of Neurosurgery</u> 1:190, 1944.
- 92. Holbourn, A.H.S. "The Mechanics of Brain Injuries." <u>British Medical</u> <u>Bulletin</u> 3:147-149, 1945.
- 93. Hollister, N., W.P. Jolley, R.G. Horne, R. Friede. "Biophysics of Concussion." Aeromedical Laboratory, Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio, Tech. Rept. 58-193, 1958.
- 94. Hontschik, H. "Untersuchungen über die Wirksamkeit von Kraftfahrzeug-Sicherheits-gurten bei schrägem Aufprall," [Investigations Into the Efficiency of Motor-Car Safety Belts Upon Oblique Impact], (German). Deutsche Kraftfahrtforschung und Strassenverkehrstechnik, Frankfurt am Main, 1964.

- Huelke, D.F. and H.W. Sherman. "Automobile Occupant Ejection Through the Side Door Glass," Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, Paper No. 710076, 1971.
- 96. Integrated Seat and Occupant Restraint Performance," Automotive Crash Injury Research, Cornell Aeronautical Laboratory, Inc., Buffalo. U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration, National Highway Safety Bureau, Washington, D.C., September, 1967.
- Jennett, W.B. "Some Current Concepts of Head Injury Pathology," Medicine, Science and the Law 10(1):35-37, January, 1970.
- 98. Kihlberg, J.K. "The Driver and His Right Front Passenger in Automobile Accidents," Cornell Aeronautical Laboratories, Buffalo, New York, CAL Rept. No. VJ-1823-R16, November, 1965.
- 99. Kinlberg, J.K. and H.K. Gensler. "Head Injury in Automobile Accidents Related to Seated Position and Age." Cornell Aeronautical Laboratory, Buffaoo, New York, Rept. VJ-1823-R26, July, 1967.
- 100. Kornhauser, M. and A. Golo. "Application of the Impact Sensitivity Method to Animate Structures," Acceleration Stress Symposium, pp. 333-344, November, 1961.
- 101. Kroell, C.K. "Lateral Impact Body Form," Tolerance Criterion questions presented to SAE Human Simulation Devices Subcommittee, Letter No. 2, November, 1967.
- 102. Kulowski, J. "Accidental Head Injuries in Occupants of Automobiles, A report of Two-Hundred and Seventy-three Cases," <u>American Surgeon</u> 22(5):528-540, May, 1956.
- 103. Kulowski, J. "Injuries of the Extremities: The Most Common Among Motoring Casualties," <u>Southern Medical Journal</u> 49(2):165-169, February, 1956.
- 104. Langhaar, H.L. "Dimensional Analysis and Theory of Model," Wiley, New York, 1951.
- 105. Lasky, I.I., A.V. Siegel, and A.M. Nahum. Automotive Cardio-thoracic Injuries: A Medical-Engineering Analysis, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, Paper No. 680052, 1968.
- 106. Lindgren, S.O. "Experimental Studies of Mechanical Effects in Head Injury." <u>Acta Chirurgica Scand</u>. Suppl. 360, Stockholm, 1966.
- 107. Lissner, H.R., M. Lebow, and F.G. Evans. "Experimental Studies on the Relation Between Acceleration and Intracranial Pressure Changes in Man," <u>Surgery, Gynecology and Obstetrics</u> 111:329-338, 1960.
- 108. Lissner, H.R. and V.L. Roberts "Evaluation of Skeletal Impacts of Human Cadavers." Studies on the Anatomy and Function of Bone and Joints, Springer Verlag, 1966.

- 09. Lister, R.D. and I.D. Neilson. "Protection of Car Occupant Against Side Impacts," <u>Proceedings, Thirteenth Stapp Car Crash Conference</u>, pp. 38-60, 1969.
- 10. Livingston, R.G. "Automobile Collision Injuries," <u>Surgery</u> 36:1059-1064, 1954.
- Lombard, C.F., P. Close, F.C. Thiede, and F. Larmie. "Impact Tolerance of Guinea Pigs Related to Orientation and Containment," <u>Aerospace</u> <u>Medicine</u> 35(1):1-6, 1964.
- Lombard, C.F., S.D. Bronson, F.C. Thiede, P. Close, and F.M. Larmie. "Pathology and Physiology of Guinea Pigs Under Selection Conditions of Impact and Support-Restraint," <u>Aerospace Medicine</u> 35:860-866, 1964.
- Lombard, C.F. and S.H. Advani. "Impact Protection by Isovolumetric Containment of the Torso," <u>Iwelfth Stapp Car Crash Conference</u>, 1968
- Mahone, R., P. Corrao, A. Ommaya, E. Hendler, and M. Schulman. "A Theory on the Mechanics of Mhiplash Produced Concussion in Primates," Preprint, 40th Scientific Meeting, Aerospace Medical Association, May, pp. 44-45, 1969.
 - Malo, A.F. and H.S. Mika. "Accident Analysis of An Urban Expressway System," <u>Highway Research Board Bulletin</u> 240:33-43, 1960.
 - 116. Martinez, J.L. "Study of Whiplash Injuries in Animals," American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Inc., New York, Paper No. ASME 63-MA-281, 1963.
- 17. Martinez, J.L., J. Wickstrom, and B. Barcelo. "The Whiplash Injury -A Study of Head-Neck Action and Injuries in Animals." Biomechanics Monograph, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York, 1967.
- Martinez, J.L. and D.J. Garcia. "A Model for Whiplash," <u>J. Biomechanics</u> 1:23, 1968.
- 119 Mayor, R. P. and K. W. Naab, "Basic Research in Automobile Crashworthiness Testing and Evaluation of Modifications for Side Impacts," CAL Report No. 113-2684-U-3, November 1969.
- 120 McCune, W.S., J.M. Keshishian, and B.B. Blader. "Mesenteric Thrombosis Following Blunt Abdominal Trauma," <u>Ann. Surg</u>. 135:606-614, 1952.
- McElhaney, J.H., E.F. Byars, J. Fogle, and G. Weaver. "The Effect of Embalming on the Mechanical Properties of Beef Bone," <u>J. Appl</u>. <u>Physiol</u>., 1964.

121

23

McElhaney, J.H., R.L. Stalmaker, and M.S. Estes. "Dynamic Mechanical Properties of Scalp and Brain," <u>Proceedings, Sixth Annual Rocky</u> Mountain Bioengineering <u>Symposium</u>, 1969.

123 McElhaney, J.H., J.L. Fogle, J.W. Melvin, R.R. Haynes, V.L. Roberts, and N.M. Alem. "Mechanical Properties of Cranial Bone," <u>J. Biomechanics</u> 3:495-511, 1970.

- 124 McElhaney, J.H., V.L. Roberts , and R.L. Stalnaker. "The Biomechanical Aspects of Crash Helmet Design," paper presented, AGARD Conference on Impact Acceleration, Oporto, Portugal, June, 1971.
- 125 McHenry, R.R. and K.N. Naab. "Computer Simulations of the Crash Victim--A Validation Study." <u>Proceedings, Tenth Stapp Car Crash</u> Conference, November, 1966.
- 126 Melvin, J.W., P.M. Fuller, R.P. Daniel, and G.M. Pavliscak. "Human Head and Knee Tolerance to Localized Impacts," Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, Paper No. 690477, May, 1969.
- 127 Melvin, J.M., J.H. McElhaney, and V.L. Roberts. "Development of a Mechanical Model of the Human Head - Determination of Tissue Properties and Synthetic Substitute Materials." <u>Proceedings</u>, Fourteenth Stapp Car Grash Conference, Society of <u>Automotive Engineers</u>, Inc., New Vork, Paper No. 700903, pp. 221-240, 1970.
- 128 Mosre, D.F. "Theoretical Prediction of the Trajectory of Automobiles After Side Impact," Cornell Aeronautical Laboratory, Inc., Buffalo. CAL No. VJ-1823-R13, April, 1965.
- 129 Morris, D.R., D.E. Beisher, and J.J. Zarriello. "Studies on the 6 Tolerance of Invertebrates and Small Vertebrates While Immersed," J. Aviation Medicine pp. 438-443, June, 1958.
- 130 "Most of GM's 69 Models will Have Side-Impact Bars," <u>Automotive</u> <u>Industries</u>. May 15, 1968.
- 131 Melson, W.D. and R.A. Wilson. "Field Accident Research," <u>Proceedings</u>, General Mctors Automotive Safety Seminar, Milford, Michigan, pp. 1-5, 1968.
- 132 Ommaya, A.K., S.D. Rockoff, and M. Baldwin. "Experimental Concussion," J. <u>Meurosurgery</u> 21:249-264, 1964.
- 133 Ommaya, A.K., A.E. Hirsch, and J.L. Martinez. "The Role of Whiplash in Cerebral Concussion," Proceedings, Tenth Stapp Car Crash Conference, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, pp. 197-203, 1966.
- 134 Croays, A.K. "Experimental Head Injury in the Monkey." in, <u>Head Injury</u> Conference Proceedings, (W.F. Caveness and A.E. Walker, eds.), <u>J.B.</u> [ffpincott Company, Philadelphia, pp. 260-275, 1966.
 - 135 Ourmays, A.K., A.E. Hirsch, E.S. Flamm, and R.H. Mahone. "Cerebral Concussion in the Monkey: An Experimental Model," <u>Science</u> 153:211-212, 1966.

Ommaya, A.K., P. Yarnell, A.E. Hirsch, and E.H. Harris. "Scaling of Experimental Data on Cerebral Concussion in Subuman Primates to Concussion Threshold for Man," <u>Eleventh Stapp Car Crash Conference</u>, Society of Automotive Engineers, <u>Inc., New York, Faper Vc. 676306</u>, pp. 73-80, 1967.

136

- 137 Ommaya, A.K. "Mechanical Properties of Tissues of the Nervous System, J. Biomechanics 1:79-88, 1968.
- Ommaya, A.K., F. Faas, and P. Yarnell. "Whiplash Injury and Brain 138 Damage: An Experimental Study." <u>J. Amer. Med. Assoc</u>. 204:285-289, 1966.
- 139 Ommaya, A.K. "Discussion of Physical Factors Related to Experimental Concussion," in, Impact Injury and Crash Protection, (E.S. Gurdjian, W.A. Lange, L.M. Patrick, and L.M. Thomas, eds.), Charles C Thomas, Springfield, Illinois, pp. 303-307, 1970.
- 140 Ommaya, A.K., F.J. Fisch, R.M. Mahone, P. Corrao, and F. Letcher. "Comparative Tolerances for Verebral Concussion by Head Impact and Whiplash Injury in Primates," Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc. New York, Paper No. 700401, 1970.
- 141 Ommaya, A.K. and A.E. Hirsch. "Tolerances for Cerebral Concussion from Head Impact and Whiplash in Primates," <u>J. Biomechanics</u> 4:13-21, 1971.
- 142 Patrick, L. M., H. R. Lissner and E. S. Gurdjian, "Survival by Design Head Protection," 7th Stapp Car Crash Conference, pp. 483-499.
- 143 Patrick, L. M., H. J. Mertz, Jr. and C. K. Kroell, "Cadaver Knee, Chest and Head Impact Loads," Proceedings, Eleventh Stapp Car Crash Conference, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., Anaheim, California, October 1967.
- 144 Payne, P.R. "The Dynamics of Human Response to Acceleration," paper presented at Thirty-second Annual Aerospace Medical Association, Chicago, April 24-27, 1961.
- 145 Payne, P.R. "The Dynamics of Human Restraint Systems," Acceleration Stress Symposium, November, pp. 195-258, 1961.
- 146 Pernkopf, E. Atlas of Topographical and Applied Human Anatomy. Vol. I. Head and Neck. W.B. Saunders, Co., Philadelphia, 1963.
- 147 Portnoy, H.D., D. Benjamin, M. Brian, L.E. McCoy, B. Pince, R. Edgerton and J. Young. "Intracranial Pressure and Head Acceleration During Wilplash," Proceedings, Fourteenth Stapp Car Crash Conference, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, Paper No. 700900, pp. 152-168, 1970.
- 148 Reader, D.C. "The Restraint Afforded by the USAF and Proposed RAF IAM Seat Harness for the F-111 Under Nigh Forward and Lateral Decelerations," Royal Air Force Institute of Aviation Medicine, Farnsborough, 1967.

Rea, D. "An Unusual Combined Intraperitoneal Injury - Rupture of the Bladder and Spleen," Australia and New Zeal. J. Surg. 32(3):250-251, 1963.	162	Ruff, S. "Concerning the Origin of Severe Internal Injuries in Glider Accidents," <u>J. Aviat. Med</u> . 26(4), August, 1955.
Renneker, D.N. "A Basic Study of Energy-Absorbing Vehicle Structure and Occupant Bestraint by Mathematical Model." SAE Automotive Safety	163	Rustworth, R.G. and J.G. Toakley. "Windscreen Injuries of the Brain," Medical Journal of Australia 2:80-83, July, 1969.
Dynamic Modeling Symposium, Anaheim, California, October, 1967. Responses of Vehicles to Side-On Collisions," Impact Response and Classifications of Mator Vehicle Schultsions Systems - A Survey.	164	Ryan, G.A. "Injuries in Urban and Rural Traffic Accidents: A Comparison of Two Studies," Proceedings, Eleventh Stapp Car Crash Conference, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, 1967.
Wylie Laboratories, Report WR-65-3, Vol. IV of V, pp. 10-16, 1968. Rieth, G.R. "Elbow Out of the Window Injuries; A Follow-UP Study	165	Schechter, D.C. "Solitary Wounding of Gallbladder From Blunt Abdominal Trauma," <u>N.Y. State J. Med</u> . 69:2895-2901, 1969.
of 50 Cases," <u>J. Louisiana State medical Society</u> 111(6):220-223, 1959.	166	<pre>Severy, D.M., J.H. Mathewson, A.L. Siegel. "Automobile Side-Impact Collisions," Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., p. 174.</pre>
wobbrs, U.I., K.U. Bennet, and U.N. Becker, and U.M. Becker. Victim Simulator Users' Manual, "Highway Safety Research Institute. The University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Michigan. 1968.	167	Severy, D.M., J.H. Mathewson, and A.W. Siegel. <u>Auto Crash Studies</u> , Department of Engineering, University of California at Los Angeles, January 1959.
KODDINS, U. N., K. U. Bernett and V. L. NUCLES, MANUAL, FINAL REPORT, Victim Simulator: Analysis, Verification and Users Manual, Final Report, U.S. Department of Transportation, Contract No. FH-11-6962, June 1970.	168	Severy, D.M., J.H. Mathewson, and A.W. Siegel. "Automotive Side-Impact Collisions. Series II," Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc. Transaction 67:238-264, 1959.
Robbins, D. H., R. O. Bennett, N. M. Alem and A. W. Henke, "Predictions of Mathematical Models Compared with Impact Sled Test Results Using Anthropo- metric Dummies," l4th Stapp Car Crash Conference, Ann Arbor, Michigan, pp. 299–328, November 1970.	169	<pre>Severy, D.M. and A.M. Siegel. "Engineered Collisions." Proceedings, Fifth Stapp Car Crash and Field Demonstration Conference, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, pp. 33-47, 1962.</pre>
Roberts, V.L., V.R. Hodgson, and L.M. Thomas. "Fluid Pressure Gradients Caused by Impact to the Human Skull," Proceedings, Human Factors <u>Division</u> , American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York, ASME	170	Schwimmer, S. and R.A. Wolf. "Leading Causes of Injury in Automobile Accidents." Automotive Crash Injury Research, Cornell Aeronautical Laboratory, Inc., Buffalo, June, 1962.
Paper No. 66-HUF-1, 1966. Roberts, V.L., E.L. Stech, and C.T. Terry. "Review of Mathematical Models which Describe Human Response to Acceleration," American	121	Siegel, A.W., W.T. Wagoner, and A.M. Nahum. "Case Comparisons of Restrained and Nonrestrained Occupants and Related Injury Patterns," Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., Paper No. 690245, 1969.
Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York, ASME Paper No. 66-WA-BHF-13, 1967. Roberts, V.L. and Robbins, D.H. "Multidimensional Mathematical	172	Slattenschek, A. Verhalten von Kraftfahrzeug-Windschutzscheiben bei Schlagversuchen mit dem Phantom-Kopf. (Behavior of Motor Vehicle Windshields in Impact Tests with a Phantom Head). Technische Hochschule, Vienna, ATZ 70(7):233-241, July, 1968.
Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, Paper No. 690248, January, 1969. Robinson, F.R., R.L. Hamlin, W.M. Wolff and R.R. Coermann. "Response	173	Snively, G.G. and C.O. Chichester. "Impact Survival Levels of Head Accelerations in Man," <u>Aerospace Medicine</u> 87:316-320, April, 1961.
of the Rhesus Monkey to Lateral Impact." <u>Aerospace Medicine</u> 34(1):50-62, January, 1963. Robinson, F.R., R.L. Hamlin, and R.R. Coermann. "Electrocardiographic	174	Snow, C.C., R.G. Snyder, G.T. Price, T.K. Shires, and W.L. Parry. "Trauma to the Urinary System Caused by Abrupt Deceleration," Presented, Scientific session on Urology Annual Neeting, American Medical Association
and Roentgenographic Response of the Heart to Lateral Impact. AwkL Tech. Documentary Report. (Unpublished) 1963.	175	Masnington, U.C., 1907. Snyder, R.G. "Human Survivability of Extreme Impacts in Free-Falls,"
Rothstein, J.D. and W.K. Brown. "Feasibility Study: Lateral Impact With Standard Aircraft Harness Configuration," 6571st Aeromedical Research Laboratory. Holloman AFB, New Mexico, Rept. ARL-TR-66-3, 1966.		civil Aeromedical Research Institute, Report 63-15, 1963. * ?
	<i>t.</i>	

 B-12

8-13

- 176 Snyder, R.G., C.C. Snow, J.W. Young, G.T. Price, and P. Hanson. "Injury in Lateral Impact (-Gy) When Restrained by Aircraft Seat Belt Only." Civil Aeromedical Research Institute, Federal Aviation Administration, Oklahoma City, Okla., Office of Aviation Medicine Report, 1967.
- 177 Snyder, R.G., C.C. Snow, J.W. Young, W.H. Crosby, and G.T. Price. "Pathology of Trauma Attributed to Restraint Systems in Crash Impacts," Presented, Joint Committee on Aviation Pathology, Toronto, Canada, 12 September; <u>Aerospace Medicine</u> 39(8):812-829, August, 1968.
- 178 Snyder, R.G. "Human Tolerances to Extreme Impacts in Free-Falis," 34th Annual Meeting. Aerospace Medical Association. Los Angeles, (Abstract: <u>Aerospace Medicine</u> 34(4); 34(8):795-811), April, 1963.
- 179 Snyder, R.G. "Human Survival of High Velocity Free-Falls in Water," CARI Rept. 64-12, Office of Aviation Medicine, Federal Aviation Agency, Washington, D.C., 1964.
- 180 Snyder, R.G. "Human Tolerance Limits in Water Impact," (Abstract: <u>Aerospace Medicine</u> 36(2):163), presented 36th Annual Meeting of Aerospace Medical Association, New York, April 26; <u>Aerospace Medicine</u> 36(10): 940-947, 1965.
- 18) Snyder, R.G. "Center-facing (lateral) Seating in Station Wagons," Ford Motor Company, Memo., November 23, 1966.
- 182 Snyder, R.G. "Human Tolerance Data Relative to All-Out Safety Car Program IB," Ford Motor Company, Memo., November 23, 1966.
- 183 Snyder, R.G. "Physiological Effects of Impact: Man and Other Mammals," Environmental Biology, Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, pp. 231-242, 1966.
- 184 Snyder, R.G. "Survival of Terminal Velocity Impact Into Snow," 37th Annual Meeting, Aerospace Medical Association, Las Vegas, 19 April; (Abstract: <u>Aerospace Medicine</u> 37(3):302; <u>Military Medicine</u> 131(10):1290-1298, 1966.
- 185 Snyder, R.G. and C.C. Snow. "Fatal Injuries Resulting from Water Impact," Presented, International Meeting on Aerospace Medicine, Sydney, Australia, November 27, 1966.
- 186 Snyder, R.G., C.C. Snow, J.W. Young, G.T. Price, P. Hanson, and R. Chandler. "Injury in Lateral Impact (-Gy) When Restrained by Lap Belt Only," Presented, 38th Annual Meeting, Aerospace Medical Association, Washington, D.C., April, 1967.
- 187 Snyder, R.G., C.C. Snow, J.W. Young, G.T. Price, and P. Hanson. "Experimental Comparison of Trauma in Lateral (+6y) and Forward Facing (-6x) Body Orientations when Restrained by Lap Belt Only." <u>Aerospace Medicine</u> 38(9):889-894, 1967.

- Snyder, R.G., C.C. Snow and J.W. Young. "Experimental Impact Protection with Advanced Automotive Restraint Systems: Preliminary Primate Tests with Advanced Automotive Restraint Systems: Preliminary Primate Tests Jith Stapp and Inertia Reel/Inverted-Y Yoke Torso Harness," <u>Proceedings</u>, 11th Stapp Car Crash Conference, Anaheim, California, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., Paper No. 670972, 1968.
- Snyder, R.G. and C.C. Snow. "Fatal Injuries Resulting from Extreme Water Impact," <u>Aerospace Medicine</u> 38(8):770-783, 1968.

8

8

- 90 Snyder. R.G. "Biomechanical Considerations Relative to Proposed Arm Rest Standard DD1.05-169," August 28, 1968.
- 191 Snyder, R.G. "Biomechanical Considerations Relative to Proposed Arm Rest Standard, DD1.05-169," Ford Motor Company, Engineering Staff, August 28, 1968.
- Snyder, R.G. Impact, Chapter in NASA Bioastronautics Data Book, sponsored by National Academy of Sciences/National Research Council, and National Aeronautics and Space Administration. (In preparation) 1969.

92

- 193 Snyder, R.G. State-of-the-Art: Human Impact Tolerance, 1970 International Automobile Safety Conference Compendium, No. p-30, pp. 712-782. (Revised, August), 1970.
- 194 Snyder, R.G., J.W. Young, and G.T. Price. "Pathomechanics of Automotive Restraint-System Injuries," Accident Pathology, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1970.
- 195 Snyder, R.G. "Impact" Chapter VII, <u>MSA</u> Bioastronautics Data Book, Sponsored by National Academy of Sciences/National Research Council, and NASA, 1971, (In press).
- 196 Snyder, R.G. "Occupant Impact Injury Tolerances for Aircraft Crashworthiness Design," Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York Paper No. 710406, March, 1971.
- Sonntag, R. Personal communication. (Unpublished Holloman Test Data), 1966.

197

- 198 Somntag, R.W. "Intracranial Pressure in Macaca Speciosa During Controlled Abrupt Deceleration," <u>Proceedings, Annual Meeting, Aerospace Medical</u> <u>Association</u>, Washington, D.C. pp. 162-163, 1967.
- 199 Sonntag, R. Unpublished Test Data, (F-111 Lateral Impact Data), 1968
- 200 Stalnaker, R. L., "Mechanical Properties of the Head," Ph.D. Dissertation, Mest Virginia University, 1969.
- Stalnaker, R. L., J. C. Fogle and J. H. McElhaney, "Driving Point Impedance Characteristics of the Head," American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York, ASME Paper No. 70-BHF-14, 1970.

20]

- 202 Stalnaker, R., J.H. McElhaney and V.L. Roberts. "A Mechanical Impedence Model for Head Injury Due to Linear Impact," Presented, <u>Symposium on</u> Biodynamic Models and Their Applications. Dayton, Ohio, October 26, 1970.
- 203 Stalnaker, R. L. and J. H. McElhaney, "Head Injury Tolerance for Linear Impacts by Mechanical Impedance Methods," American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York, ASME Paper No. 70-MA/BHF-4, 1970.
- 204 Stalnaker, R. L., J. L. Fogle and J. H. McElhaney, "Driving Point Impedance Characteristics of the Head," Journal of Biomechanics, Vol. 4, No. 2, pp. 127-139, March 1971.
- 205 Stapp, J.P. "Human and Chimpanzee Tolerance to Linear Decelerative Force," ASTIA AD-14-351, 1952.
- 206 Stapp, J.P. "Tolerance to Abrupt Deceleration," Collected papers on Aviation Medicine, Advisory Group for Aeronautical Research and Development. Butterworths Scientific Publications, London, 1955.
- 207 Stapp, J.P., J.D. Mosely, C.F. Lombard, G.A. Nelson, G. Nichols, and F. Larmie. "Analysis and Biodynamics of Selected Rocket-Sled Experiments," USAF School of Aerospace Medicine, Brooks AFB, Texas, 1964.
- 208 Stapp, J.P. and E.R. Taylor. "Space Cabin Landing Impact Vector Effects on Human Physiology," <u>Aerospace Medicine</u> 35(12):1117-1133, December, 1964.
 - 209 Stapp, J.P., E.R. Taylor, and R. Chandler. "Effects of Pitch Angle on Impact Tolerance." <u>Proceedings, 7th Stapp Car Crash Conference</u>, C.C. Thomas, 1965.
 - 210 Stapp, J.P. "Collected Data on 48 Rocket Sled Experiments (Holloman Air Force Base)." Interim Technical Report NSL 65-94. Prepared by C.F. Lombard, 1965.
- 211 Stapp, J.P. "Voluntary Human Tolerance Levels," Presented, Mayne State University Centennial, Biomechanics Symposium, Detroit, May, 1968.
- 212 Stapp, J.P. "Principles of Automotive Crash Protection," Conference on Road Safety, Brussels, Belgium, 1968.
- 213 Stapp, J.P. "Human Criteria for Protection from Vehicle Crash Impact," Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., Paper No. 690104, 1969.
- 214 States, J.D. and D.J. States. "The Pathology and Pathogenesis of Injuries Caused by Lateral Impact Accidents," <u>Proceedings, 12th Stapp</u> Car Crash Conference, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, N.Y., Paper No. 680773, pp. 72-93, 1968.
- 215 Strich, S.J. "The Pathology of Brain Damage Due to Blunt Head Injuries," In, The Late Effects of Head Injury (A.E. Walker, W.F. Caveness, M. Critchley, eds.), C.C. Thomas, Springfield, Illinois, pp. 501-526, 1969.

Taylor, E.R., L.W. Rhein, V.L. Carter, and R. Chandler. "The Effects of Severe Impact on Bears," 6571st Aeromedical Research Laboratory, Holloman Air Force Base, New Mexico. Technical Documentary Report No. ARL-TDR-64-6, July, 1964.

ő

~

- Thomas, L.M., V.L. Roberts, and E.S. Gurdjian. "Experimental Intracranial Pressure Gradients in the Human Skull," <u>J. Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry</u> 29:404-411, 1966.
- 18 Thomas, L.M., V.L. Roberts and E.S. Gurdjian. "Impact-induced Pressure Gradients Along Three Orthogonal Axes in the Human Skull," <u>J. Neurosurgery</u> 26:316-321, 1967.
 - 19 Thomas, L.M., Y. Sezgin, V.R. Hodgson, L.K. Cheng, and E.S. Gurdjian. "Static Deformation and Volume Changes in the Human Skull." <u>Proceed-ings, 12th Stapp Car Crash Conference</u>, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, N.Y., pp. 260-270, Paper No. 680782, 1968.
- Thomas, L.M. "Mechanisms of Head Injury." In, <u>Impact Injury and Crash</u> Protection, (E.S. Gurdjian, W.A. Lange, L.M. Patrick, and L.M. Thomas, eds.). C.C. Thomas, Springfield, Illinois, pp. 27-42, 1970.

20

- [2] Thompson, J.E. "Occupant Response Versus Vehicle Crash: A Total System Approach," <u>12th Stapp Car Crash Conference</u>, 1968.
- 222 Thompson, M.S. and G. H. Chambers. "Epidemiology of Car Window Accidents," <u>Southern Medical Journal</u> 46(10:979-984, October, 1953.
- 223 Thorson, J., B. Aldman, and A. Asberg. "Bicycle Accidents to Children and Blunt Trauma to the Abdomen," Laboratory for Traffic Medicine, National Council on Road Safety Research, Stockholm, May, 1969.
- 224 Tomskey, G.C., G.C. Schlothman, and H.K. Mardis. "Injuries of the 224 Kidney.: <u>Gen. Practitioner</u> 31:78-88, 1965.
- 25 United States Department of Transportation HS-600-058-PB-190-742, 1970.
- 26 United States Department of Transportation HS-600-063-PB-190-747, 1970.
- 27 United States Department of Transportation HS-600-066-PB-190-750, 1970.
- 228 United States Department of Transportation. HS-600-072-PB-190-756,

1970.

- 29 United States Department of Transportation. HS-600-106, Case No. 6914, 1970.
- 30 Unterharnscheidt, F. and K. Sellier. "Mechanics and Pathomorphology of Closed Brain Injuries." in. Head Injury Conference Proceedings. (M.F. Caveness and A.E. Walker, eds.), J.B. Lippincott, Co., Phil., 1966.

- Unterharnscheidt, F.J. and L.S. Higgins. "Neuropathologic Effects of Translational and Rotational Acceleration of the Head in Animal Experiments," in, <u>The Late Effects of Head Injury</u>, (A.E. Walker, W.F. Caveness, M. Critchley, eds.), Charles C Thomas, Springfield, Illinois, pp. 158-167, 1969.
- 232 Unterharnscheidt, F. and L.S. Higgins. "Pathomorphology of Experimental Head Injury Due to Rotational Acceleration," <u>Acta Neuropathology</u> 12: 200, Berlin, 1969.
- 233 Unterharnscheidt, F. and L.S. Higgins. "Traumatic Lesions of Brain and Spinal Cord Due to Nondeforming Angular Acceleration of the Head," <u>Texas Rep. Biol. Med.</u> 27:127, 1969.
- 234 Unterharnscheidt, F. and W. Guttinger. "A General Theory of Impact to the CNS," 1970, (In press).
- 235 Unterharnscheidt, F.J. "Discussion of Mechanisms of Head Injury," in, <u>Impact Injury and Crash Protection</u>, (E.S. Gurdjian, W.A. Lange, L.M. Patrick, and L.M. Thomas, eds.), Charles C Thomas, Springfield, Illinois, pp. 43062, 1970.
- 236 Weaver, J.R. "A Simple Occupant Dynamics Model," Ford Motor Company, Memo. n.d.
- 237 Weis, E.B., J.W. Brinkley, N.P. Clarke, and W.E. Temple. "Human Response to Lateral Impact," paper presented, 34th Annual Meeting of the Aerospace Medical Association, Los Angeles, California, April 29 - May 2, 1963.
- 238 Weis, E.B., N.P. Clarke, and J.W. Brinkley. "Human Response to Several Impact Acceleration Orientations and Patterns," <u>Aerospace</u> <u>Medicine</u> 34(12):1122-1129, December, 1963.
- 239 Whitehouse, A.C., W.K. Brown, P. Foster and H.F. Scherer. "Quantitative Effects of Abrupt Deceleration on Pulmonary Diffusion in Man," ARL Report TR-66-12, May, 1966.
- 240 Wickstrom, J., R. Rodriguez and J. Martinez. "Experimental Production of Acceleration Injuries of the Head and Neck," in, <u>Accident Pathology</u>, (K.M. Brinkhous, ed.), National Highway Safety Bureau, Washington, D.C., pp. 185-189, 1968.
- 241 Wisner, A., J. Leroy, and J. Bandet. "La Tolérance Humaine au Choc," Cahiers d'Etudes de l'ONSER, No. 26, April, 1970.
- 242 Wolf, R.A. "The Discovery and Control of Ejection in Automobile Accidents," J. Amer. Med. Assoc. 180(3):114-118, 1962.
- 243 Wolf, R.A. "Some Current Aspects of Automobile Crashworthiness," Automotive Crash Injury Research, Cornell Aeronautical Laboratory, Inc., Buffalo, November, 1963.

- 244 Wyman, A.C. "Traumatic Rupture of the Spleen," Amer. J. Roentgenol. 72(1):51-63, 1954.
- 245 Yarnell, P. and A.K. Ommaya. "Experimental Cerebral Concussion in the Rhesus Monkey," <u>Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine</u> 45:39-45, 1969.
- 246 Yost, C.D. Accident Reviews: Ford. Automotive Safety Research Office, Ford Motor Company, Rept. No. S-67-22, 1967.
- 247 Young, J.W. and Snyder, R.G. "Feasibility Tests: Injury Potential of the Tot-Guard Child Restraint Using Baboon Subjects," Memo. Rept. S-68-S, Automotive Safety Research Office, Ford Motor Company, 1968.
- 248 Zaborowski, A.V., J.D. Rothstein and W.K. Brown. Investigations in Human Tolerance to Lateral Impact. (Presented, 36th Annual Meeting, Aerospace Medical Association, April 26-29, New York City, Abstract: <u>Aerospace Medicine</u> 36:168-169), Unpublished, 1963.
- 249 Zaborowski, A.V. "Human Tolerance to Lateral Impact with Lap Belt Only," Proceedings, <u>Eighth Stapp Car Crash Conference</u>, Wayne State University, Detroit, pp. 34-69, 1966.
- 250 Zaborowski, A.V. "Lateral Impact Studies Lap Belt Shoulder Harness Configurations," Proceedings, Ninth Stapp Car Crash Conference, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., New York, 1965.

8-19

GPO 917-395